# HyperKähler and Quaternionic Kähler Geometry

Andrew F. Swann

Thesis submitted Hilary Term, 1990, in support of application to supplicate for the degree of D. Phil.

Oriel College,

Oxford.

### Abstract

## HYPERKÄHLER AND QUATERNIONIC KÄHLER GEOMETRY

Andrew F. Swann Oriel College, Oxford

Thesis submitted Hilary Term, 1990, in support of application to supplicate for the degree of D. Phil.

A quaternion-Hermitian manifold, of dimension at least 12, with closed fundamental 4-form is shown to be quaternionic Kähler. A similar result is proved for 8-manifolds.

HyperKähler metrics are constructed on the fundamental quaternionic line bundle (with the zero-section removed) of a quaternionic Kähler manifold (indefinite if the scalar curvature is negative). This construction is compatible with the quaternionic Kähler and hyperKähler quotient constructions and allows quaternionic Kähler geometry to be subsumed into the theory of hyperKähler manifolds. It is shown that the hyperKähler metrics that arise admit a certain type of SU(2)-action, possess functions which are Kähler potentials for each of the complex structures simultaneously and determine quaternionic Kähler structures via a variant of the moment map construction. Quaternionic Kähler metrics are also constructed on the fundamental quaternionic line bundle and a twistor space analogy leads to a construction of hyperKähler metrics with circle actions on complex line bundles over Kähler-Einstein (complex) contact manifolds.

Nilpotent orbits in a complex semi-simple Lie algebra, with the hyperKähler metrics defined by Kronheimer, are shown to give rise to quaternionic Kähler metrics and various examples of these metrics are identified. It is shown that any quaternionic Kähler manifold with positive scalar curvature and sufficiently large isometry group may be embedded in one of these manifolds. The twistor space structure of the projectivised nilpotent orbits is studied.

# Acknowledgements

Above all I wish to thank my supervisor Simon Salamon for his inspiration, encouragement, time and patience and for introducing me to some beautiful mathematics.

My thanks go to Andrew Dancer, Simon Donaldson, Alastair King, Peter Kronheimer, Antony Maciocia, Simon Scott among others for useful discussions and to Klaus Pulverer for his help with proof reading. I would also like to thank my undergraduate tutors Bill Parry, Graham Vincent-Smith and Gabrielle Stoy for their continued support and encouragement.

I am grateful to SERC, Oriel College and Lady Margaret Hall for their financial support.

# Contents

Abstract		ii
Acknowledg	gements	iii
Contents		iv
Chapter 1	INTRODUCTION AND DEFINITIONS	1
-		
1.1	HyperKähler Manifolds	5
1.2	Other Quaternionic Geometries	8
Chapter 2	BUNDLE CONSTRUCTIONS	14
2.1	Metrics Over a Quaternionic Kähler Base	16
2.2	Metrics Over Kähler-Einstein Contact Manifolds	29
2.3	Examples	34
2.4	Integrability	40
Chapter 3	QUOTIENT CONSTRUCTIONS	45
3.1	HyperKähler Quotients	46
3.2	Quaternionic Kähler Quotients	51
3.3	Commutativity of Constructions	55
3.4	Examples	58
3.5	Quaternionic Kähler Metrics	63
3.6	Potentials	68
Chapter 4	ISOMETRY GROUPS AND QUATERNIONIC GEOMETRY	74
4.1	Embeddings of Twistor Spaces	75

Contents	1	V	r
----------	---	---	---

4.2 Projective Nilpotent Orbits	79
4.3 Trajectories and Quaternionic Kähler Metrics	86
4.4 Examples	96
Chapter 5 DIFFERENTIAL FORMS	108
5.1 Representation Theory and Exterior Algebras	108
5.2 The Fundamental 4-Form	114
5.3 Relationship to Exceptional Geometries	117
References	122
Toteleness	122
Table 1 Dimensions of nilpotent orbits	96
Table 2 Multiplicities of weights in $Sp(n)$ -representations	113
Diagram 1 HyperKähler Quotients of Small Nilpotent Orbits	105

# Chapter 1

# INTRODUCTION AND DEFINITIONS

A hyperKähler manifold is a Riemannian 4n-manifold with a family of almost complex structures which behave under composition like the multiplicative, pure-imaginary, unit quaternions and which are covariantly constant with respect to the Levi-Civita connection. If we only require that these almost complex structures exist locally and that the Levi-Civita connection preserves this family as a whole, then we obtain a quaternionic Kähler structure, at least if  $n \ge 2$ . Thus hyperKähler manifolds are a special case of quaternionic Kähler manifolds. However, note that quaternionic Kähler manifolds need not be Kähler.

HyperKähler and quaternionic Kähler manifolds are special classes of Einstein manifolds. From this viewpoint it is natural to try and construct Einstein metrics on bundles over these manifolds. Einstein metrics on certain sphere bundles over homogeneous manifolds, for example, were constructed by Jensen (1973) and more recently Page & Pope (1986) discussed the Einstein equations on quaternionic line bundles. We look for special solutions of these equations which carry information about a quaternionic Kähler base manifold. In Chapter 2 we construct hyperKähler and quaternionic Kähler metrics on the  $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -quotient  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  of the natural quaternionic line bundle associated to a quaternionic Kähler manifold M. These constructions are generalisations of fibrations

$$\mathbb{H} \setminus 0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{H}^{n+1} \setminus 0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{H}P(n)$$

$$\mathbb{H} \setminus 0 \longrightarrow \mathbb{H}P(n+1) \setminus \mathbb{H}P(n) \longrightarrow \mathbb{H}P(n).$$

In four-dimensional geometry, hyperKähler manifolds are already well-known under a different name: they are Ricci-flat self-dual spaces. Quaternionic Kähler manifolds are then a higher dimensional generalisation of self-dual Einstein manifolds. These 4-manifolds possess twistor spaces which are complex 3-folds encoding the conformal structure of the original manifolds in holomorphic data. Salamon (1982) showed that higher dimensional twistor spaces are associated to any quaternionic Kähler manifold and the inverse of this twistor construction has been studied by LeBrun (1989) and Pedersen & Poon (1989).

The manifold  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  with its hyperKähler metric may be regarded as a generalised twistor space, the geometry of M now being encoded in triholomorphic data. In Chapter 3 we discuss the inverse construction which produces a quaternionic Kähler manifold from a hyperKähler manifold admitting a certain type of SU(2)-action. The construction is a variation of the Marsden-Weinstein symplectic reduction procedure: this produces a symplectic manifold of dimension  $k-2\dim G$ from a symplectic k-manifold N and an action of a Lie group G on N which preserves the symplectic structure. This reduction also applies to Kähler manifolds, and Hitchin et al. (1987) showed how it could be generalised to hyperKähler manifolds (this time the dimension is reduced by four times  $\dim G$ ). Galicki & Lawson (1988) produced a quaternionic Kähler version of this moment map construction and in Chapter 3 we see that quaternionic Kähler and hyperKähler quotients are compatible with our construction of  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ , that is, the associated bundle  $\mathcal{U}$  of the quaternionic Kähler quotient of M by G may be obtained as the hyperKähler quotient of  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ . Thus quaternionic Kähler 4n-manifolds may be studied in terms of special types of hyperKähler (4n+4)-manifolds. Since the product of two hyperKähler manifolds is again hyperKähler, this enables us to construct a quaternionic Kähler manifold  $\mathcal{J}(M_1, M_2)$  of dimension  $4 + \dim M_1 + \dim M_2$  from two quaternionic Kähler manifolds  $M_1, M_2$ . An interpretation of the quaternionic Kähler quotient construction in terms of twistor spaces will be discussed in Chapter 4. Moment maps for circle actions on hyperKähler manifolds are intimately related to Kähler potentials. In Chapter 3 we see that the particular type of SU(2)-action required above gives rise to a function which is simultaneously a Kähler potential for each complex structure.

HyperKähler metrics are essentially distinguished from more general quaternionic Kähler ones by having zero scalar curvature. The hyperKähler metrics on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  are a special case of the quaternionic Kähler metrics and arise as a limit as the scalar curvature tends to zero. In this setting, the underlying quaternionic structure of  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  contains Einstein metrics with both zero and non-zero Ricci tensors, a phenomenon which in four-dimensions only occurs when the underlying space is conformally flat (Brinkman, 1925). When M is  $\operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^n)$ , M may be regarded as a quaternionic Kähler quotient of  $\mathbb{HP}(n-1)$  by U(1), and so  $\mathcal{U}(\operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^n))$  is a hyperKähler quotient of flat space  $\mathbb{H}^n$  by the circle. It is well-known that this particular hyperKähler quotient may be deformed so as to produce the hyperKähler metric on  $T^*\mathbb{CP}(n-1)$  constructed by Calabi (1979). Thus the hyperKähler metric on  $\mathcal{U}(\operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^n))$  also arises as a limit of complete hyperKähler metrics.

The compact homogeneous quaternionic Kähler manifolds were studied by Wolf (1965). The associated bundles for these manifolds may be interpreted as orbits of highest roots in the Lie algebra of the complexified isometry group. In Chapter 4, we study the nilpotent orbits of a complex, semi-simple Lie group and see that these are always associated bundles  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ . We show that the quaternionic Kähler manifolds lie in a certain subvariety of the Grassmannian of three-planes in the real Lie algebra. In general, these manifolds are not complete, but various examples may be described in terms of finite quotients of Wolf spaces. The twistor spaces of these manifolds are just the projectivised nilpotent orbits and the twistor space of any quaternionic Kähler manifold, with positive scalar curvature

and sufficiently large isometry group will arise in this way.

The holonomy groups of irreducible Riemannian manifolds were classified by Berger (1955) and Alekseevskii (1968). For spaces which are not locally symmetric, they obtained the families SO(n), U(n), SU(n), Sp(n) Sp(1), Sp(n) and two exceptional groups  $G_2$  and Spin(7) (which can only occur in dimensions 7 and 8, respectively). Simons (1962) observed that these were most of the simplyconnected groups which act transitively on the finite-dimensional spheres. group SO(n) corresponds to generic geometry; U(n) and SU(n) give Kähler and special Kähler manifolds; and Sp(n) Sp(1) and Sp(n) correspond to quaternionic Kähler and hyperKähler geometries, respectively. Complete, non-symmetric metrics with holonomy either  $G_2$  or Spin(7) have now been constructed by Bryant & Salamon (1989). Each of the above geometries is given by invariant parallel differential forms: U(n) holonomy is given by a Kähler 2-form; special Kähler manifolds possess a parallel complex volume form in addition to the Kähler form; quaternionic Kähler manifolds have a fundamental 4-form; hyperKähler metrics are given by a quaternion-valued 2-form; holonomy  $G_2$  is determined by a 3-form and Spin(7) metrics have an invariant parallel 4-form. In the cases of  $G_2$  and Spin(7), there are simple criteria in terms of exterior derivatives for these forms to define structures with the required holonomy. For hyperKähler structures, Hitchin (1987) shows that it is sufficient for the quaternionic 2-form to be closed. In Chapter 5, we show that for a manifold of dimension at least 12, the holonomy is contained in Sp(n) Sp(1)if and only if the fundamental 4-form is closed. Thus to construct a quaternionic Kähler metric on a manifold of dimension at least 12, it is sufficient to find a 4-form of the correct algebraic type and show that this 4-form is closed. This result forms the basis of many of our constructions, but its proof bears little relation to the applications and so it is delayed to a self-contained part of Chapter 5.

The reader is referred to Kobayashi & Nomizu (1963) and Griffiths & Harris

(1978) for standard terminology from differential and algebraic geometry. Manifolds will be taken to be smooth  $(C^{\infty})$ , second countable and connected, unless otherwise stated.

### 1.1 HyperKähler Manifolds

An almost complex structure on a manifold M is an endomorphism  $J \in \text{End}(TM)$  of the tangent bundle such that  $J^2 = -1$ . This makes each  $T_xM$  into a complex vector space and forces M to be even-dimensional.

Suppose M admits two anti-commuting, almost complex structures I and J, so we have  $I^2 = -1 = J^2$  and IJ = -JI. If we define K = JI then  $K^2 = -1$ , so K is also an almost complex structure. In fact, M has a family  $\mathcal{I}$  of almost complex structures parameterised by the space  $S^2$  of unit imaginary quaternions in Im  $\mathbb{H}$ ; since, if  $ai + bj + ck \in S^2$ , then

$$(aI + bJ + cK)^2 = -(a^2 + b^2 + c^2) = -1.$$

We may define a left action of  $\mathbb{H}$  on  $T_xM$  by

$$(\alpha + \beta i + \gamma j + \delta k) \cdot X = \alpha X + \beta IX + \gamma JX + \delta KX,$$

for  $X \in T_xM$  and  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta \in \mathbb{R}$ . So  $T_xM$  is a left  $\mathbb{H}$ -module and, in particular, its real dimension is a multiple of 4. If, in addition, M has a pseudo-Riemannian metric g which is preserved by I and J, then for each  $A \in \mathcal{I}$  we may define a 2-form  $\omega_A$  on M by

$$\omega_A(X,Y) = g(X,AY),$$

for each  $X, Y \in T_xM$ .

**Definition 1.1.1.** A (pseudo-) Riemannian manifold M is (pseudo-) hyperKähler if it has a pair of anti-commuting almost complex structures I and J which preserve the metric and are such that

$$d\omega_I = d\omega_J = d\omega_K = 0, \tag{1.1.1}$$

where  $\omega_A$  is defined above and K = IJ.

Note that  $\omega_A$  is non-degenerate, so (1.1.1) is just the requirement that  $\omega_A$  is a symplectic form for each  $A \in \mathcal{I}$ . We may put these three conditions into one, by defining a quaternion-valued 2-form  $\omega \in \Omega^2(M, \mathbb{H})$ 

$$\omega = \omega_I i + \omega_J j + \omega_K k$$

and requiring that  $d\omega = 0$ . Note that this definition only depends on  $\mathcal{I}$  and so could be studied in the language of bunches of forms, see Gindikin (1982a,b, 1986).

The basic example of a hyperKähler manifold is flat space  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , or more generally  $\mathbb{H}^{n*}/\Gamma = (\mathbb{H}^n \setminus \{0\})/\Gamma$ , for  $\Gamma$  a finite subgroup of SU(2). An important case for us will be the quotient  $\mathbb{H}^*/\mathbb{Z}_2 = \mathbb{R}_{>0} \times \mathbb{R}P(3)$ . Examples of compact hyperKähler manifolds are provided by K3 surfaces, which are complex surfaces with first betti number  $b_1 = 0$  and first Chern class  $c_1 = 0$  (see Calabi, 1980). Compact examples in higher dimensions have been constructed by Fujiki (1983), Mukai (1984) and Beauville (1983). Closely related to K3 surfaces are the Enriques surfaces; these are complex surfaces with  $b_1 = 0$  and  $2c_1 = 0$  (see Hitchin, 1974). However, in general, Enriques surfaces are only locally hyperKähler. Calabi (1979) gives examples of hyperKähler structures on cotangent bundles of certain spaces, for example  $T^*\mathbb{C}P(n)$ , and hyperKähler metrics have been shown to exist on various moduli spaces of solutions of the Yang-Mills equations. These will be discussed later, but

one important case is the result of Kronheimer (1988, 1989b) that both the nilpotent and semi-simple orbits of a semi-simple complex Lie algebra are hyperKähler. The Calabi metric on  $T^*\mathbb{C}P(n)$  is then an example of a hyperKähler metric on a semi-simple orbit in  $\mathfrak{su}(n+1,\mathbb{C})$ . Note that any Ricci-flat, self-dual 4-manifold is locally hyperKähler (see Besse, 1987; the definition of self-duality will be given later in the chapter).

If N is a complex manifold, the complex structure on N gives rise to an almost complex structure  $J \in \operatorname{End}(TN)$  (see Wells, 1979). An almost complex structure J on N is said to be *integrable* if it comes from some complex structure on N. The torsion of an almost complex structure J is defined by

$$N(X,Y) = 2\{[JX, JY] - [X,Y] - J[X,JY] - J[JX,Y]\}$$

for each  $X, Y \in TN$ . The relationship between the torsion and integrability of J is given by the following theorem, proofs of which may also be found in Hörmander (1966) and Kohn (1963).

**Theorem 1.1.2.** (Newlander & Nirenberg, 1957) An almost complex structure J on N is integrable if and only if its torsion vanishes.

The definition of a hyperKähler manifold should be compared with that for a Kähler manifold. In the Kähler case, we have only one almost complex structure I and require that  $d\omega_I = 0$  and that I is integrable. The integrability requirement does not enter the definition of hyperKähler manifold as we have the following lemma.

**Lemma 1.1.3.** (Hitchin, 1987) On a pseudo-Riemannian manifold M with almost complex structures I, J and K as above, I, J and K are integrable if  $d\omega = 0$ , i.e. if M is pseudo-hyperKähler.

In future, when we talk about a manifold with almost complex structures I, J and K we will require that they satisfy the relations

$$I^2 = -1 = J^2$$
  $IJ = -JI = K$ .

### 1.2 Other Quaternionic Geometries

A 4n-dimensional manifold M is said to be  $almost\ quaternionic$  if there is a subbundle  $\mathcal{G}$  of  $\operatorname{End}(TM)$  such that for each  $x \in M$  there is a neighbourhood U over which  $\mathcal{G}|_U$  has a basis  $\{I,J,K\}$  of almost complex structures with K=IJ=-JI. Note that this is only a local basis. If M is Riemannian, the metric g is said to be compatible with  $\mathcal{G}$  if

$$g(AX, AY) = g(X, Y),$$

for each  $X, Y \in T_x M$  and  $A \in \mathcal{G}_x$  such that  $A^2 = -1$ . We can construct a compatible metric g from any Riemannian metric g' by defining

$$g(X,Y) = \frac{1}{4}(g'(X,Y) + g'(IX,IY) + g'(JX,JY) + g'(KX,KY)).$$

An almost quaternionic manifold with a compatible metric is called a *quaternion-Hermitian manifold*.

On a quaternion-Hermitian manifold  $(M, \mathcal{G}, g)$  we have an isometric embedding  $\mathcal{G} \to \Lambda^2 T^*M$ , given by  $A_x \mapsto (\omega_A)_x$ . If I, J, K is a local basis of  $\mathcal{G}$  as above, we define the fundamental 4-form of M by

$$\Omega = \omega_I \wedge \omega_I + \omega_J \wedge \omega_J + \omega_K \wedge \omega_K.$$

This is a non-degenerate form which is well-defined globally.

If  $\dim M$  is at least 8, we are now in a position to say what is meant by a quaternionic Kähler structure on M. The definition for 4-manifolds will be given later.

**Definition 1.2.1.** If n > 1, a 4n-dimensional quaternion-Hermitian manifold is quaternionic Kähler if  $\nabla \Omega = 0$ , where  $\nabla$  is the Levi-Civita connection.

This immediately implies that  $\Omega$  is closed and, since

$$\nabla\Omega = 2(\nabla\omega_I \wedge \omega_I + \nabla\omega_J \wedge \omega_J + \nabla\omega_K \wedge \omega_K),$$

the condition  $\nabla\Omega = 0$  implies that the Riemannian connection preserves the subbundle  $\mathcal{G}$  of  $\Lambda^2 T^*M$ . The following result will be used in constructions of quaternionic Kähler metrics in later chapters. However, its proof can be safely delayed until Chapter 5 since it is does not depend on those results.

**Theorem 1.2.2.** If M is a quaternion-Hermitian manifold of dimension at least 12, then  $d\Omega$  determines  $\nabla\Omega$ . In particular,  $d\Omega = 0$  implies  $\nabla\Omega = 0$  and that M is quaternionic Kähler.

A quaternion-Hermitian 8-manifold is quaternionic Kähler if and only if the fundamental 4-form  $\Omega$  is closed and the algebraic ideal generated by the subbundle  $\mathcal G$  of  $\Lambda^2T^*M$  is a differential ideal.

It is not known whether there exist compact quaternion-Hermitian 8-manifolds for which  $d\Omega$  vanishes but  $\nabla\Omega$  is non-zero.

Let the group Sp(n) be defined by

$$Sp(n) = \{ A \in M_n(\mathbb{H}) : \bar{A}^t A = 1 \},$$

where  $M_n(\mathbb{H})$  denotes the quaternionic  $n \times n$ -matrices and  $\bar{A}^t$  is the conjugate transpose of A. We let  $(A, q) \in Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$  act on  $\xi \in \mathbb{H}^n$  by

$$(A,q) \cdot \xi = A\xi \bar{q}.$$

Now (-A, -q) acts as (A, q), so we have an induced action of  $Sp(n) Sp(1) = Sp(n) \times_{\mathbb{Z}_2} Sp(1)$  on  $\mathbb{H}^n$  which exhibits Sp(n) Sp(1) as a subgroup of SO(4n).

The definition of a quaternionic Kähler manifold is equivalent to the requirement that the linear holonomy group (see Kobayashi & Nomizu, 1963) is contained in the subgroup Sp(n) Sp(1) of SO(4n). Alekseevskii (1968) shows that this implies M is an Einstein manifold. In particular, if we regard the curvature tensor R of M as a self-adjoint endomorphism of  $\Lambda^2 T^*M$ , then

$$R|_{\mathcal{G}} = \lambda \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{G}}, \tag{1.2.1}$$

where  $\lambda$  is a positive multiple of the scalar curvature  $\kappa$  of M (see also Ishihara, 1974).

If M is 4-dimensional, then  $\nabla\Omega=0$  is automatically satisfied, since  $\Omega$  is just three times the volume form. However, there is an extension of the definition of quaternionic Kähler manifold. Suppose M is an oriented, Riemannian 4-manifold with volume form  $\nu$ . The Hodge star operator  $*: \Lambda^r T^*M \to \Lambda^{4-r} T^*M$  is defined by  $\alpha \wedge \beta = g(\alpha,\beta)\nu$ , for  $\alpha,\beta \in \Lambda^r T^*M$ . For r=2,  $*^2=1$  and  $\Lambda^2 T^*M = \Lambda^2_+ \oplus \Lambda^2_-$ , where  $\Lambda^2_+$  are the  $\pm 1$ -eigenspaces of \*. The two eigenspaces are the bundles of self-dual and anti-self-dual 2-forms respectively. With respect to this decomposition of  $\Lambda^2 T^*M$ , the Riemann curvature tensor R is  $\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ B^* & C \end{pmatrix}$  and Singer & Thorpe (1969) give the following decomposition into irreducible components

$$R \longmapsto (\operatorname{Tr} A, B, A - \frac{1}{3}\operatorname{Tr} A, C - \frac{1}{3}\operatorname{Tr} C).$$

Here  $\operatorname{Tr} A = \operatorname{Tr} C = \kappa/4$ , where  $\kappa$  is the scalar curvature, B is the traceless Ricci tensor and, putting  $W_+ = A - \frac{1}{3}\operatorname{Tr} A$ ,  $W_- = C - \frac{1}{3}\operatorname{Tr} C$ ,  $W = W_+ + W_-$  is the

Weyl tensor. Now M is said to be *Einstein* if  $B \equiv 0$  and it is said to be *self-dual* if  $W \equiv W_+$ , that is if  $W_- \equiv 0$ . As in (1.2.1), these two conditions imply that

$$R|_{\mathcal{G}} = \frac{\kappa}{12} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{G}},$$

where  $\mathcal{G} = \Lambda^2_-$ .

**Definition 1.2.3.** A 4-dimensional, oriented, Riemannian manifold M is quaternionic Kähler if M is Einstein and self-dual.

Further motivation for this definition comes from the following result of Marchiafava (1990). Call a submanifold N of a quaternion-Hermitian manifold M quaternionic, if for each  $x \in N$ ,  $T_xN$  is an  $\mathbb{H}$ -submodule of  $T_xM$ . Marchiafava shows that
a four-dimensional quaternionic submanifold of a quaternionic Kähler manifold is
self-dual and Einstein with respect to the induced metric.

Note that in both the 4- and 4n-dimensional cases, quaternionic Kähler manifolds are not necessarily Kähler. Even if a quaternionic Kähler manifold does possess a Kähler structure, this need not be compatible with the quaternionic structure, as in the case of  $Gr_2(\mathbb{C}^n)$ . Because quaternionic Kähler manifolds are Einstein of dimension strictly bigger than 2, their scalar curvature is necessarily constant (see Kobayashi & Nomizu, 1963). If M is a quaternionic Kähler manifold with zero scalar curvature, then the restriction of the Riemann tensor to  $\mathcal{G}$  is zero and so  $\mathcal{G}$  is flat. If M is also simply connected then this implies that  $\mathcal{G}$  is trivial and that M is hyperKähler. Conversely, if M is hyperKähler then its scalar curvature vanishes and its linear holonomy group is a subgroup of  $Sp(n) \leq Sp(n) Sp(1)$ . In view of this discussion, from now on we will usually take the expression 'quaternionic Kähler' to imply non-zero scalar curvature.

The model example of a quaternionic Kähler manifold is quaternionic projective space  $\mathbb{HP}(n)$ . The compact homogeneous quaternionic Kähler manifolds were studied by Wolf (1965). He obtains five exceptional spaces, which we list in Chapter 2, and three infinite families:  $\mathbb{HP}(n)$ ; the Grassmannian  $Gr_2(\mathbb{C}^n)$  of 2-planes in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  and the Grassmannian  $Gr_4(\mathbb{R}^n)$  of oriented 4-planes in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . The non-compact duals of these spaces are also quaternionic Kähler. Non-compact, non-symmetric examples were obtained by Alekseevskii (1970, 1975) and quaternionic Kähler orbifolds have been constructed by Galicki & Lawson (1988). If  $\mathbb{HP}(n)$  is embedded in  $Gr_2(\mathbb{C}^{2n+2})$  by regarding  $\mathbb{C}^{2n+2}$  as  $\mathbb{H}^{n+1}$ , then the normal bundle is  $T \mathbb{HP}(n)$  and this inherits an incomplete quaternionic Kähler metric from that of the Grassmannian.

Moving away from the Riemannian category, there are the following two notions corresponding to hyperKähler and quaternionic Kähler. A hypercomplex manifold is a manifold with complex structures I, J and K such that IJ = -JI = K. Even though we have not fixed a compatible metric, there is a natural connection.

**Theorem 1.2.4.** (Obata, 1956) If X is a 4n-dimensional manifold with a pair I, J of integrable, anti-commuting almost complex structures, then there is a unique torsion-free connection  $\nabla$  such that

$$\nabla I \equiv 0 \equiv \nabla J.$$

On a hyperKähler manifold this connection is just the Levi-Civita connection. The following definition, which will appear naturally in Chapter 5, is due independently to Bérard-Bergery (see Besse, 1987) and Salamon (1986): a quaternionic manifold is a manifold M with a bundle  $\mathcal{G}$  together and a compatible torsion-free connection. This implies that locally there are sections of  $\mathcal{G}$  which are integrable

complex structures. Quaternionic Kähler manifolds are quaternionic, the relevant connection being the Levi-Civita connection.

# Chapter 2

# BUNDLE CONSTRUCTIONS

The basic examples of hyperKähler and quaternionic Kähler manifolds are  $\mathbb{H}^{n+1}$  and  $\mathbb{H}P(n)$ , with their flat and symmetric metrics respectively. The twistor space of  $\mathbb{H}P(n)$  is  $\mathbb{C}P(2n+1)$ . These spaces are clearly intimately related from the algebraic viewpoint. In this chapter we begin our exploration of the links between their natural metrics. We show how the hyperKähler metric of  $\mathbb{H}^{n+1}$  can be recovered either from  $\mathbb{H}P(n)$  or from  $\mathbb{C}P(2n+1)$ . Also, we see how  $\mathbb{H}P(n)$  defines the quaternionic Kähler metric on  $\mathbb{H}^{n+1}$  induced from the identification  $\mathbb{H}^{n+1} \cong \mathbb{H}P(n+1) \setminus \mathbb{H}P(n)$  in such a way that the picture can be generalised. If M is any quaternionic Kähler 4n-manifold with positive scalar curvature, then Salamon (1982) showed that there is a Kähler manifold Z naturally associated to M. We define a (4n+4)-manifold  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  and obtain the following mappings.

$$\mathbb{H}^{n+1} \setminus 0 \qquad \qquad \mathcal{U}(M)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \mathbb{C}P(2n+1) \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad Z$$

$$\mathbb{H}P(n) \qquad \qquad M$$

We construct hyperKähler and quaternionic Kähler metrics on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ . The twistor space Z determines the quaternionic Kähler structure of M, so it is also possible to construct the metrics on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  directly from Z. In the second part of this chapter we show that hyperKähler metrics can be constructed on complex line bundles over a larger class of complex-contact manifolds. We then describe  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  for the compact

homogeneous quaternionic Kähler manifolds and show that the construction for projective spaces is as claimed above.

In Section 4 we forget the symplectic forms and look at the integrability of the almost complex structures on  $\mathcal{U}(M^4)$ , obtaining a hypercomplex structure precisely when M is self-dual. Integrability considerations over Kähler-Einstein manifolds show that the metrics we construct over twistor spaces (and their generalisations) are degenerate versions of the Ricci-flat, Kähler metrics constructed by Calabi (1979) on the canonical bundle. Calabi's construction produces metrics with holonomy SU(n+1) from Einstein metrics with holonomy U(n). Our construction over a quaternionic Kähler base is analogous, creating holonomy Sp(n+1) from holonomy Sp(n) Sp(1). The construction on complex line bundles cannot be described quite so cleanly, but working in the category of Einstein manifolds, it produces Sp(n+1)-holonomy from metrics with holonomy U(2n+1) and structure group  $(1 \times Sp(n))$  U(1). Note that U(2n+1) is the smallest irreducible holonomy group consistent with such a structure group.

All the metrics in this chapter will be constructed on associated bundles. To fix our conventions we recall how these are defined. Let M be an oriented Riemannian manifold. A frame u on M at a point x is an orientation-preserving linear isometry  $u \colon \mathbb{R}^n \to T_x M$ . These maps form a principal SO(n)-bundle which we denote by SO(M). If M has holonomy group  $G \leqslant SO(n)$  then the bundle SO(M) may be reduced to a principal G-bundle F (see Kobayashi & Nomizu, 1963). To any G-module W we associate a bundle W defined by

$$\mathcal{W} = F \times_G W = \frac{F \times W}{G},$$

where  $g \in G$  acts on  $(f, w) \in F \times W$  by  $(f, w) \cdot g = (f \cdot g, g^{-1} \cdot w)$ . This is a vector bundle over M with fibre W. We usually write W for W and not distinguish between the bundle and the representation.

### 2.1 Metrics Over a Quaternionic Kähler Base

If M is a quaternionic Kähler manifold of dimension 4n, then its holonomy group is a subgroup of Sp(n) Sp(1) and the reduced frame bundle F consists of frames  $u \colon \mathbb{H}^n \to T_x M$  which are compatible with the quaternionic structure. Locally, F can be lifted to a principal  $Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$ -bundle  $\tilde{F}$  which double covers F and this enables the construction of bundles associated to representations of  $Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$ . These bundles exists globally if either  $\tilde{F}$  exists globally or  $(-1, -1) \in Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$  acts as the identity.

The obstruction to the global existence of the double cover  $\tilde{F}$  is a cohomology class  $\varepsilon \in H^2(M, \mathbb{Z}_2)$  defined by Marchiafava & Romani (1976). If M is 4n-dimensional with n odd, then  $\varepsilon$  vanishes if and only if the second Stiefel-Witney class  $w_2$  vanishes. The class  $w_2$  is the obstruction to lifting SO(M) to a principal Spin(4n)-bundle. If  $w_2$  vanishes, M is said to be a spin manifold. Salamon (1982) noted that quaternionic Kähler 8n-manifolds are automatically spin and proved that the only complete quaternionic Kähler manifolds with positive scalar curvature for which  $\varepsilon$  vanishes are the quaternionic projective spaces  $\mathbb{HP}(n)$ .

There are two basic modules we consider: E is  $\mathbb{H}^n$  with

$$A \cdot \xi = A\xi$$

where  $A \in Sp(n)$  and  $\xi \in \mathbb{H}^n$ ; and H is  $\mathbb{H}$  with

$$q \cdot y = y\bar{q},$$

where  $q \in Sp(1)$  and  $y \in \mathbb{H}$ . If M is a 4-manifold then  $E = V_+$  and  $H = V_-$  are just the positive and negative spin bundles. From the realisation of Sp(n) Sp(1) as a subgroup of SO(4n), we have that the complexified tangent bundle  $T_{\mathbb{C}}M$  is  $E \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} H$ . The bundle F carries a canonical 1-form  $\theta$  with values in  $\mathbb{H}^n$  given by

$$\theta_u(v) = u^{-1}(\pi_* v),$$

where  $\pi\colon F\to M$  is the projection map,  $u\in F$  and  $v\in T_uF$ . The Levi-Civita connection on M induces a connection  $\omega\in\Omega^1(F,\mathfrak{sp}(n)\oplus\mathfrak{sp}(1))$  on F which is torsion-free. The first structure equation then gives

$$d\theta = -\omega \bar{\wedge} \theta.$$

Here  $\omega \bar{\wedge} \theta$  is the 2-form whose value on  $X, Y \in T_x F$  is

$$(\omega \bar{\wedge} \theta)(X, Y) = \frac{1}{2}(\omega(X) \cdot \theta(Y) - \omega(Y) \cdot \theta(X)),$$

where  $\cdot$  denotes the action of  $\mathfrak{sp}(n) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1)$  on  $\mathbb{H}^n$ . Corresponding to this Lie algebra splitting we write  $\omega = \omega_+ + \omega_-$ .

**Lemma 2.1.1.** If  $\wedge$  denotes the usual exterior product on quaternion-valued forms, then

$$d\theta = -\omega_{+} \bar{\wedge} \theta - \omega_{-} \bar{\wedge} \theta = -\omega_{+} \wedge \theta - \theta \wedge \omega_{-}. \tag{2.1.1}$$

PROOF. The Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{sp}(n)$  consists of quaternion-valued  $n \times n$ -matrices A such that  $A + \bar{A}^t = 0$ . If  $A \in \mathfrak{sp}(n)$ ,  $q \in \mathfrak{sp}(1) \cong \operatorname{Im} \mathbb{H}$  and  $\xi \in \mathbb{H}^n$  then differentiating the Sp(n)Sp(1)-action on  $\mathbb{H}^n$  gives

$$(A+q) \cdot \xi = A\xi + \xi \bar{q} = A\xi - \xi q.$$

It is now clear that  $\omega_+ \bar{\wedge} \theta = \omega_+ \wedge \theta$ . The algebra  $\Omega(F, \mathbb{H}^n)$  is  $\Omega(F) \otimes \mathbb{H}^n$ , so we can write  $\omega_- = \sum_i \alpha_i \otimes q_i$  and  $\theta = \sum_j \beta_j \otimes \xi_j$  with  $\alpha_i, \beta_j \in \Omega^1(F)$  and  $q_i \in \text{Im } \mathbb{H}$ ,  $\xi_j \in \mathbb{H}^n$ , then

$$\omega_{-} \bar{\wedge} \theta = \sum_{i,j} \alpha_{i} \wedge \beta_{j} \otimes q_{i} \cdot \xi_{j} = -\sum_{i,j} \alpha_{i} \wedge \beta_{j} \otimes \xi_{j} q_{i}$$
$$= \sum_{i,j} \beta_{j} \wedge \alpha_{i} \otimes \xi_{j} q_{i} = \theta \wedge \omega_{-},$$

as required.  $\Box$ 

The uniqueness of the Levi-Civita connection implies that (2.1.1) determines  $\omega = \omega_+ + \omega_-$  as an element of  $\Omega^1(F, \mathfrak{sp}(n) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1))$ .

The metrics we construct will be defined on the bundle H which is the  $Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$ -quotient of  $\tilde{F} \times \mathbb{H}$ . The forms  $\theta$ ,  $\omega_{\pm}$  can be pulled back to  $\tilde{F} \times \mathbb{H}$ , where they will also be denoted by  $\theta$  and  $\omega_{\pm}$  respectively. There is a natural quaternion-valued function x on  $\tilde{F} \times \mathbb{H}$  which is the pull-back of the identity map on  $\mathbb{H}$ . We define a quaternion-valued 1-form  $\alpha$  on  $\tilde{F} \times \mathbb{H}$  by

$$\alpha = dx - x\omega_{-}.$$

**Proposition 2.1.2.** The forms  $x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \bar{x}$  and  $\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}$  on  $\tilde{F} \times \mathbb{H}$  are pull-backs of forms on the  $Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$ -quotient H.

PROOF. We use the following well-known Lemma.

**Lemma 2.1.3.** If a Lie group G acts smoothly on a manifold N in such a way that the quotient N/G is a manifold, then the projection  $p \colon N \to N/G$  induces a natural isomorphism

$$\Omega^*(N/G) \xrightarrow{\cong} \Omega^*_{\mathrm{bas}}(N)$$

between forms on N/G and basic forms on N, that is forms  $\mu \in \Omega^*(N)$  such that

$$g^*\mu = \mu$$
 and  $X \lrcorner \mu = 0$ ,

for all  $g \in G$  and for all  $X \in TN$  such that  $p_*X = 0$ .

In our case G is  $Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$  and the action on  $\Omega^*(\tilde{F} \times \mathbb{H})$  will be denoted by  $R_{A,q}^*$ . From the definitions of  $\theta$  and x, we have

$$R_{A,q}^* \theta = \bar{A}^t \theta q, \tag{2.1.2}$$

and

$$R_{A,q}^* x = xq.$$

If  $\mu \in \Omega^p(X, \mathbb{H})$ ,  $\nu \in \Omega^q(X, \mathbb{H})$  are two quaternion-valued forms on a space X, then

$$\overline{\mu \wedge \nu} = (-1)^{pq} \bar{\nu} \wedge \bar{\mu}. \tag{2.1.3}$$

Therefore,

$$R_{A,q}^*(x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \bar{x}) = xq \overline{(\bar{A}^t \theta q)}^t \wedge \bar{A}^t \theta q \overline{(xq)}$$
$$= xq \bar{q} \bar{\theta}^t A \wedge \bar{A}^t \theta q \bar{q} \bar{x}$$
$$= x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \bar{x}.$$

Consider the following commutative diagram in which all the maps are projections:

$$\begin{array}{ccc}
\tilde{F} \times \mathbb{H} & \xrightarrow{\varpi} & H \\
p_1 \downarrow & & \downarrow \pi^H \\
\tilde{F} & \xrightarrow{\pi} & M
\end{array}$$

If  $X \in T(\tilde{F} \times \mathbb{H})$  then  $\theta(X)$  is zero if and only if  $\pi_* p_{1_*} X = 0$ . But  $\pi_* p_{1_*} X = \pi_*^H p_* X$ , which is zero if  $p_* X = 0$ , so  $x \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \bar{x}$  descends to H.

From equations (2.1.1) and (2.1.2)

$$R_{A,q}^* d\theta = -\left(R_{A,q}^* \omega_+\right) \wedge \left(\bar{A}^t \theta q\right) - \left(\bar{A}^t \theta q\right) \wedge \left(R_{A,q}^* \omega_-\right).$$

Since  $R_{A,q}^*$  commutes with d, we also have

$$R_{A,q}^* d\theta = d \left( \bar{A}^t \theta q \right) = - \left( \bar{A}^t \omega_+ A \right) \wedge \left( \bar{A}^t \theta q \right) - \left( \bar{A}^t \theta q \right) \wedge \left( \bar{q} \omega_- q \right).$$

From the uniqueness of  $\omega$ , we obtain

$$R_{A,q}^*\omega_+ = \bar{A}^t\omega_+ A,$$

$$R_{A,q}^*\omega_- = \bar{q}\omega_- q.$$

Thus for  $\alpha$ , we have

$$R_{A,q}^*\alpha = \alpha q, \tag{2.1.4}$$

so  $\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}$  is  $Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$ -invariant.

If  $X \in T_{(u,y)}(\tilde{F} \times \mathbb{H})$  is such that  $p_*X = 0$ , then X is tangent to the  $Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$ -action and we may write  $X = (u \cdot (P,Q), yQ)$  for some  $(P,Q) \in \mathfrak{sp}(n) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1)$ . By definition,  $\omega_+(X) = P$  and  $\omega_-(X) = Q$ , so

$$\alpha(X) = dx(X) - (x\omega_{-})(X) = (yQ) - yQ = 0,$$

as required.

The function  $r^2 = x\bar{x}$  also descends to H, so we may consider the 2-form

$$v = f(r^2)\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} + g(r^2)x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \bar{x},$$

where f and g are arbitrary real-valued functions. From (2.1.3), we see that v takes values in Im  $\mathbb{H}$  and so defines three real 2-forms. In general, if  $\mu = \mu_0 + \mu_1 i + \mu_2 j + \mu_3 k \in \Omega^1(X, \mathbb{H})$  then

$$\bar{\mu} \wedge \mu = (\mu_0 \wedge \mu_1 - \mu_2 \wedge \mu_3)i + (\mu_0 \wedge \mu_2 - \mu_3 \wedge \mu_1)j + (\mu_0 \wedge \mu_3 - \mu_1 \wedge \mu_2)k.$$

Thus, the components of v are good candidates for symplectic forms on H.

**Proposition 2.1.4.** If f and  $r^2g$  are nowhere zero and v is the form defined above, then the i, j and k components of v are non-degenerate, real 2-forms on H.

PROOF. The projection  $\pi \colon \tilde{F} \to M$  has an  $Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$ -invariant distribution of horizontal subspaces given by  $\ker \omega$ . This defines a distribution  $\mathcal{D}$  on  $\tilde{F} \times \mathbb{H}$  such that for each  $(u,y) \in \tilde{F} \times \mathbb{H}$ 

$$T_{(u,y)}(\tilde{F} \times \mathbb{H}) = \mathfrak{sp}(n) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1) \oplus \mathcal{D}_{u,y} \oplus \mathbb{H}.$$
 (2.1.5)

Thus  $\mathcal{D}_{u,y}$  is isomorphic to  $\ker \omega_u \leqslant T_u \tilde{F}$  and is  $Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$ -invariant. So  $\mathcal{D}$  descends to a distribution  $\mathcal{H}$  of horizontals on H such that at  $a \in H$ 

$$T_aH \cong \mathcal{H}_a \oplus \mathbb{H} \cong \mathcal{D}_{u,y} \oplus \mathbb{H}$$

whenever  $(u, y) \in p^{-1}(a)$ . Here  $\mathbb{H}$  is the space of vertical vectors, that is vectors tangent to the fibre of  $H \to M$  over  $\pi^H(a)$ .

From the commutative diagram above,  $x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \bar{x}$  vanishes on verticals. It is non-degenerate on  $\mathcal{H}$  since  $\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta$  is non-degenerate on  $\ker \omega$ . The form  $\alpha = dx - x\omega_-$  vanishes on  $\mathcal{D}$ , hence  $\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}$  vanishes on  $\mathcal{H}$ . It is sufficient to show that  $\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}$  is non-degenerate on the verticals  $\mathbb{H}$ ; but on  $\mathbb{H}$ ,  $\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}$  is just  $dx \wedge d\bar{x}$ , which is clearly non-degenerate.

We can define a pseudo-Riemannian metric  $g_1$  on H by

$$g_1 = \operatorname{Re}(f(r^2)\alpha \otimes \bar{\alpha} + g(r^2)r^2\bar{\theta}^t \otimes \theta).$$

Away from the zero section this metric is positive definite if f and g are both strictly positive everywhere and the almost complex structures defined by  $g_1$  and v are independent of f and g. If we put

$$\Upsilon = \upsilon \wedge \upsilon$$

$$= f^{2} \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} \wedge \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}$$

$$+ fg(\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} \wedge x\bar{\theta}^{t} \wedge \theta \bar{x} + x\bar{\theta}^{t} \wedge \theta \bar{x} \wedge \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha})$$

$$+ g^{2} r^{4} \bar{\theta}^{t} \wedge \theta \wedge \bar{\theta}^{t} \wedge \theta,$$

then  $g_1$  is pseudo-hyperKähler if dv = 0, and by Theorem 1.2.2, if  $\dim M \geq 8$ ,  $g_1$  is pseudo-quaternionic Kähler if  $d\Upsilon = 0$ . Let  $\mathcal{G}_1$  be the subbundle of  $\Lambda^2 T^* \mathcal{U}(M)$  generate by the i, j and k components of v. If M is four-dimensional, we obtain pseudo-quaternionic Kähler metrics if, in addition, the algebraic ideal generated by  $\mathcal{G}_1$  is a differential ideal. In order to compute these exterior derivatives we introduce the curvature forms  $\Omega_{\pm}$  of  $\omega_{\pm}$ :

$$\Omega_{+} = d\omega_{+} + \omega_{+} \wedge \omega_{+}, \qquad \Omega_{-} = d\omega_{-} + \omega_{-} \wedge \omega_{-}.$$

The base manifold M is Einstein, or in 4-dimensions Einstein and self-dual, if and only if

$$\Omega_{-} = c\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta, \tag{2.1.6}$$

where c is a constant positive multiple of the scalar curvature  $\kappa$ . For example, in 4-dimensions, c is  $\kappa/48$ .

**Theorem 2.1.5.** The 4-form  $\Upsilon$  is closed if and only if

$$f = \frac{q}{c(pr^2 + q)^2}$$
 and  $g = \frac{1}{pr^2 + q}$ ,

for some  $p, q \in \mathbb{R}$  and the algebraic ideal generated by  $\mathcal{G}_1$  is a differential ideal if and only if

$$f = \frac{1}{c(1 + \gamma r^2)}g,$$

for some real constant  $\gamma$ . Thus,

$$g_1 = \frac{q}{c(pr^2+q)^2} \operatorname{Re}(\alpha \otimes \bar{\alpha}) + \frac{r^2}{pr^2+q} \operatorname{Re}(\bar{\theta}^t \otimes \theta)$$

is a pseudo-quaternionic Kähler metric on  $H \setminus 0$  away from the (possibly empty) submanifold  $pr^2 + q = 0$  and we have a pseudo-hyperKähler metric if p = 0.

PROOF. We check the hyperKähler property first. From (2.1.6),

$$d\alpha = -\alpha \wedge \omega_{-} - x\Omega_{-} = -\alpha \wedge \omega_{-} - cx\bar{\theta}^{t} \wedge \theta,$$

SO

$$d(\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}) = -c(x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \wedge \bar{\alpha} + \alpha \wedge \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \bar{x}).$$

Also, by (2.1.1),

$$d(\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta) = -\omega_- \wedge \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta + \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \wedge \omega_-,$$

SO

$$d(x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \bar{x}) = \alpha \wedge \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \bar{x} + x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \wedge \bar{\alpha}.$$

This gives  $cp dv = d(\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} + cx\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \bar{x}) = 0$  and that  $g_1$  is pseudo-hyperKähler in this case.

We now return to  $\Upsilon$ . For greater generality, consider

$$\Xi = A(\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} \wedge \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}) + B(\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} \wedge x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta\bar{x} + x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta\bar{x} \wedge \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}) + Cr^4(\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \wedge \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta),$$

where A, B and C are real-valued functions of  $r^2$ . In addition to the derivatives calculated above, we have

$$d(\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \wedge \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta) = d(\pi^{H^*}\Omega) = 0$$

and

$$dr^2 = xd\bar{x} + dx\,\bar{x} = x\bar{\alpha} + \alpha\bar{x}.$$

Using this second equation to rearrange terms, we calculate that

$$d\Xi = \left(-\frac{3c}{r^2}A + \frac{3}{r^2}B + B'\right)dr^2 \wedge (\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} \wedge x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta\bar{x} + x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta\bar{x} \wedge \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha})$$
$$+ \left(-\frac{2c}{r^2}B + \frac{2}{r^2}C + C'\right)r^4dr^2 \wedge \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \wedge \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta,$$

where ' denotes differentiation with respect to  $r^2$ . (Note that  $dr^2 \wedge \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} \wedge \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}$  is zero since it is a 5-form that can only be non-zero on a 4-dimensional distribution.) Thus  $d\Xi$  vanishes if and only if

$$-\frac{3c}{r^2}A + \frac{3}{r^2}B + B' = 0$$

and

$$-\frac{2c}{r^2}B + \frac{2}{r^2}C + C' = 0.$$

Putting  $A = f^2$ , B = fg and  $C = g^2$  these equations imply that  $d\Upsilon = 0$  if and only if

$$-\frac{3c}{r^2}f^2 + \frac{3}{r^2}fg + f'g + fg' = 0$$

and

$$g\left(-\frac{c}{r^2}f + \frac{g}{r^2} + g'\right) = 0.$$

If  $g(r^2) \neq 0$  then the second equation gives

$$f(r^2) = \frac{1}{c}(r^2g' + g).$$

Substituting in the first equation implies

$$q''q = 2q'^2$$

and that

$$g(r^2) = (pr^2 + q)^{-1},$$

giving

$$f(r^2) = \frac{q}{c}(pr^2 + q)^{-2}.$$

To find when the algebraic ideal generated by  $\mathcal{G}_1$  is a differential ideal, we calculate dv:

$$dv = \left(\frac{g}{r^2} - \frac{cf}{r^2}\right) \left(x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \bar{x} \wedge x\bar{\alpha} + \alpha \bar{x} \wedge x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \bar{x}\right) + f'dr^2 \wedge \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} + g'dr^2 \wedge x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \bar{x}.$$

Because

$$dr^2 \wedge \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} = -\alpha \bar{x} \wedge \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} - \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} \wedge x \bar{\alpha},$$

we see that the components of dv lie in  $\mathcal{G}_1 \wedge T^*\mathcal{U}(M) \subset \Lambda^3 T^*\mathcal{U}(M)$  if and only if

$$\frac{f'}{f} = \frac{g'}{g} - \frac{1}{r^2} \left( 1 - \frac{cf}{g} \right).$$

Solving this differential equation gives the desired result.

Instead of v we can consider the 2-form

$$\frac{1}{r^2} \left( a(r^2) \, x \bar{\alpha} \wedge \alpha \bar{x} + b(r^2) \, x \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \bar{x} \right),\,$$

where a and b are arbitrary functions of  $r^2$ . This corresponds formally to inverting the fibre of H by mapping  $r^2$  to  $1/r^2$ . In exactly the same way as above we obtain pseudo-quaternionic Kähler metrics.

**Theorem 2.1.6.** On H there are pseudo-quaternionic Kähler metrics

$$g_2 = \frac{p}{c(pr^2 + q)^2} \operatorname{Re} \bar{\alpha} \otimes \alpha + \frac{1}{pr^2 + q} \operatorname{Re} \bar{\theta}^t \otimes \theta$$

whose 4-forms are given by

$$\frac{p^{2}}{c^{2}(pr^{2}+q)^{4}}(\bar{\alpha}\wedge\alpha\wedge\bar{\alpha}\wedge\alpha)$$

$$+\frac{p}{c(pr^{2}+q)^{3}}(\bar{\alpha}\wedge\alpha\wedge\bar{\theta}^{t}\wedge\theta+\bar{\theta}^{t}\wedge\theta\wedge\bar{\alpha}\wedge\alpha)$$

$$+\frac{1}{(pr^{2}+q)^{2}}(\bar{\theta}^{t}\wedge\theta\wedge\bar{\theta}^{t}\wedge\theta).$$

When q=0 these metrics are pseudo-hyperKähler away from the zero-section.

Note that these quaternionic Kähler metrics are defined across the zero-section, so the original  $g_1$  metrics can be extended at infinity by adjoining a copy of M, but they will still degenerate on the zero-section. We shall see in Section 3 that if the base manifold is  $\mathbb{H}P(n)$ , then the total space of  $H \setminus 0$  is  $\mathbb{H}^{n+1}$  with the origin removed). The hyperKähler metric is just the usual flat metric, which may be completed by adjoining a point, and the quaternionic Kähler metrics are

induced by the inclusion  $\mathbb{H}^{n+1*} \subset \mathbb{HP}(n+1)$ . These quaternionic Kähler metrics are completed by adjoining a copy of  $\mathbb{HP}(n)$  at infinity to give  $\mathbb{HP}(n+1)$ .

So far we have only produced metrics on the bundle H which, as remarked above, may only exist locally over M. Global statements may be obtained by considering the bundle

$$\mathcal{U}(M) = F \times_{Sp(n)} Sp(1) (\mathbb{H}^*/\mathbb{Z}_2).$$

Locally, this is just the quotient of H by  $\mathbb{Z}_2 = \{\pm 1\}$ . The 2-form v and the metrics  $g_1$  and  $g_2$  are invariant by this action and so descend to  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ . The above theorems thus hold on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ . In particular, fixing attention on  $g_1$  and taking  $p, q \geqslant 0$ , we have:

**Theorem 2.1.7.** If M is a quaternionic Kähler manifold with non-zero scalar curvature, then the associated bundle  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  is pseudo-hyperKähler. Also  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  admits a family of pseudo-quaternionic Kähler metrics which have the pseudo-hyperKähler structure as a scalar curvature tends to zero limit. All these metrics share the same underlying quaternionic structure and they are positive definite if M has positive scalar curvature.  $\square$ 

That hyperKähler metrics may be obtained as the scalar curvature tends to zero limit of families of quaternionic Kähler metrics is suggested by the result of Alekseevskii (1968). He shows that the curvature tensor of a quaternionic Kähler manifold decomposes as  $\lambda R_{\mathbb{HP}(n)} + R_0$ , where  $R_{\mathbb{HP}(n)}$  and  $R_0$  have the symmetries of the curvature tensors of  $\mathbb{HP}(n)$  and a hyperKähler manifold respectively. Galicki (1986) showed, using results of Bagger & Witten (1983), that the Calabi metric on  $T^*\mathbb{CP}(n)$  could be obtained as a limit of the symmetric metric on the Wolf space  $\mathrm{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^{n+2})$ . The families of metrics we produced above have the additional property that the topology does not change in the limit.

Corollary 2.1.8. If M is a self-dual, Einstein, spin 4-manifold with scalar curvature  $\kappa$  and  $V_{-} \setminus 0$  is its negative spin bundle with the zero section removed. Then  $V_{-} \setminus 0$  is hyperKähler if  $\kappa > 0$  and  $V_{-} \setminus 0$  is pseudo-hyperKähler if  $\kappa < 0$ . Also  $V_{-} \setminus 0$  admits pseudo-quaternionic Kähler metrics in the same quaternionic structure which are positive-definite if  $\kappa > 0$ .

The bundle  $V_{-}$  is naturally associated to the conformal structure on  $M^{4}$ . In fact we may write the fibre of  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  as

$$\frac{CO^{+}(4)}{SU(2)_{-}} = \frac{Sp(1) GL(1, \mathbb{H})}{Sp(1)_{-}} = \mathbb{H}^{*}/\mathbb{Z}_{2} = \mathbb{R}P(3) \times \mathbb{R}_{>0}.$$

The last two descriptions of the fibre of  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  apply in all dimensions. From the definition,  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  is a principal  $\mathbb{H}^*/\mathbb{Z}_2$ -bundle, with action induced from the action of  $q \in \mathbb{H}^*$  on  $\xi \in \mathbb{H}$  given by  $\xi \cdot q = \bar{q}\xi$ . The action permutes the complex structures  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ , thus showing that they are all equivalent. This is not true in general where the cohomology class of I, say, may be different from those for the other structures, as in case of the moduli space for solutions of the self-duality equations over a Riemann surface (Hitchin, 1987), or all three cohomology classes may differ, as for the asymptotically locally Euclidean (ALE) 4-manifolds (Kronheimer, 1989a). Note that  $\mathbb{RP}(3) = (Sp(n)Sp(1))/Sp(n)$  parameterises those Sp(n)-structures which are compatible with a given quaternionic Kähler structure on  $\mathbb{R}^{4n}$ . This is exactly analogous to the way that SO(2n)/U(n) parameterises all almost complex structures compatible with a given metric and orientation on  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$ . Quaternionic Kähler manifolds have a twistor operator D defined to be the composition

$$H \xrightarrow{\nabla} H \otimes T^*M = H \otimes EH = ES^2H \oplus H \longrightarrow ES^2H,$$

where the last map is projection. From Salamon (1986) we see that a section s of  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  is a hyperKähler submanifold only if it is a solution of the twistor equation Ds = 0.

Since the constructions of metrics in this section only use properties of the representations of the complexified group  $Sp(n, \mathbb{C})$   $Sp(1, \mathbb{C})$ , they may be generalised to the case of a pseudo-quaternionic Kähler base manifold M. If the metric on M has signature (4p, 4q) then the pseudo-hyperKähler metrics of the last theorem will have signature (4p + 4, 4q) if the scalar curvature of M is positive or (4p, 4q + 4) if it is negative.

### 2.2 Metrics Over Kähler-Einstein Contact Manifolds

The twistor space Z of a quaternionic Kähler manifold is the  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$ -bundle consisting of almost complex structures compatible with the quaternionic Kähler structure on M. It may be obtained from  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  by fixing one of the complex structures and then projectivising, so

$$Z = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{U}(M)),$$

which is locally  $\mathbb{P}(H)$ . This induces a complex structure on Z and exhibits  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  as the total space of a holomorphic line bundle on Z with the zero section removed. Salamon (1982) shows that Z is Kähler-Einstein manifold and that it has a complex contact structure.

**Definition 2.2.1.** If N is a complex (2n + 1)-manifold, then a *complex contact structure* on N is a line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  together with a holomorphic 1-form  $\varphi$  taking values in  $\mathcal{L}$ , such that  $\varphi \wedge (d\varphi)^n$  is nowhere zero.

These structures on Z may be derived from the hyperKähler metric on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  as follows. Fix one of the complex structures I on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ , then there is a subgroup U(1)

of Sp(1) which acts preserving I and permuting J and K. The moment map associated to this U(1)-action is just the function  $r^2$ , and so we obtain the twistor space as the Kähler quotient of U(M). The norm of the vector field generated by the circle action is constant on the level sets of the moment map and this can be used to show that the twistor space is also Einstein (cf. Futaki, 1988). The complex contact structure is given by the following result.

**Proposition 2.2.2.** Let N be a hyperKähler manifold, with complex structures I, J, K. Suppose U(1) acts on N preserving I and permuting J and K, then the Kähler quotient of N by U(1) is a Kähler contact manifold.

PROOF. This proof is essentially due to LeBrun (1983). Let X be the vector field generated by the U(1)-action. Without loss of generality we may assume  $L_X J = K$  and  $L_X K = -J$ . Let P be the symplectic quotient of  $N^{4n}$  with respect to the Kähler form  $\omega_I$  associated to I. Hitchin et al. (1987) show that this quotient manifold is actually Kähler, so it only remains to show that it is a complex contact manifold.

If  $\mu$  is the moment map associated to the Kähler quotient, then  $S := \mu^{-1}(x)$  is a principal U(1)-bundle over P. Define a line bundle L over P by

$$L = S \times_{U(1)} \mathbb{C},$$

where  $g \in U(1)$  acts by  $g \cdot (s, z) = (g \cdot s, gz)$ . Let  $\omega_J$ ,  $\omega_K$  be the Kähler forms associated to J and K respectively and define  $\omega = \omega_J + i\omega_K$ . We define the contact form  $\varphi$  on P to be  $\varphi = X \bot \omega$ . If  $g \in U(1)$ , then  $g^*\varphi = g\varphi$ , so  $\varphi$  takes values in L and if  $\sigma \colon P \to S$  is a local section, then

$$\sigma^*(\varphi \wedge (d\varphi)^{n-1}) = \sigma^*((X \sqcup \omega) \wedge (L_X \omega)^{n-1}) = i^{n-1} \sigma^*(X \sqcup \omega^n),$$

which is does not vanish since X is vertical for the projection and  $(\omega \wedge \bar{\omega})^n$  is a non-zero multiple of the volume form of N.

Note that  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  is dual to the contact bundle and this leads us to construct hyperKähler metrics over other Kähler-Einstein contact manifolds. Twistor spaces also have a real structure  $\sigma$ . This is an antiholomorphic involution and is naturally defined by the Sp(1)-action on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ . Suppose the U(1) preserving I is given by  $e^{i\theta}$ . Let j be an element of Sp(1) such that on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ ,  $je^{i\theta} = e^{-i\theta}j$ . Then j descends to the real structure  $\sigma$  on Z. Theorems indicating when a general Kähler-Einstein contact manifold is a twistor space will be discussed in Chapter 4.

Let N be a complex (2n+1)-manifold with a complex contact structure  $\{\mathcal{L}, \varphi\}$ . We have an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{D} \longrightarrow T'N \xrightarrow{\varphi} \mathcal{L} \longrightarrow 0,$$

where T'N is the holomorphic tangent bundle of N and  $\mathcal{D}$  is the distribution  $\ker \varphi$ . Kobayashi (1959) shows that the structure group of N may be reduced to  $U(1) \times (Sp(n) \otimes U(1))$ , since  $T'N \cong \mathcal{D} \oplus \mathcal{L}$  and  $d\varphi$  behaves like a symplectic form on  $\mathcal{D}$ . The definition of the contact structure shows that  $(\mathcal{L}^*)^{\otimes n+1}$  is isomorphic to the canonical bundle K of N. This implies that  $\mathcal{L}^n = \Lambda^{2n}\mathcal{D}$  and we may restrict to frames  $(l, \mathcal{D}) \colon \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{H}^n \to T'N$  such that  $l^n = \det \mathcal{D}$ . Thus the structure group actually reduces to  $(1 \times Sp(n)) \otimes U(1)$ .

Let F be the principal  $(1 \times Sp(n)) \otimes U(1)$ -bundle of frames  $u : \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{H}^n \to T_xN$ compatible with the complex contact structure of N. The tangent bundle TNis  $(\mathbb{C} \oplus E) \otimes V$  as an  $(1 \times Sp(n)) \otimes U(1)$ -module, where E is the basic representation of Sp(n), as before, and V is the U(1)-module  $\mathbb{C}$  with  $w \cdot v = \bar{w}v$ , for  $w \in U(1)$ and  $v \in \mathbb{C}$ . The contact line bundle is now just the bundle associated to V and the contact form is projection.

If N has a Kähler structure compatible with the complex contact structure, then the holonomy group of N is a subgroup of U(2n+1). If  $\theta \in \Omega^1(F, \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{H}^n)$  is the canonical 1-form, then the Levi-Civita connection descends to give a 1-form  $\omega$  in  $\Omega^1(F, \mathfrak{u}(2n+1))$  such that  $d\theta = -\omega \wedge \theta$ . Corresponding to the Lie algebra splitting  $\mathfrak{u}(2n+1) = \mathfrak{u}(1) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2n+1)$ , we write  $\omega = \omega_+ + \omega_-$ . Locally, we can work on a line bundle  $\mathcal{L}^{-1/2}$  such that  $\mathcal{L}^{-1/2} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{-1/2} \cong \mathcal{L}^*$ . This may be constructed by choosing a double cover  $S^1$  of U(1) and taking the bundle associated to the standard representation of  $S^1$  on  $W \cong \mathbb{C}$ . Let z be the pull-back of the identity map on W and let  $r^2 = z\bar{z}$ . As before, define a 1-form  $\alpha$  by

$$\alpha = dz - z\omega_{+}.$$

**Lemma 2.2.3.** If N is also an Einstein manifold, then there is an almost Kähler structure on  $\mathcal{L}^{-1/2} \setminus 0$  with metric

$$g = \operatorname{Re}(\alpha \otimes \bar{\alpha} + \lambda r^2 \bar{\theta}^t \otimes \theta)$$

and 2-form

$$\nu = \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} + \lambda r^2 \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta,$$

where  $\lambda$  is some positive constant multiple of the scalar curvature of N.

PROOF. For  $A \in Sp(n)$  and  $\zeta \in S^1$ , we have  $R_{A,\zeta}^*\theta = \bar{A}^t\theta\zeta^2$  and  $R_{A,\zeta}^*z = \zeta z$ . Also,  $\omega_+$  is invariant under this group action. Exactly as for the bundle H, we see that  $\nu$  and g are well-defined on  $\mathcal{L}^{-1/2}$ .

It is now sufficient to show that  $\nu$  is closed, as it is clearly non-degenerate away from the zero section. From the definition of  $\alpha$ ,

$$d\alpha = -dz\,\omega_{+} - z\,d\omega_{+} = -\alpha\omega_{+} - z\Omega_{+},$$

where  $\Omega_+ = d\omega_+ + \omega_+ \wedge \omega_+$ . Since N is Kähler-Einstein, we have  $\Omega_+ = \lambda \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta$  and that

$$d(\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}) = -\Omega_{+} \wedge dr^{2} = -\lambda \bar{\theta}^{t} \wedge \theta \wedge dr^{2} = -\lambda d(r^{2}\bar{\theta}^{t} \wedge \theta).$$

Thus  $\nu$  is closed.

The almost complex structure so defined on  $\mathcal{L}^{-1/2} \setminus 0$  is integrable, as will be seen from Hitchin's lemma, but a direct proof will also be presented when we discuss the relation with the Calabi metric later in this chapter.

The canonical 1-form  $\theta$  on F splits as  $\theta = \theta_+ + \theta_-$  corresponding to the splitting of  $\Omega^1(F, \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{H}^n)$ . With respect to the complex structure defined by g and  $\nu$ , we have that  $z^2\bar{\theta}_+$  is a well-defined holomorphic 1-form on  $\mathcal{L}^{-1/2}$ . This is essentially the contact form on N and  $d(z^2\bar{\theta}_+)$  provides the rest of the hyperKähler structure on  $\mathcal{L}^{-1/2} \setminus 0$  and also its  $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -quotient  $\mathcal{L}^* \setminus 0$ .

**Proposition 2.2.4.** Let N be a (2n + 1)-dimensional Kähler-Einstein manifold with a compatible complex contact structure and positive scalar curvature. Then

$$g = \operatorname{Re}(\alpha \otimes \bar{\alpha} + \lambda r^2 \bar{\theta}^t \otimes \theta)$$

is a hyperKähler metric on  $\mathcal{L}^* \setminus 0$ , where  $\mathcal{L}$  is the contact line bundle over N.

PROOF. It remains to show that  $d(z^2\bar{\theta}_+)$  and  $\nu$  are compatible. We will assume that the scalar curvature of N has been normalised so that  $\lambda=1$ . The compatibility requirement is that there is a  $\mathbb{H}^{n+1}$ -valued 1-form  $\mu+\mu'j$  such that  $(\mu+\mu'j) \wedge \overline{(\mu+\mu'j)} = \mu \wedge \overline{\mu} + \mu' \wedge \overline{\mu'} + 2\mu' \wedge \mu j$  is the 2-form  $\nu + d(z^2\bar{\theta}_+)j$ .

Now

$$\nu = \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} + r^2 \bar{\theta}_+ \wedge \theta_+ + r^2 \bar{\theta}_-^t \wedge \theta_-$$

and

$$d(z^2\bar{\theta}_+) = 2z \, dz \wedge \bar{\theta}_+ + z^2 d\bar{\theta}_+.$$

Since,  $\theta_+$  is the contact form, our assumption of compatibility of the complex contact and Kähler structures shows that  $d\theta_+$  and  $-\bar{\theta}_-^t \wedge \theta_-$  are compatible on the distribution  $\mathcal{D}$ . Thus,  $z^2 d\bar{\theta}_+$  and  $r^2 \bar{\theta}_-^t \wedge \theta_-$  are compatible. Also, taking  $\mu + \mu' j = z\bar{\theta}_+ + \alpha j$  we see that  $2z\alpha \wedge \bar{\theta}_+$  and  $\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} + r^2\bar{\theta}_+ \wedge \theta_+$  are compatible.

If N is the twistor space of a quaternionic Kähler manifold M then this metric agrees with one previously constructed on  $\mathcal{U}(M) \cong \mathcal{L}^* \setminus 0$ . This can be seen as follows. If we apply the proposition to  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$  with its standard structure, then a computation analogous to the one below for  $\mathbb{H}P(n)$  shows that we obtain the flat metric on  $\mathbb{C}^{2^*}$ . The metric constructed over N now consists of this flat metric in the  $(\theta_+, \alpha)$ -direction and a multiple of the metric on M in the remaining directions, which is the way that the metric of  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  decomposes with respect to the fibre and horizontal directions.

If we just regard  $\mathcal{L}^* \setminus 0$  as a complex symplectic manifold then it is the symplectification of the complex contact manifold N in the sense of Arnol'd (1978). The construction of hyperKähler metrics in the first section may then be regarded as a quaternionic enhancement.

## 2.3 Examples

The model examples of quaternionic Kähler manifolds are  $\mathbb{HP}(n)$ . For these spaces it is possible to compute the metrics on  $\mathcal{U}(\mathbb{HP}(n))$  explicitly. This is largely because the frame bundle F may be readily computed.

**Lemma 2.3.1.** The double cover of the reduced frame bundle of  $\mathbb{HP}(n)$  may be identified with Sp(n+1).

PROOF. Recall that

$$\mathbb{HP}(n) \cong \frac{Sp(n+1)}{Sp(n) \times Sp(1)},$$

so Sp(n+1) is naturally a principal  $Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$ -bundle over  $\mathbb{H}P(n)$ ; we denote the projection by  $\pi$ . Explicitly, let e be the vector  $(0, \dots, 0, 1)^t \in \mathbb{H}^{n+1}$  and for  $A \in Sp(n+1)$  put

$$\pi(A) = [Ae] = [a_{1n}, \dots, a_{nn}],$$

where  $A = (a_{ij})$ . Let  $(B,q) \in Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$  act on A via right multiplication by  $\begin{pmatrix} B & 0 \\ 0 & q \end{pmatrix}$ . Then the tangent space of  $\mathbb{H}P(n)$  at  $\pi(A)$  is

$$T_{\pi(a)} \mathbb{H}P(n) = AT_e \bar{A}^t$$

where

$$T_e = T_{[e]} \mathbb{H}P(n) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \xi \\ -\bar{\xi}^t & 0 \end{pmatrix} : \xi \in \mathbb{H}^n \right\}.$$

Now A defines an orientation preserving linear isometry  $\mathbb{H}^n \to T_{\pi(a)} \mathbb{H} P(n)$  by

$$\xi \mapsto A \cdot \xi = A \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \xi \\ -\bar{\xi}^t & 0 \end{pmatrix} \bar{A}^t.$$

This map from Sp(n+1) to the frame bundle of  $\mathbb{H}P(n)$  has kernel  $\{\pm 1\}$  and so the lemma is proved.

For  $\mathbb{HP}(n)$ , we have that the bundle  $H \setminus 0$  equals

$$\tilde{F} \times_{Sp(n) \times Sp(1)} \mathbb{H}^* = \frac{Sp(n+1)}{Sp(n)} \times_{Sp(1)} \mathbb{H}^* = \frac{Sp(n+1)}{Sp(n)} \times \mathbb{R}_{>0}.$$

But Sp(n+1)/Sp(n) is just the (4n+3)-sphere  $S^{4n+3}$ . So, topologically,  $H \setminus 0$  is  $\mathbb{H}^{n+1}$ \*.

**Proposition 2.3.2.** The hyperKähler metric on  $H \setminus 0$  over  $\mathbb{H}P(n)$  is the flat metric on  $\mathbb{H}^{n+1*}$ .

PROOF. If  $A \in Sp(n+1)$  then

$$T_A \operatorname{Sp}(n+1) \cong \left\{ v = A \begin{pmatrix} M & \xi \\ -\bar{\xi}^t & \nu \end{pmatrix} \bar{A}^t : \xi \in \mathbb{H}^n, \ M \in \mathfrak{sp}(n), \ \nu \in \operatorname{Im} \mathbb{H} \right\}.$$

Thus, if  $v \in T_A Sp(n+1)$  then  $\theta_A(v) = A^{-1} \cdot (\pi_* v) = \xi$ . For any  $v, v' \in T_A Sp(n+1)$  we have  $d\theta_A(v, v') = v\theta_A(v') - v'\theta_A(v) - \theta_A[v, v']$ . We may extend v, v' to vector fields in such a way as to make  $v\theta_A(v') - v'\theta_A(v)$  vanish. Then, in components,

$$d\theta_A(v,v') = d\theta_A \left( A \cdot \begin{pmatrix} M & \xi \\ -\bar{\xi}^t & \nu \end{pmatrix}, A \cdot \begin{pmatrix} M' & \xi' \\ -\bar{\xi}^{\prime t} & \nu' \end{pmatrix} \right) = -(M\xi' + \xi\nu' - M'\xi - \xi'\nu).$$

From (2.1.1), we see that

$$\omega_{+A}(v) = M, \qquad \omega_{-A}(v) = \nu.$$

Let  $s: H \setminus 0 \to Sp(n+1) \times \mathbb{H}^*$  be a local section such that the component of s in  $\mathbb{H}^*$  is real. If (v, z) is tangent to s at (A, y), then

$$\alpha(v,z) = z - y\nu$$
 and  $(\theta \bar{x})(v,z) = \xi y$ .

So the hyperKähler metric g on  $H \setminus 0$  is

$$g_{\varpi(A,y)}(\varpi_*(v,z), \varpi_*(v,z)) = z^2 + y^2(|\nu|^2 + c|\xi|^2),$$

where c is the constant such that  $\Omega_- = d\omega_- + \omega_- \wedge \omega_- = c\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta$ . But  $\Omega_-(v, v') = \bar{\xi}^t \xi' - \bar{\xi'}^t \xi = (\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta)(v, v')$ , so c = 1. The final bracket in the expression for g is just the standard metric on  $S^{4n+3}$ , since the inclusion  $\mathfrak{sp}(n+1) \subset \mathfrak{so}(4n+4)$  shows that it agrees with the expression for the SO(4n+4)-invariant metric.

Note that it was not sufficient in the above proof to check that we had an Sp(n+1)-invariant metric, since  $S^{4n+3}$  admits several families of such metrics some of which are even Einstein (see Besse, 1987).

We may also consider other homogeneous base spaces. Wolf (1965) and Alekseevskii (1968) classified the compact homogeneous quaternionic Kähler manifolds, obtaining precisely one for each compact simple Lie group:

$$\mathbb{HP}(n) = \frac{Sp(n+1)}{Sp(n) \times Sp(1)}, \qquad Gr_2(\mathbb{C}^n) = \frac{SU(n)}{S(U(n-2) \times U(2))},$$

$$\widetilde{Gr}_4(\mathbb{R}^n) = \frac{SO(n)}{SO(n-4) \times SO(4)}, \qquad \frac{G_2}{SO(4)},$$

$$\frac{F_4}{Sp(3) Sp(1)}, \qquad \frac{E_6}{SU(6) Sp(1)},$$

$$\frac{E_7}{Spin(12) Sp(1)} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \frac{E_8}{E_7 Sp(1)}.$$

These are constructed as follows. Let G be a compact, centreless, simple Lie group with Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ . For each root  $\alpha$  define

$$\mathfrak{g}_{\alpha} = \{ X \in \mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}} : [H, X] = \alpha(H)X \text{ for all } H \in \mathfrak{h} \},$$

where  $\mathfrak{h}$  is a fixed Cartan subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$ . Choose a highest root  $\rho$ . Then the subalgebra generated by  $\mathfrak{g}_{\rho}$  and  $\mathfrak{g}_{-\rho}$  is isomorphic to  $\mathfrak{sp}(1,\mathbb{C})$ . This has normaliser  $\mathfrak{l}^{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1,\mathbb{C})$ , where, if  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  denotes he Killing form on  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$ ,  $\mathfrak{l}$  is defined by

$$\mathfrak{l} = \mathfrak{g} \cap \Big( \{ H \in \mathfrak{h} : \rho(H) = 0 \} \oplus \sum_{\substack{\alpha > 0 \\ \langle \alpha, \rho \rangle = 0}} (\mathfrak{g}_{\alpha} \oplus \mathfrak{g}_{-\alpha}) \Big).$$

The Wolf space associated to G is then  $M = G/(L \cdot Sp(1))$ , where L and Sp(1) have Lie algebras  $\mathfrak{l}$  and  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)$ , respectively. Wolf also shows that the twistor space of M is  $Z = G/(L \cdot S^1) \cong G^{\mathbb{C}}/U$ , where the Lie algebra of U is

$$\mathfrak{u}=\mathfrak{h}\oplus\sum_{\langlelpha,
ho
angle\geqslant0}\mathfrak{g}_lpha.$$

The twistor space may also be described as follows. Let  $E_{\rho}$  be a non-zero element of  $\mathfrak{g}_{\rho}$  and consider the adjoint action of  $G^{\mathbb{C}}$  on the linear span  $[E_{\rho}]$  of  $E_{\rho}$ . If  $H \in \mathfrak{h}$  then  $[H, E_{\rho}] = \rho(H)E_{\rho}$  and for  $X \in \mathfrak{g}_{\alpha}$  we have

$$[X, E_{\rho}]$$
  $\begin{cases} \in \mathfrak{g}_{\alpha+\rho} & \text{if } \alpha+\rho \text{ is a root,} \\ = 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$ 

If  $\langle \alpha, \rho \rangle \geqslant 0$ , then  $\alpha + \rho$  is not a root, since  $\rho$  is the highest root. Whereas, if  $\langle \alpha, \rho \rangle < 0$ , then  $\alpha + \rho$  is a root. So the Lie algebra of the stabiliser of  $[E_{\rho}]$  is  $\mathfrak{h} \oplus \sum_{\langle \alpha, \rho \rangle \geqslant 0} \mathfrak{g}_{\alpha} = \mathfrak{u}$  and the twistor space of M may be identified with the projectivised orbit of  $E_{\rho}$ . The orbit  $\mathcal{O}$  of  $E_{\rho}$  itself is  $B = G^{\mathbb{C}}/U_1$  where

$$\mathfrak{u}_1 = \{ X \in \mathfrak{u} : \langle X, H_\rho \rangle = 0 \},$$

(Here  $H_{\rho}$  is the element of  $\mathfrak{h}$  defined by  $\langle H_{\rho}, H \rangle = \rho(H)$  for all  $H \in \mathfrak{h}$ .) The contact line bundle on Z is  $\mathcal{L} = B^*$  and the contact form  $\varphi$  is given by  $(\varphi(\pi_*X))(b) = \langle E_{\rho}, X \rangle$ , where  $\pi \colon B \to Z$  is the projection,  $b \in \pi^{-1}(1)$  and  $X \in \langle H_{\rho} \rangle \oplus \sum_{\langle \alpha, \rho \rangle < 0} \mathfrak{g}_{\alpha}$  which is isomorphic to the tangent space of B. Thus the nilpotent orbit  $\mathcal{O}$  is the dual of the contact line bundle and hence is the associated bundle  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ .

Recall that the Wolf space M is the quotient of the real group G by the normaliser N(Sp(1)) of Sp(1). Thus M is the G-orbit of real subalgebras  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$  such that the nilpotent elements of  $\mathfrak{sp}(1) \otimes \mathbb{C}$  lie in the highest root orbit  $\mathcal{O}$ . The fibre of  $\mathcal{U}$  over a point of M consists of the nilpotent elements in  $\mathfrak{sp}(1) \otimes \mathbb{C}$ . Let  $\sigma$  be the real structure on  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  corresponding to  $\mathfrak{g}$ . This is a conjugate-linear Lie endomorphism of  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  with  $\sigma^2 = 1$  and whose +1-eigenspace is  $\mathfrak{g}$ . If  $X \in \mathcal{O}$  then the real  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)$  corresponding to X has complexification spanned by X,  $\sigma X$  and  $[X, \sigma X]$ . The  $\mathbb{H}^*$ -action on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  is essentially given by the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.3.3.** If Y, H are such that  $\langle Y, -\sigma Y, H \rangle$  is an  $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{C})$ -triplet, i.e.

$$[Y, -\sigma Y] = H,$$
  $[H, Y] = 2Y$  and  $[H, -\sigma Y] = -2(-\sigma Y),$ 

then there is an  $\mathbb{H}^*$ -action on the nilpotent elements of  $\langle Y, \sigma Y, H \rangle$  given by

$$(a+bj)\cdot Y=a^2Y+b^2\sigma Y+ab[Y,\sigma Y], \qquad \text{for } a+bj\in Sp(1),$$
 
$$\lambda\cdot Y=\lambda^2Y, \qquad \text{for } \lambda\in\mathbb{R}.$$

PROOF. We need to verify that this is an action. It sufficient to check we have an Sp(1)-action. Let a + bj and c + dj be elements of Sp(1).

$$(c+dj) \cdot ((a+bj) \cdot Y) = (c^{2}a^{2} + d^{2}\bar{b}^{2})Y + (c^{2}b^{2} + d^{2}\bar{a}^{2})\sigma Y$$

$$+ (c^{2}ab - d^{2}\bar{a}\bar{b})[Y, \sigma Y] + cd(|a|^{4} - |b|^{4})[Y, \sigma Y]$$

$$- cda\bar{b}(|a|^{2} + |b|^{2})[[Y, \sigma Y], Y]$$

$$- cd\bar{a}b(|a|^{2} + |b|^{2})[[Y, \sigma Y], \sigma Y]$$

$$= (ca - d\bar{b})^{2}Y + (cb + d\bar{a})^{2}\sigma Y + (ca - d\bar{b})(cb + d\bar{a})[Y, \sigma Y]$$

$$= ((c+dj)(a+bj)) \cdot Y$$

To get an  $\mathbb{H}^*$ -action on the orbit we need to show that there is a positive real number  $\lambda$  such that  $Y = \lambda X$  satisfies the hypotheses of the lemma. It is sufficient to show that  $[X, [X, \sigma X]]$  is a positive multiple of X. Now  $\langle X, \sigma X, [X, \sigma X] \rangle$  is isomorphic to  $\mathfrak{sp}(1, \mathbb{C})$  with its standard real structure, so we only need to work

in  $\mathfrak{sp}(1,\mathbb{C}) \cong \mathfrak{su}(2,\mathbb{C})$ . Write X as a  $2 \times 2$  complex matrix, then  $\sigma X = -\bar{X}^t$ . Let  $\{e_1,e_2\}$  be an orthonormal basis for  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . Since X is a highest root vector,  $X = a \otimes \bar{b} = a_i \bar{b}_j e_i e_j$ , for some  $a,b \in \mathbb{C}^2$  such that  $\sum a_i \bar{b}_j = 0$ . Now  $[X,\sigma X] = (\|a\|^2 b_i \bar{b}_j - \|b\|^2 a_i \bar{a}_j) e_i e_j$ . So  $[X, [X,\sigma X]]$  is  $2\|a\|^2 \|b\|^2 X$ , as required.

From the last description of M, we can regard  $\mathcal{O}$  as the set of Lie algebra homomorphisms from  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)$  to  $\mathfrak{g}$  such that the nilpotent elements in  $\mathfrak{sp}(1) \otimes \mathbb{C}$  map into  $\mathcal{O}$  when the homomorphism is extended complex linearly. The  $\mathbb{H}^*$ -action above can then be viewed as the action of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathfrak{sp}(1)) \cong \mathbb{H}^*/\mathbb{Z}_2$  via composition. Thus the hyperKähler structures constructed by Kronheimer (1988) give the same metric on the highest root orbit. His metrics on the rest of the nilpotent variety will be studied in a later chapter.

Wolf also shows that any compact, homogeneous, complex contact manifold arises as the twistor space of one of the quaternionic Kähler manifolds above. So there are no compact homogeneous examples of our second construction which are not already covered by the quaternionic Kähler case. An alternative description of these twistor spaces in terms of nilpotent Lie algebras has been given by Burstall (1989).

## 2.4 Integrability

Recall that for an oriented, Riemannian four-manifold M, the bundle H is just the negative spin bundle  $V_-$ . Much of the discussion in the first section of this chapter still applies; in particular,  $V_- \setminus 0$  carries a family of almost complex structures. When the base manifold is Einstein and self-dual we automatically get the integrability of these structures from the fact that all three symplectic forms are closed (Hitchin, 1987). However, if we are only concerned with when the structures are integrable these conditions are stronger than necessary.

**Theorem 2.4.1.** If M is an oriented, 4-dimensional, Riemannian, spin manifold, then the almost complex structures I, J and K on  $V_{-} \setminus 0$  are integrable if and only if M is self-dual.

PROOF. Write V for  $V_-\setminus 0$ . We first fix attention on one almost complex structure I. Let  $T^{1,0}$ ,  $T^{0,1}$  denote the +i, -i eigenspaces of I on  $TV\otimes \mathbb{C}$ , respectively, and write  $\Lambda^{p,q}$  for  $\Lambda^p T^{1,0}^* \otimes \Lambda^q T^{0,1}^*$ . The Newlander-Nirenberg Theorem says that I is integrable if and only if its torsion tensor N vanishes identically. It is well known (see Kobayashi & Nomizu, 1963) that N is zero if and only if for each  $\beta \in \Lambda^{1,0}$ ,  $(d\beta)^{0,2} = 0$ .

Fix  $a \in V$  and choose a section  $s: V \to \tilde{F} \times \mathbb{H}$  in a neighbourhood of a. Write

$$s^*\alpha = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 i + \alpha_2 j + \alpha_3 k,$$
  
$$s^*(\theta \bar{x}) = \theta_0 + \theta_1 i + \theta_2 j + \theta_3 k,$$

where  $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_3, \theta_0, \ldots, \theta_3 \in \Omega^1(V, \mathbb{R})$ . This gives an orthogonal basis  $\{\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_3, \theta_0, \ldots, \theta_3\}$  for  $T_a^*V$  with respect to which

$$\eta_I = -2(\alpha_0 \wedge \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 \wedge \alpha_3 - c(\theta_0 \wedge \theta_1 - \theta_2 \wedge \theta_3))$$

and

$$g = \sum_{i=0}^{3} (\alpha_i \otimes \alpha_i + c\theta_i \otimes \theta_i).$$

A typical element of  $\Lambda^{1,0}$  is  $\beta - iI\beta$ , so  $\alpha_0 + i\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2 + i\alpha_3$ ,  $\theta_0 - i\theta_1$ ,  $\theta_2 + i\theta_3$  is a basis for  $\Lambda_a^{1,0}V$ . Recall that

$$d\alpha = -\alpha \wedge \omega_{-} - x\Omega_{-}$$

and

$$d(\theta \bar{x}) = -\omega_{+} \wedge \theta \bar{x} - \theta \wedge \omega_{-} \bar{x} + \theta \wedge d\bar{x}.$$

We may choose s such that  $s_*(T_aV) = \mathcal{D}_{s(a)} \oplus \mathbb{H}$ , where  $\mathcal{D}$  is the distribution of horizontals given in (2.1.5). For such a choice  $(s^*d\alpha)_a = (-s^*(x\Omega_-))_a$  and  $(s^*d(\theta\bar{x}))_a = 0$ , since  $\omega_{\pm}$  and dx vanish on  $\mathcal{D}_{s(a)}$  and  $\omega_-$  and  $\theta$  vanish on  $\mathbb{H}$ . Also, we still have enough freedom left in the choice of s to arrange that x(s(a)) is real. Thus, if we write  $s^*(\Omega_-) = \Omega_1 i + \Omega_2 j + \Omega_3 k$ , then the remark at the start of this proof gives that I is integrable if and only if

$$\Omega_1^{0,2} = 0,$$
 (2.4.1) 
$$(\Omega_2 + i\Omega_3)^{0,2} = 0.$$

Since I preserves the horizontal subspace  $\mathcal{H}_a$  of  $T_aV$ , a choice of a section  $\sigma \colon M \to V$  in neighbourhood of  $b = \pi^H(a) \in M$  such that  $\sigma_*T_bM = \mathcal{H}_a$ , gives a decomposition under I of

$$(\Lambda^2 T_h^* M)_{\mathbb{C}} = \Lambda^{2,0} \oplus \Lambda^{1,1} \oplus \Lambda^{0,2}.$$

We have  $\sigma^*\alpha_i = 0$  and that  $\sigma^*\theta_0, \ldots, \sigma^*\theta_3$  is a basis for  $T_b^*M$ . In  $\Lambda^{1,1}$  we obtain the distinguished linear subspace  $\langle \sigma^*\eta_I \rangle$  spanned by  $\sigma^*\eta_I$ . Write  $\Lambda_0^{1,1}$  for the orthogonal complement of this subspace in  $\Lambda^{1,1}$ . Now  $\sigma^*(\theta_0 \wedge \theta_1 \wedge \theta_2 \wedge \theta_3)$  is a positive multiple of the volume form on M at b, so a direct computation is all that is required to verify the well-known correspondence

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_0^{1,1} &= \Lambda_{+\mathbb{C}}^2, \\ \Lambda^{0,2} \oplus \Lambda^{2,0} \oplus \langle \sigma^* \eta_I \rangle &= \Lambda_{-\mathbb{C}}^2, \end{split}$$

at b. Thus, as equations (2.4.1) only involve the (0,2)-components of  $\Omega_{-}$ , they only place restrictions on  $\Omega_{-}^{-}$ , the component of  $\Omega_{-}$  lying in  $\Lambda_{-}^{2}$ . (Here we are regarding

 $\Omega_{-}$  as a 2-form on M, which is possible since  $\Omega_{-}(X,Y)=0$  unless X and Y are both horizontal.)

If we write  $\theta_i$  for  $\sigma^*\theta_i$ , then

$$\Omega_{-}^{-} = a(\theta_0 \wedge \theta_1 - \theta_2 \wedge \theta_3) + b(\theta_0 \wedge \theta_2 - \theta_3 \wedge \theta_1) + c(\theta_0 \wedge \theta_3 - \theta_1 \wedge \theta_2) = (a, b, c),$$

for some  $a, b, c \in \text{Im } \mathbb{H}$ . Write  $a = a_1 i + a_2 j + a_3 k$ , etc. Now, with respect to the decomposition given by I,  $\Lambda^{0,2}$  is the span of  $(\theta_0 \wedge \theta_2 - \theta_3 \wedge \theta_1) - i(\theta_0 \wedge \theta_3 - \theta_1 \wedge \theta_2)$ . So (2.4.1) is equivalent to

$$b = -ic$$
.

Similarly, integrability of J and K are equivalent to c = -ja and a = -kb, respectively. So I, J, K are integrable if and only if

$$\Omega_{-}^{-} = -\{(\theta_0 \wedge \theta_1 - \theta_2 \wedge \theta_3)i + (\theta_0 \wedge \theta_2 - \theta_3 \wedge \theta_1)j + (\theta_0 \wedge \theta_3 - \theta_1 \wedge \theta_2)k\}a,$$

for some real number a, which is precisely the condition that M be self-dual.  $\square$ 

Fixing a complex structure on  $V_{-} \setminus 0$  we can form the twistor space and obtain the theorem of Atiyah et al. (1978a).

**Theorem 2.4.2.** (Atiyah, Hitchin & Singer) If M is an oriented, Riemannian, 4-manifold then the natural almost complex structure on the twistor space is integrable if and only if M is self-dual.

When M is self-dual and spin, the complex structures I, J and K define a hypercomplex structure on  $V_{-} \setminus 0$ . Salamon (1986) shows that this is also true in higher dimensions if we replace the self-duality condition by a requirement that M be quaternionic and if we replace  $V_{-} \setminus 0$  by the appropriate rank 4 bundle. Even though we have not defined a compatible metric, Obata's theorem gives us a natural connection and therefore geodesics.

We now briefly return to the metrics constructed over Kähler-Einstein contact manifolds earlier in this chapter. If we drop the assumption of possessing a complex contact structure and allow N to be any Kähler-Einstein 2n-manifold we may perform the construction of Lemma 2.2.3 on the canonical bundle K of N and obtain an almost Kähler metric. This metric is actually Kähler-Einstein, has zero scalar curvature and is a degenerate case of a family of metrics described by Calabi (1979).

**Proposition 2.4.3.** Away from the zero-section, the canonical bundle of a Kähler-Einstein manifold with positive scalar curvature admits a Kähler-Einstein metric which is Ricci flat.

PROOF. Put V to be the U(n)-representation  $\Lambda^n \mathbb{C}^n$ , where  $\mathbb{C}^n$  is the standard U(n)-module. Then for  $A \in U(n)$ ,  $R_A^* \theta = \bar{A}^t \theta$  and  $R_A^* dz = (\det A)^{-1} dz$ . As in Lemma 2.2.3, we have

$$g = \operatorname{Re}(\alpha \otimes \bar{\alpha} + \lambda r^2 \bar{\theta}^t \otimes \theta)$$

and a closed, non-degenerate 2-form

$$\nu = \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} + \lambda r^2 \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta,$$

where  $\lambda$  is some positive constant multiple of the scalar curvature of N. We need to check that the almost complex structure is integrable and that the Ricci tensor is zero.

The integrability computation is exactly as above in the case of H, and shows that the almost complex structure is integrable if and only if  $\Omega^{0,2}_+$  vanishes. However, N is Einstein and  $\Omega_+ = \lambda \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta$  which is of type (1,1).

The Ricci tensor  $\rho$  of K is given by  $\rho = -id'd'' \log \det g_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$ , where  $g_{\alpha\bar{\beta}} = g(v_{\alpha}, v_{\bar{\beta}})$  for some local holomorphic basis  $\{v_{\alpha}\}$ . But choosing a local section s, we have  $s^*\alpha = \alpha_0 + i\alpha_1$  and  $s^*(\theta\bar{z}) = \theta_0 + i\theta_1$ , giving a local basis  $\alpha_0 + i\alpha_1$ ,  $\theta_0 - i\theta_1$  of holomorphic 1-forms for which  $\log \det g_{\alpha\bar{\beta}}$  is constant.

# Chapter 3 QUOTIENT CONSTRUCTIONS

Suppose M is a symplectic manifold of dimension 2n and a compact Lie group G of rank k acts smoothly, isometrically and freely on M. Then M/G is a manifold, but it has dimension 2n-k and so, in general, it cannot be symplectic. If the G-action preserves the symplectic structure then Marsden & Weinstein (1974) showed that under certain mild restrictions on M or G, there is a moment map  $\mu \colon M \to \mathfrak{g}^*$  such that  $\mu^{-1}(0)/G$  is a symplectic manifold of dimension 2n-2k. This construction has been generalised to hyperKähler manifolds by Hitchin et al. (1987) and to quaternionic Kähler manifolds by Galicki & Lawson (1988). In this chapter we discuss these constructions, give some examples and show that these reductions are compatible with the hyperKähler metric construction of the previous chapter. In particular, if  $M_G$  is the quaternionic Kähler quotient of a quaternionic Kähler manifold M by G,  $Z_G$  is its twistor space and  $\leadsto$  denotes an appropriate quotient by G, we have the following diagram.

$$\begin{array}{ccc}
\mathcal{U}(M) \leadsto \mathcal{U}(M_G) \\
\downarrow & \downarrow \\
Z & \leadsto & Z_G \\
\downarrow & \downarrow \\
M & \leadsto & M_G
\end{array}$$

In Chapter 2 we constructed various hyperKähler metrics from different types of base space. In this chapter we show how the structure of the quaternionic Kähler

base spaces may be recovered from the hyperKähler structures. The construction is a moment map construction based on the observation that the total spaces admit a special type of Sp(1)-action. Finally we return to the Sp(1)-actions and show that these hyperKähler metrics are determined by special Kähler potentials.

## 3.1 HyperKähler Quotients

Let M be a 4n-dimensional hyperKähler manifold, with Riemannian metric g, complex structures I, J and K, and symplectic form  $\eta = \eta_I i + \eta_J j + \eta_K k$ . If X is a vector field on M, let  $L_X$  denote the Lie derivative with respect to X. We say that X is Killing if  $L_X g = 0$ , triholomorphic if  $L_X I = L_X J = L_X K = 0$ , or Hamiltonian if  $L_X \eta = 0$ . Note that any two of these conditions imply the third one.

Now suppose that G is a compact Lie group acting freely and smoothly on M preserving g and  $\eta$ . For any vector field X generated by this action we have  $L_X g = 0 = L_X \eta$ . Now  $\eta$  is closed, so

$$0 = L_X \eta = X \rfloor d\eta + d(X \rfloor \eta) = d(X \rfloor \eta).$$

If the first cohomology group  $H^1(M,\mathbb{R})$  vanishes then there is a function  $\mu_X \in \Omega^0(M,\operatorname{Im}\mathbb{H})$  such that

$$X \lrcorner \eta = d\mu_X$$
.

These functions can be combined into a single map  $\mu \colon M \to \mathfrak{g}^* \otimes \operatorname{Im} \mathbb{H}$  defined by

$$\langle \mu(m), X \rangle = \mu_X(m), \tag{3.1.1}$$

for  $m \in M$ . Note that  $\mu_X$  is only defined upto an additive constant, but if G is compact, then (Guillemin & Sternberg, 1984) there is no obstruction to choosing

these constants so that  $\mu$  is equivariant with respect to the actions of G on M and  $\mathfrak{g}^*$ . In this case,  $\mu$  (or  $\mu_X$ ) is called a *moment map* for the action of G on M.

Given a moment map  $\mu$ , suppose  $a \in \mathfrak{g}^* \otimes \operatorname{Im} \mathbb{H}$  is invariant under the (coadjoint) action of G. Then, if we set  $M_a = \mu^{-1}(a)$ ,  $M_a$  is a G-invariant submanifold of M of dimension 4n-3k, where k is the rank of G. Now G acts freely and isometrically on  $M_a$ , so  $\hat{M}_a = M_a/G$  is a Riemannian manifold of dimension 4n-4k. Since G also preserves  $\eta$ , it can be shown that  $\eta$  and the almost complex structures on M define a hyperKähler structure on  $\hat{M}_a$ . Details of these assertions may be found in Hitchin, Karlhede, Lindström & Roček (1987).

This construction may be generalised to pseudo-hyperKähler manifolds. We require that if we consider the distribution  $\mathcal{A}$  of vectors tangent to the action of G on M, then the restriction of the pseudo-metric g to  $\mathcal{A}$  is non-degenerate. This ensures that g gives a G-invariant distribution of horizontals in  $TM_a$  for  $M_a \to M_a/G$  (see Lang, 1984). With this additional hypothesis, the proofs cited above show that  $M_a/G$  is pseudo-hyperKähler. Hitchin (1988) has also studied the case where we have no metric, just a hypersymplectic structure, and obtains a further generalisation of the quotient construction.

The first example of a hyperKähler quotient is that of U(1) acting on flat space  $\mathbb{H}^n$  via

$$e^{i\theta} \cdot (a+jb) = e^{i\theta}a + je^{-i\theta}b.$$

The value of the moment map for this action at  $q \in \mathbb{H}^n$  is  $\bar{q}^t i q$  and we obtain a hyperKähler quotient for each  $a \in \text{Im } \mathbb{H}$ . If a is non-zero, there is an  $\alpha \in \mathbb{H}$  such that  $\bar{\alpha} i \alpha = a$  and the U(1)-equivariant map  $q \mapsto q \alpha^{-1}$  takes the level set associated to a to that associated to a. Thus the hyperKähler quotient associated to a is homothetic

that associated to i. Writing q = a + jb, the moment map equation  $\bar{q}^t iq = i$  becomes

$$|a|^2 - |b|^2 = 1,$$
$$b^t a = 0.$$

The hyperKähler quotient is topologically  $T^*\mathbb{C}\mathrm{P}(n-1)$ , since a defines a point of  $\mathbb{C}\mathrm{P}(n-1)$  and  $b\otimes \bar{a}$  defines an element of  $T^*_{[a]}\mathbb{C}\mathrm{P}(n-1)\cong (\mathrm{Hom}(\langle a\rangle,\langle a\rangle^{\perp}))^*$ . Hitchin (1986) shows that the metric obtained on  $T^*\mathbb{C}\mathrm{P}(n-1)$  coincides with the one constructed by Calabi (1979, 1980).

The 0-level set of the moment map is

$$|a|^2 = |b|^2$$
 and  $b^t a = 0$ .

The map  $(a,b) \mapsto a \otimes \overline{b}$  is well-defined on the quotient space. The image in  $M_n(\mathbb{C}) \cong \mathfrak{u}(n,\mathbb{C})$  is the highest root orbit, together with 0, and the action of Sp(1) on  $\mathbb{H}^n$  on the right descends to the action described in Chapter 2. So the hyperKähler quotient is the associated bundle  $\mathcal{U}(\operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^n))$  with its hyperKähler metric and we may view this metric as a singular limit of the Calabi metric on  $T^*\mathbb{C}P(n-1)$ . Note that Galicki (1986) obtains this Calabi metric as a limit of the quaternionic Kähler metrics on  $\operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^{n+1})$ .

The twistor space of  $\operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^n)$  is the flag manifold

$$F_{1,2,n} = \frac{U(n)}{U(n-2) \times U(1) \times U(1)}.$$

This clearly fibres over  $\mathbb{C}P(n-1)$ , and, away from the zero sections,  $T^*\mathbb{C}P(n-1)$  may be regarded as  $\mathcal{O}(-2)$ . Letting  $\Longrightarrow$  denote a degenerate limit of a family of metrics, and using the subscripts  $q_K$  and  $h_K$  to indicate whether the space in question is

to be regarded as a quaternionic Kähler or hyperKähler manifold respectively, we have the following diagram (away from zero sections).

$$\mathcal{U}(\operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^n))_{qK} \Longrightarrow \mathcal{U}(\operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^n))_{hK} \iff T^*\mathbb{C}\mathrm{P}(n-1) \iff \operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^{n+1})$$

$$F_{1,2,n} \iff \mathbb{C}\mathrm{P}(n-1)$$

More generally, we can consider the bundle  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  associated to a quaternionic Kähler manifold M with non-zero scalar curvature.

**Lemma 3.1.1.** If X is a Killing vector field on M such that  $L_X\Omega = 0$ , where  $\Omega$  is the fundamental 4-form of M, then X may be lifted to a Hamiltonian Killing vector field  $\tilde{X}$  on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ .

PROOF. Let  $\phi$  be an isometry of M such that  $\phi^*\Omega = \Omega$ . Then  $\phi_*$  defines a map  $\phi_*: F_x \to F_{\phi(x)}$  which commutes with the Sp(n) Sp(1)-action on the reduced frame bundle F, since

$$(\phi_* u(\xi)) \cdot (A, q) = \phi_* u(A\xi \bar{q}) = \phi_* (u(\xi) \cdot (A, q)),$$

for  $u \in F$ ,  $\xi \in \mathbb{H}$  and  $(A,q) \in Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$ . Similarly, the pull-back of  $\phi_*$  to  $F \times (\mathbb{H}^*/\mathbb{Z}_2)$  commutes with the Sp(n) Sp(1)-action, so we have an induced map  $\phi_* \colon \mathcal{U}(M) \to \mathcal{U}(M)$ .

Now  $\phi^*$  preserves  $\theta$ , for if  $u \in F$ ,  $v \in T_u F$  then

$$\phi^* \theta_u(v) = \theta_{\phi_* u}(\phi_{**} v) = (\phi_* u)^{-1} (\pi_* \phi_{**} v)$$

and we have that  $\pi \phi_* = \phi \pi$ , so  $\phi^* \theta_u(v) = u^{-1} \phi_*^{-1}(\phi_* \pi_* v) = \theta_u(v)$ . Also,  $\phi^*$  commutes with d and the connection forms  $\omega_{\pm}$  are uniquely determined by

 $d\theta = -\omega_+ \wedge \theta - \theta \wedge \omega_-$ , so  $\phi^*\omega_- = \omega_-$ . The induced map  $\phi_*$  acts trivially on  $\mathbb{H}$ , and so preserves x and dx. Thus  $\phi^*$  is an isometry on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  which preserves the 2-form v.

Let  $\phi_t$  ba a local 1-parameter group of local isometries generating X. Since  $L_X\Omega=0$ , we may assume that  $\phi_t^*\Omega=\Omega$ . As above, we can lift  $\phi_t$  to a local 1-parameter group  $\phi_{t_*}$  of local isometries on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ . The vector field  $\tilde{X}$  generated by  $\phi_{t_*}$  is thus a Hamiltonian Killing field on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ . Note that  $\pi_*^H \tilde{X}=X$ .

Suppose a compact Lie group G acts on M freely and isometrically and that this action preserves  $\Omega$ . The lemma above then tells us that the action of G may be lifted to  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  and that this action is isometric and triholomorphic. Since  $\pi_*^H \tilde{X} = X$  for each vector field generated by the action, the induced action preserves the fibres of  $\pi^H : \mathcal{U}(M) \to M$ , and is thus free.

Let Y be a Killing field generated by the action of G on M and let X denote the lift of Y to  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ . The proof of the lemma yields an Sp(n) Sp(1)-invariant vector field, which we again denote by X, on F and  $\varpi_*X = X$ . If we define  $\mu_X$  on  $F \times \mathbb{H}^*$  by

$$\mu_X = -X \, \lrcorner (x\omega_- \bar{x}), \tag{3.1.2}$$

then  $\mu_X$  is  $Sp(n) \times Sp(1) \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ -invariant and so is well-defined on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ .

**Proposition 3.1.2.** Let  $\mu \colon \mathcal{U}(M) \to \mathfrak{g}^* \otimes \operatorname{Im} \mathbb{H}$  be defined from (3.1.2) as in (3.1.1). Then  $\mu$  is a moment map for the induced action of G on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ .

PROOF. First we check that  $d\mu_X = X \, \lrcorner v$ . Now, since M is Einstein we have

$$d\mu_X = -(L_X - X \rfloor d)(x\omega_- \bar{x})$$
  
=  $-L_X(x\omega_- \bar{x}) + X \rfloor (dx \wedge \omega_- \bar{x} + xc\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta\bar{x} - x\omega_- \wedge \omega_- \bar{x} - x\omega_- \wedge d\bar{x}).$ 

But  $X \rfloor dx = 0$  and  $L_X x = 0$ , so

$$d\mu_X = -x(L_X\omega_-)\bar{x} + X \, \lrcorner (\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} + cx\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta\bar{x}).$$

Let  $\phi_t$  be a 1-parameter group of isometries preserving  $\Omega$  and generating Y. Then  $\phi_{t*}$  generates X and it preserves  $\omega_{-}$ , so  $L_X\omega_{-}=0$ . Hence,  $d\mu_X=X\lrcorner v$ . The equivariance of  $\mu$  follows directly from the definition of  $\mu_X$ .

Define  $\alpha_Y$  to be  $Y \, \lrcorner g$ , where g is the metric on M. Then  $\nabla \alpha_Y$  is an element of  $\Lambda^2 T^*M$ , since Y is a Killing field (see Kobayashi & Nomizu, 1963). We have a subbundle  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)$  of  $\Lambda^2 T^*M$  whose fibre is the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{sp}(1) \cong \operatorname{Im} \mathbb{H}$ ; this bundle is just the isometric embedding of  $\mathcal{G}$  in  $\Lambda^2 T^*M$ . Let  $(\nabla \alpha_Y)^{\mathfrak{sp}}$  (1) denote the orthogonal projection of  $\nabla \alpha_Y$  onto  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)$ . If we choose a frame  $u \in F$ , then  $(\nabla \alpha_Y)^{\mathfrak{sp}}_{\pi(u)}$  (1)  $= \omega_-(X)_u$ , where X is the lift of Y to TF, as above. Thus,  $\mu_X$  vanishes at a point  $a \in \mathcal{U}(M)$  if and only if  $(\nabla \alpha_Y)^{\mathfrak{sp}}_{\pi^H(a)}$  (1) = 0. So, if  $\mu_X$  vanishes at a, then  $\mu_X$  vanishes on the whole fibre through a and if X is a lifted Killing vector field, then X is horizontal over each point of the fibre through a.

# 3.2 Quaternionic Kähler Quotients

Suppose M is a quaternionic Kähler manifold with fundamental 4-form  $\Omega$ . A Killing vector field X on M is said to be *quaternionic* if  $L_X\Omega=0$ . Let X be such a Killing field, I, J and K a local basis for  $\mathcal{G}$  and  $\eta_I$ ,  $\eta_J$  and  $\eta_K$  their corresponding 2-forms. Then locally we can define a 1-form  $\Theta_X$  with values in  $\mathcal{G}$  by

$$\Theta_X = (X \lrcorner \eta_I) \otimes \eta_I + (X \lrcorner \eta_J) \otimes \eta_J + (X \lrcorner \eta_K) \otimes \eta_K.$$

This definition does not depend on the choice of local basis for  $\mathcal{G}$  and so  $\Theta_X$  is globally defined. If  $\alpha_X = X \lrcorner g$ , as above, then the map  $\Omega^1(M) \to \Omega^1(\mathcal{G})$  given by  $\alpha_X \mapsto \Theta_X$  is injective so we may regard  $\Theta_X$  as an element of  $\Omega^1(M)$ .

The Riemannian connection  $\nabla$  on M preserves  $\mathcal{G}$ , so we can define a sequence

$$\Omega^0(\mathcal{G}) \xrightarrow{d^{\nabla}} \Omega^1(\mathcal{G}) \xrightarrow{d^{\nabla}} \Omega^2(\mathcal{G}) \xrightarrow{d^{\nabla}} \cdots,$$

where  $d^{\nabla}(\alpha \otimes \sigma) = d\alpha \otimes \sigma + (-1)^p \alpha \otimes \nabla \sigma$  for  $\alpha \in \Omega^p(M)$  and  $\sigma \in \Omega^0(\mathcal{G})$ . It is well-known that if  $\mathcal{R}$  is the curvature of  $\mathcal{G}$  then

$$d^{\nabla} \circ d^{\nabla} f = \mathcal{R}(f),$$

for each  $f \in \Omega^0(\mathcal{G})$ . This is used to show the following:

**Theorem 3.2.1.** (Galicki & Lawson, 1988) if M has non-zero scalar curvature, then for each quaternionic Killing vector field X on M there is a unique  $f_X \in \Omega^0(\mathcal{G})$  such that  $\nabla f_X = \Theta_X$ .

**Remark.** If we regard  $f_X$  as a 2-form, then the condition  $\nabla f_X = \Theta_X$  is equivalent to  $df_X = X \lrcorner \Omega$ . The map  $X \mapsto X \lrcorner \Omega$  is just the inclusion of  $\Lambda^1 T^*M$  in  $\Lambda^3 T^*M$  which can be seen in the representation theory of Chapter 5.

We assume from now on that M has non-zero scalar curvature.

The map  $f_X$  is actually determined by the function  $\mu_{\tilde{X}}$  introduced in (3.1.2). In the notation of the previous section, let

$$f_X = \frac{1}{\lambda} (\nabla \alpha_Y)^{\mathfrak{sp}} (1),$$

where  $\lambda$  is the same constant positive multiple of the scalar curvature of M as in the introduction.

**Lemma 3.2.2.** The function  $f_X$  defined above satisfies  $\nabla f_X = \Theta_X$ .

PROOF. Fix  $m \in M$  and let  $\eta_1, \eta_2, \eta_3$  be a local basis of  $\mathcal{G}$  regarded as a subbundle of  $\Lambda^2 T^* M$ , such that

$$\nabla \eta_i|_m = 0,$$
 for  $i = 1, 2, 3.$ 

Let  $\mathbf{a} \colon V^{\otimes p} \to \Lambda^p V$  be the alternation map, then  $d\eta_i|_m = \mathbf{a}(\nabla \eta_i|_m) = 0$ ; so at m,

$$L_X \eta_i = d(X \lrcorner \eta_i) + X \lrcorner d\eta_i = \mathbf{a}(\nabla(X \lrcorner \eta_i)) = \mathbf{a}(\nabla \mathbf{c}(\alpha_X, \eta_i)).$$

Here  $\mathbf{c} : \Lambda^p \otimes \Lambda^q \to \Lambda^{p-1} \otimes \Lambda^{q-1}$  is contraction with the metric over each of the first two indices. Now  $\mathbf{c}$  commutes with  $\nabla$ , so

$$L_X \eta_i = \mathbf{a}(\mathbf{c}(\alpha_X, \nabla \eta_i) + \mathbf{c}(\nabla \alpha_X, \eta_i)) = \mathbf{a}(\mathbf{c}(\nabla \alpha_X, \eta_i)),$$

by our choice of  $\eta$ . Now, M is irreducible, so  $\nabla \alpha_X \otimes \eta_i$  is an element of  $(\mathfrak{sp}(n) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1)) \otimes \mathfrak{sp}(1) \cong (\mathfrak{sp}(n) \otimes \mathfrak{sp}(1)) \oplus S^2(S^2\mathbb{C}^2) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1)$ . But  $\mathfrak{sp}(n) \otimes \mathfrak{sp}(1)$  is an irreducible  $Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$ -module and  $\mathbf{ac}(\mathfrak{sp}(n) \otimes \mathfrak{sp}(1))$  is a proper submodule, so by Schur's Lemma it is  $\{0\}$ . Thus  $\mathbf{ac}(\nabla \alpha_X, \eta_i)$  is an element of  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)$  and only involves the  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)$ -component of  $\nabla \alpha_X$ . Hence

$$L_X \eta_i = [(\nabla \alpha_X)^{\mathfrak{sp}}], \eta_i],$$

and the function  $f_X$  agrees with the explicit form given in Galicki & Lawson (1988, equation (2.11)), that is,

$$f_X|_m = \sum_{i=1}^3 f_i \otimes \eta_i|_m = \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_i r_i \otimes \eta_i|_m,$$

where 
$$L_X \eta_j = \sum_{i,k} \varepsilon_{ijk} r_i \eta_k$$
.

Thus  $f_X$  is just the projection of  $\mu_{\tilde{X}}$  to M.

Let G be a compact Lie group acting freely and smoothly on M. Suppose that this action preserves the metric and the 4-form  $\Omega$ .

**Definition 3.2.3.** (Galicki, 1987) The moment map  $\Phi \colon M \to \mathfrak{g}^* \otimes \mathcal{G}$  associated to the G-action on M is defined by  $\langle \Phi(m), X \rangle = f_X(m)$ , for each  $m \in M$  and each vector field X generated by the action of G.

From the theorem above we have that  $\Phi$  is G-equivariant. Unlike the hyperKähler case, there is only one natural G-invariant submanifold to consider, namely  $M_0 = \Phi^{-1}(0)$ , where 0 denotes the zero section. If we now define  $M_G = M_0/G$ , then Galicki & Lawson (1988) have shown that  $M_G$  inherits a quaternionic Kähler structure from M.

Examples of quaternionic Kähler quotients of  $\mathbb{HP}(n)$  may be found in Galicki (1987). In particular, the action of U(1) on  $\mathbb{H}^{n+1}$  given in the previous section descends to  $\mathbb{HP}(n)$ . The moment map at  $[q_0, \ldots, q_n] \in \mathbb{HP}(n)$  is  $\bar{q}^t iq$ . Write q = a + jb, then there is an  $A \in U(n+1)$  such that  $Aa = (1,0,\ldots,0)^t$ . Now, if q is a zero of the moment map, then so is  $Aq = Aa + j\bar{A}b$  and in particular,  $b^t\bar{A}^tAa = b^ta = 0$ , so  $\bar{A}b = (0,b_1,\ldots,b_n)^t$  and we still have the freedom to choose A so that  $\bar{A}b = (0,1,0,\ldots,0)^t$ . Thus, U(n+1) acts transitively on the zero set of the moment map. The stabiliser of a point is  $SU(2) \times U(n-1)$ , so the quaternionic Kähler quotient is

$$\frac{U(n+1)}{SU(2) \times U(n-1) \times U(1)} = \operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^{n+1}).$$

Recall that the corresponding hyperKähler quotient of  $\mathbb{H}^{n+1}$  constructed the manifold  $\mathcal{U}(\operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^{n+1}))$  which is the associated bundle of the quaternionic Kähler quotient. In the following section we show that this is true for all quaternionic Kähler quotients.

#### 3.3 Commutativity of Constructions

In this section, when we perform the hyperKähler quotient of  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  we use the zero level set of the moment map.

**Theorem 3.3.1.** Suppose M is a quaternionic Kähler manifold with non-zero scalar curvature. If a Lie group G acts isometrically, freely and quaternionically on M then G induces a free, triholomorphic, isometric action on the associated bundle  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ . The pseudo-hyperKähler quotient of  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  by this G-action is precisely the associated bundle to the quaternionic Kähler quotient of M by G.

PROOF. Let  $M_0$ ,  $M_G$  be as above and let  $\pi \colon M_0 \to M_G$  and  $i \colon M_0 \to M$  be the projection and inclusion maps, respectively. Let F be the reduced frame bundle of M: this is a principal Sp(n) Sp(1)-bundle, where dim M = 4n. If  $X_1, \ldots, X_k$  is a basis of quaternionic Killing vector fields for the action of G on M, and I, J, K is a basis for G in a neighbourhood U of a point  $m \in M$ , then  $\{IX_i, JX_i, KX_i : i = 1, \ldots, k\}$  span the orthogonal complement  $(TM_0)^{\perp}|_U$  of  $TM_0$  in  $TM|_{M_0}$  (see Galicki & Lawson, 1988). Also,  $X_1, \ldots, X_k$  span the vertical tangent space for the projection  $\pi$  and its orthogonal complement in  $TM_0$  is horizontal for the Riemannian submersion  $\pi \colon M_0 \to M_G$ . Define E to be the subbundle of  $TM|_{M_0}$  whose fibre at M is the span of  $\{X_i, IX_i, JX_i, KX_i : i = 1, \ldots, k\}$  and consider the subbundle P of  $i^*F$  of frames which restrict to frames on E. This is a principal bundle over  $M_0$  with fibre

$$(Sp(n-k)\times Sp(k))\,Sp(1)=(Sp(n-k)\times Sp(k))\times_{\mathbb{Z}_2}Sp(1).$$

We have a natural projection  $\rho: P \to F_G$  to the reduced frame bundle of  $M_G$  obtained by restricting frames to the horizontal directions. Note that  $\rho$  is just the quotient map obtained from the free group action of  $G \times Sp(k)$  on P.

Let  $\hat{\mathcal{U}}(M)$  denote the pseudo-hyperKähler quotient of  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  by the induced Gaction, so  $\hat{\mathcal{U}}(M) = \mu^{-1}(0)/G = \mathcal{U}(M)_0/G$ . This quotient may be performed, since
on  $\mu^{-1}(0)$  each vector field induced by the G-action is horizontal, so the restriction
of the metric to these vector fields is non-degenerate. The discussion in earlier
sections of this chapter shows that  $\mathcal{U}(M)_0 = i^* \mathcal{U}(M)$ .

We first show that  $\mathcal{U}(M_G) = \hat{\mathcal{U}}(M)$  topologically. We have that

$$\pi^* \mathcal{U}(M_G) = \pi^* F_G \times_{Sp(n-k)} Sp(1) \left( \mathbb{H}^* / \mathbb{Z}_2 \right)$$

$$= \left( P \times_{Sp(n-k)} Sp(1) \left( \mathbb{H}^* / \mathbb{Z}_2 \right) \right) / Sp(k)$$

$$= P \times_{\left( Sp(n-k) \times Sp(k) \right)} Sp(1) \left( \mathbb{H}^* / \mathbb{Z}_2 \right),$$

where Sp(k) acts trivially on  $\mathbb{H}^*$ . Let  $\phi$  be the composition

$$P \times (\mathbb{H}^*/\mathbb{Z}_2) \longrightarrow i^*F \times (\mathbb{H}^*/\mathbb{Z}_2) \longrightarrow \mathcal{U}(M)_0,$$

where the first map is inclusion and the second is the quotient by Sp(n) Sp(1). It is sufficient to show that  $\phi$  is the quotient map obtained from the action of  $(Sp(n-k)\times Sp(k)) Sp(1)$  on  $P\times (\mathbb{H}^*/\mathbb{Z}_2)$ , but this is easily checked directly. Thus  $\mathcal{U}(M_G)=\hat{\mathcal{U}}(M)$  topologically.

Now it is sufficient to prove that  $\mathcal{U}(M_G)$  and  $\hat{\mathcal{U}}(M)$  are locally isometric. If U is a sufficiently small open subset of  $M_0$ , then we may choose a double cover  $i^*\tilde{F}|_U$  of  $i^*F|_U$  and this gives a double cover  $\tilde{P}$  of P. Now  $G\times Sp(k)$  acts freely on  $\tilde{P}$ , so we may take the quotient and obtain a double cover  $\tilde{F}_G|_{\pi(U)}$  of  $F_G|_{\pi(U)}$ . Let  $\sigma\colon U\to \tilde{P}$  be a section and identify  $\pi^*TM_G|_U$  with the horizontal space. We may define a map  $\tau_\sigma\colon \pi^*\tilde{F}_G|_U\to \tilde{F}|_U$  by

$$\tau_{\sigma}(u)_{m} = \begin{pmatrix} u_{0} \\ v_{0} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, q \end{pmatrix}.$$

Here  $\sigma_m = \begin{pmatrix} u_0 \\ v_0 \end{pmatrix}$  with  $u_0$  in the double cover of a frame on  $\pi^*TM_G|_m$  and  $u = u_0 \cdot (A,q)$ ,  $A \in Sp(n-k)$ ,  $q \in Sp(1)$  and 1 denotes the identity matrix in Sp(k). If we extend  $\tau_\sigma$  by the identity to  $\mathbb{H}^*$  then, as  $\tau_\sigma$  commutes with the  $Sp(n-k) \times Sp(1)$ -action, we get an induced map  $\tau_\sigma \colon \pi^*H^*(M_G) \to H^*(M_0)$  over U. It may easily be checked that this map is injective. Let  $\hat{}$  over a form denote the version on  $H^*(M_G)$  or  $\tilde{F}_G$ , e.g.  $\hat{\theta}$  is the canonical 1-form of  $\tilde{F}_G$ . From the following commutative diagram

$$\tilde{F}_{G} \stackrel{\pi_{*}}{\longleftarrow} \pi^{*} \tilde{F}_{G} \stackrel{\tau_{\sigma}}{\longrightarrow} i^{*} \tilde{F} \stackrel{i_{*}}{\longrightarrow} \tilde{F}$$

$$\pi_{G} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \pi_{0} \qquad \qquad \downarrow \pi_{1} \qquad \downarrow$$

$$M_{G} \stackrel{\longleftarrow}{\longleftarrow} M_{0} = M_{0} \stackrel{\longrightarrow}{\longrightarrow} M$$

we have

$$\pi^* \hat{\theta}_v(w) = \hat{\theta}_{\pi_* v}(\pi_{**} w) = (\pi_* v)^{-1} (\pi_{G_*} \pi_{**} w) = (\pi_* v)^{-1} (\pi_* \pi_{0*} w)$$

for  $v \in \pi^* \tilde{F}_G|_U$ ,  $w \in T_v(\pi^* F_G)$ . Also, in the notation of the definition of  $\tau_\sigma$ ,

$$\tau_{\sigma}^* i^* \theta_v(w) = \theta_{\tau_{\sigma} v}(\tau_{\sigma_*} w) = \left( \begin{pmatrix} u_0 \\ v_0 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \left( \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, q \right) \right)^{-1} (\pi_{1_*} \tau_{\sigma_*} w)$$
$$= (u_0 \cdot (A, q))^{-1} (\pi_{0_*} w) = v^{-1} (\pi_{0_*} w).$$

But  $\pi_*$  is an isomorphism on each fibre, so  $\pi^*\hat{\theta}_v(w) = \tau_\sigma^*i^*\theta_v(w)$ . Hence,  $\tau_\sigma^*i^*\eta = \pi^*\hat{\eta}$  and  $\tau_\sigma$  is a local isometry.

Taking M to be flat space gives the following: if G acts isometrically and triholomorphically on  $\mathbb{H}^{n+1}$ , then the hyperKähler quotient  $\mu^{-1}(x)/G$  projects to a quaternionic Kähler quotient of  $\mathbb{H}P(n)$ , provided x=0.

## 3.4 Examples

In the first two sections of this chapter we have already seen how the hyperKähler metric on  $\mathcal{U}(\operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^n))$  arises as the hyperKähler quotient of flat space  $\mathbb{H}^n$  by U(1). Galicki (1987) also shows that the space  $\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_4(\mathbb{R}^{4n})$  may be obtained as a quaternionic Kähler quotient of  $\mathbb{H}P(n-1)$  by Sp(1) and so we obtain  $\mathcal{U}(\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_4(\mathbb{R}^{4n}))$  as the hyperKähler quotient of  $\mathbb{H}^n$  by the diagonal action of Sp(1). In the case of  $\mathcal{U}(\operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^n))$ , we obtained hyperKähler deformations of the metric. This procedure does not work for  $\mathcal{U}(\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_4(\mathbb{R}^{4n}))$  because the centre of  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)$  is trivial.

HyperKähler quotients of flat space have been used by Kronheimer (1989a), extending work of Gibbons & Hawking (1978) and Hitchin (1979), to construct and classify hyperKähler ALE 4-manifolds. Here ALE stands for 'asymptotically locally Euclidean.' These manifolds have one end and at infinity it resembles  $\mathbb{R}^4/\Gamma$ , for some finite subgroup  $\Gamma$  of SU(2). Briefly, the construction is as follows. Let V be the regular representation of  $\Gamma$  and define M to be  $((\operatorname{End} V) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{H})^{\Gamma}$ , the space of  $\Gamma$ -invariant elements in  $(\operatorname{End} V) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{H}$ , where  $\Gamma$  acts on  $\mathbb{H}$  in the standard way. Let G be the group of unitary transformations of V which commute with the action of  $\Gamma$ . Then the ALE manifolds are obtained as the hyperKähler quotient of M by G. Note that G is in general a product of unitary groups with non-trivial centre Z, so we obtain a space  $X_{\zeta}$  for each  $\zeta \in \operatorname{Im} \mathbb{H} \otimes \mathfrak{Z}^*$ . The three real components of  $\zeta$  then correspond to the cohomology classes of the symplectic forms on  $X_{\zeta}$ . Note that when  $\zeta = 0$  we obtain the singular space  $\mathbb{C}^2/\Gamma$  with its flat metric.

As a contrasting example of quotients of flat space with an irreducible group action, consider the *n*th-symmetric power  $S^n = S^n V$  of the basic SU(2)-module  $V \cong \mathbb{C}^2$ , where SU(2) acts by left multiplication. If  $\{x,y\}$  is an orthonormal basis for V,

then  $\{x^n, n^{1/2}x^{n-1}y, \binom{n}{2}^{1/2}x^{n-2}y^2, \dots, y^n\}$  is an orthonormal basis for  $S^n$ , where

$$x^{n-1}y = \frac{1}{n}(x \otimes \cdots \otimes x \otimes y + x \otimes \cdots \otimes x \otimes y \otimes x + \cdots + y \otimes x \otimes \cdots \otimes x),$$

etc.

A structure map on a  $\mathbb{C}G$ -module A is a conjugate-linear automorphism  $\mathfrak{j}$  of A such that  $\mathfrak{j}$  commutes with the G-action and either  $\mathfrak{j}^2=1$  or  $\mathfrak{j}^2=-1$ . In the first case  $\mathfrak{j}$  is a real structure map and A is the complexification an  $\mathbb{R}G$ -module. In the second case  $\mathfrak{j}$  is a quaternionic structure map and A is isomorphic to an  $\mathbb{H}G$ -module.

The basic SU(2)-module V has a quaternionic structure map j given by

$$j(ax + by) = -\bar{b}x + \bar{a}y.$$

This gives a structure map  $\mathfrak{j}$  on  $S^n$  which is real if n is even and quaternionic if n is odd.

We restrict our attention to the quaternionic modules  $S^{2m+1} \cong \mathbb{H}^m$ . There is a natural SU(2)-invariant homomorphism  $\Omega \colon S^{2m+1} \otimes S^{2m+1} \to S^0 \cong \mathbb{C}$  which is the restriction of the linear map  $\Omega \colon V^{2m+1} \otimes V^{2m+1} \to S^0$  given on decomposables by

$$\Omega(u \otimes v \otimes \dots, u' \otimes v' \otimes \dots) = (u \wedge u') \otimes (v \wedge v') \otimes \dots$$

If we set

$$\eta_I(X,Y) = \frac{i}{2}(\Omega(X, jY) - \Omega(Y, jX)),$$
  

$$\eta_J(X,Y) = \operatorname{Re} \Omega(X,Y),$$
  

$$\eta_K(X,Y) = \operatorname{Im} \Omega(X,Y),$$

for  $X, Y \in TS^{2m+1} \cong S^{2m+1}$ , then  $\eta_I$ ,  $\eta_J$  and  $\eta_K$  are symplectic forms on  $S^{2m+1}$  corresponding to the complex structures given by left-multiplication by i, j and k

on  $\mathbb{H}^m$ , respectively. Similarly, we have an SU(2)-invariant linear map  $P \colon S^{2m+1} \otimes S^{2m+1} \to S^2$  which is the restriction of the map given on decomposables by

$$P(u \otimes v \otimes w \otimes \dots, u' \otimes v' \otimes w' \otimes \dots) = \frac{1}{2}(u \otimes u' + u' \otimes u) \otimes (v \wedge v') \otimes (w \wedge w') \otimes \dots$$

Let

$$\mu_I(\phi) = imP(\phi, j\phi),$$
  

$$\mu_J(\phi) = m \operatorname{Re} P(\phi, \phi),$$
  

$$\mu_K(\phi) = m \operatorname{Im} P(\phi, \phi),$$

for  $\phi \in S^{2m+1}$ . Now  $\mu = \mu_1 i + \mu_2 j + \mu_3 k$  is a map from  $S^{2m+1}$  to  $S^2 \otimes \operatorname{Im} \mathbb{H}$  and  $S^2 \cong \mathfrak{su}(2)^* \otimes \mathbb{C}$  as SU(2)-modules. To show  $\mu$  is a moment map one checks that each  $\mu_i$  is  $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ -invariant, which is automatic, and that

$$\langle d\mu_i(\phi)(\xi), a \rangle = (\Omega_i)_{\phi}(\xi, a_{\phi}),$$

where  $\phi \in S^{2m+1}$ ,  $\xi \in T_{\phi}S^{2m+1}$  and  $a \in \mathfrak{su}(2)$ ;  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is the natural pairing between  $\mathfrak{su}(2)^*$  and  $\mathfrak{su}(2)$  and  $\phi \to a_{\phi}$  is the vector field on  $S^{2m+1}$  induced by a.

For  $S^1$ ,  $S^3$  and  $S^5$ , 0 is the only zero of  $\mu$  (see Salamon, 1984, for  $S^5$ ). For  $S^7$  (m=3), SU(2) does not act freely on  $\mathbb{H}^4$ , but the action descends to  $\mathbb{HP}(3)$ . The map  $\mu$  then becomes a moment map on  $\mathbb{HP}(3)$  and the corresponding quaternionic Kähler quotient is a finite number of points. Thus the connected components of the hyperKähler quotient  $\mu^{-1}(0) \setminus \{0\}/SU(2)$  are copies of  $\mathbb{H}^*/\mathbb{Z}_2$ . For  $S^9$  (m=4), we have that  $Q = \mu^{-1}(0)/SU(2)$  is an 8-dimensional manifold with singularities and a natural hyperKähler structure at the regular points, which is the associated bundle of some (possibly singular) self-dual Einstein 4-manifold. With respect to the basis

 $\{x^9,x^8y,\ldots,y^9\}$  of  $S^9$ , the equations  $\mu(\phi)=\mu(A,B,C,D,E,F,G,H,L,M)=0$  take the form

$$252AL - 56BH + 21CG - 12DF + 5E^{2} = 0,$$
 
$$2268AM - 196BL + 35CH - 18DG + 2EF = 0,$$
 
$$252BM - 56CL + 21DH - 12EG + 5F^{2} = 0,$$
 
$$252(A\bar{B} + L\bar{M}) + 56(B\bar{C} + H\bar{L}) + 21(C\bar{D} + G\bar{H})$$
 
$$+12(D\bar{E} + F\bar{G}) + 10E\bar{F} = 0,$$
 
$$2268(A\bar{A} - M\bar{M}) + 196(B\bar{B} - L\bar{L}) + 35(C\bar{C} - H\bar{H})$$
 
$$+18(D\bar{D} - G\bar{G}) + 2(E\bar{E} - F\bar{F}) = 0.$$

Notice that these equations are invariant under  $\phi \to \lambda \phi$  for  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ . The problem of the determination of this manifold is essentially a question in classical invariant theory (see Mumford & Fogarty, 1982). In the second half on the nineteenth century the invariants of  $S^n$  for  $n \leq 6$  were classified and Shioda (1967) dealt with the case of the binary octavic  $(S^8)$ . As far as we know the classification in the cases of the binary septimic and nonic have not been completed.

One can try to obtain the exceptional Wolf spaces as quaternionic Kähler quotients of other Wolf spaces. The examples of the quotients of  $\mathbb{HP}(n)$  by U(1) and SU(2) suggest looking at isotropy irreducible spaces of the form  $G/(H \times K)$  where G is the isometry group of the original Wolf space G/L, H is the isometry group of the quaternionic Kähler quotient of G/L by K. We are interested in examples where H is an exceptional group. Using the tables in Wolf (1968) and computing the dimensions, we see that the only possible example of this form arises from  $E_6/(G_2 \times SU(3))$ . Note that SU(3) does not act freely on the Wolf

space  $E_6/(SU(6)Sp(1))$ . This may be seen as follows, using the notation of Buccella et al. (1989). Let  $e_i$ , i = 0, ..., 7 be the standard basis for  $\mathbb{O}$  and let  $e'_i$  be a basis for a second copy  $\mathbb{O}'$  of  $\mathbb{O}$ . Then

$$\mathfrak{su}(6,\mathbb{C}) = \Lambda^2 \mathbb{C}^3 \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2)_S \oplus (S_0^2 \mathbb{C}^3 \oplus \Lambda^2 \mathbb{C}^3 \otimes e_7') \otimes e_q \oplus (S_0^2 \mathbb{C}^3 \otimes e_7') \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{e}_6^{\mathbb{C}}$$
$$\mathfrak{e}_6^{\mathbb{C}} = \Lambda^2 \mathbb{C}^3 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_2^{\mathbb{C}} \oplus (S_0^2 \mathbb{C}^3 \otimes e_i) \oplus (\Lambda^2 \mathbb{C}^3 \otimes e_7' \otimes e_i) \oplus (S_0^2 \mathbb{C}^3 \otimes e_7'),$$

where i runs from 1 to 7 and q takes the values 3, 6 and 7. Now  $\mathfrak{su}(3,\mathbb{C}) = \Lambda^2\mathbb{C}^3 \oplus S_0^2\mathbb{C}^3 \otimes e_7'$ , which is contained in  $\mathfrak{su}(6,\mathbb{C})$ . However, this does not imply that the quaternionic Kähler quotient does not exist, since it is only necessary that SU(3) acts freely on the zero set of the moment map. The group  $G_2$  commutes with SU(3) and so acts on the quaternionic Kähler quotient; this leads us to conjecture that the quaternionic Kähler quotient of  $E_6/(SU(6)SU(2))$  by SU(3) is the space  $G_2/SO(4)$ .

The growing importance of hyperKähler quotients arises from their use in an infinite-dimensional setting, first discovered by Atiyah & Bott (1982). If P is a principal G-bundle over a symplectic manifold  $(M^{2m}, \omega)$ , for some compact semi-simple group G, then the space  $\mathcal{A}$  of G-connections may be identified with

$$\mathcal{A}=\Omega^1(\mathfrak{g}_P),$$

where  $\mathfrak{g}_P = P \times_G \mathfrak{g}$  is the associated bundle. We obtain a symplectic structure on  $\mathcal{A}$  via  $(A, B) = \int_M \operatorname{Tr}(A \wedge B) \wedge \omega^{m-1}$  for  $A, B \in \mathcal{A}$ . The group  $\mathcal{G} = \operatorname{Aut} P$  acts on  $\mathcal{A}$  preserving this symplectic structure. The moment map for this action maybe identified with  $\mu(A) = F_A \wedge \omega^{m-1}$ , where  $F_A = dA + \frac{1}{2}[A, A]$  is the curvature of the

connection A. If M is a hyperKähler 4-manifold, the symplectic forms span  $\Lambda^2_+ T^*M$  and we obtain a formal hyperKähler quotient of  $\mathcal{A}$  by  $\mathcal{G}$ 

$$\frac{\mu^{-1}(0)}{\mathcal{G}} = \frac{\{A : F_A \in \Omega^2_+(\mathfrak{g}_P)\}}{\mathcal{G}},$$

which is the moduli space of self-dual solutions of the Yang-Mills equations. When M is  $\mathbb{R}^4$ , this space may also be obtained as a *finite*-dimensional hyperKähler quotient via the ADHM construction (Atiyah et al., 1978b) which describes the moduli space in terms of matrix algebras. The remark at the end of Section 3.3 shows that these moduli spaces are associated to quaternionic Kähler manifolds.

#### 3.5 Quaternionic Kähler Metrics

Recall that the hyperKähler metric constructed on the associated bundle  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  of a quaternionic Kähler manifold M admits a homothetic  $\mathbb{H}^*$ -action. The subgroup Sp(1) of  $\mathbb{H}^*$  acts isometrically, but it permutes the complex structures on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ , so the quotient constructions earlier in this chapter do not apply to this group action. However, if we fix one complex structure I, then there is a subgroup  $U(1) \leq Sp(1)$  which preserves I and we have a moment map for this circle action. Upto a constant, this is the function  $r^2$  and fibrewise the level sets correspond to the spheres in  $\mathbb{H}$ . These are not only U(1)-invariant, but they are preserved by the Sp(1)-action. The Sp(1)-quotient of a level set is just the original quaternionic manifold M.

This discussion generalises as follows.

**Theorem 3.5.1.** Suppose N is a hyperKähler manifold which admits an isometric Sp(1)-action such that

- i) there is a finite subgroup  $\Gamma$  of Sp(1) such that  $Sp(1)/\Gamma$  acts freely on N,
- ii) Sp(1) induces a transitive action on the 2-sphere of complex structures on N, and
- iii) if  $X_I$  is the vector field generated by the circle subgroup of Sp(1) preserving I, then the (real) linear span of  $IX_I$  in TN is independent of the choice of complex structure I.

Choose a subgroup  $U(1) \leq Sp(1)$  preserving a complex structure I. Let  $\mu \colon N \to \mathbb{R}$  be a moment map for this U(1) with respect to the Kähler structure defined by I, then  $\mu^{-1}(x)$  is Sp(1)-invariant and  $\mu^{-1}(x)/Sp(1)$  is a quaternionic Kähler manifold.

PROOF. Fix a complex structure I preserved by a subgroup  $U(1) \leq Sp(1)$  and let  $\omega_I$  denote the Kähler form associated to I. Let X be the vector field generated by the U(1)-action and let Y be a vector field generated by the Sp(1)-action. Then Y is orthogonal to IX, since Y arises from a circle group preserving a complex structure A and Y is orthogonal to AY = IX. Now,

$$Y \, \lrcorner d\mu = Y \, \lrcorner (X \, \lrcorner \omega_I) = -g(Y, IX) = 0,$$

so  $\mu$  is Sp(1)-invariant.

We now give two different proofs that the quotient  $\mu^{-1}(x)/Sp(1)$  is quaternionic Kähler. The first shows that we have a closed quaternionic 4-form on the quotient and then uses Theorem 1.2.2 to deduce that it is quaternionic Kähler. This is only valid if the quotient manifold has dimension at least 12. The second proof applies in all dimensions and is more in the spirit of Galicki & Lawson's proof (1988) of the quaternionic Kähler quotient construction.

Let J and K be complex structures such that IJ = K = -JI and let  $\omega_J$ ,  $\omega_K$  be the corresponding Kähler forms. Define a 4-form by  $\Omega = \omega_I \wedge \omega_I + \omega_J \wedge \omega_J + \omega_K \wedge \omega_K$ . Let  $i : \mu^{-1}(x) \hookrightarrow N$  and  $\pi : \mu^{-1}(x) \to \mu^{-1}(x)/Sp(1)$  be the inclusion and projection respectively. If n is a zero of  $\mu$ , then we can write  $T_nN = \mathcal{V}_n \oplus \mathcal{H}_n$  where  $\mathcal{V}$  is the quaternionic span of X and  $\mathcal{H}$  is the orthogonal complement. Note that this splitting is quaternionic. The hypotheses of the theorem imply that  $\mathcal{V}$  contains all vectors tangent to the Sp(1)-action and that  $\mathcal{H}$  is an Sp(1)-invariant distribution of horizontals for the projection  $\pi$ . The restriction  $i^*\Omega$  of  $\Omega$  vanishes on  $\mathcal{V}$  and is Sp(1)-invariant, so  $i^*\Omega$  is the pull-back of a 4-form  $\Omega'$  on the quotient. Since  $\mathcal{H}$  is quaternionic and  $\pi^*\Omega'$  is just the restriction of  $\Omega$  on  $\mathcal{H}$ , we see that  $\Omega'$  is of the correct algebraic type to define a quaternionic structure on the quotient. Now  $i^*\Omega = \pi^*\Omega'$  and  $\pi^*$  is injective, so  $d\Omega = 0$  implies that  $\Omega'$  is closed. This concludes the proof if the quotient is at least 12-dimensional.

For the second proof we need to work with the covariant derivative  $\nabla'$  on the quotient. As above, for  $n \in \mu^{-1}(x)$  split  $T_nN$  as  $\mathcal{V}_n \oplus \mathcal{H}_n$ , write i and  $\pi$  for the inclusion and projection maps, and let  $\cdot^{\mathcal{H}}$  denote the horizontal component of a tangent vector. Then if  $Z \in \mathcal{H}_n$  is the pull-back of a tangent vector Z on the quotient, we have

$$\nabla' Z = \pi_*((\nabla Z)^{\mathcal{H}}),$$

where  $\nabla$  is the Riemannian connection on N. Note that if  $\omega_A$  is one of the Kähler forms on N, then if  $Z \in \mathcal{H}$  and Y is any tangent vector, we have  $\omega_A(Y,Z) = \omega_A(Y^{\mathcal{H}},Z)$ . Choosing a local section s of  $\pi$  we obtain a local 2-form  $s^*\omega_A$  on the quotient and there we obtain a rank 3 vector bundle  $\mathcal{G}$  generated by all such local 2-forms. Except in 4-dimensions, it is sufficient to show that this bundle is preserved by  $\nabla'$ . If  $\omega_A$  is such a local 2-form, then  $\pi^*\omega_A = (f_I\omega_I + f_J\omega_J + f_K\omega_K)^{\mathcal{H}}$  for some

functions  $f_I$ ,  $f_J$ ,  $f_K$ . Now

$$\pi^* \nabla' \omega_A = (\nabla ((\pi^* \omega_A)^{\mathcal{H}}))^{\mathcal{H}}$$
$$= (\nabla (f_I \omega_I + f_J \omega_J + f_K \omega_K)^{\mathcal{H}})^{\mathcal{H}}$$
$$= (df_I \otimes \omega_I + df_J \otimes \omega_J + df_K \otimes \omega_K)^{\mathcal{H}},$$

since by the remark above,  $(\nabla(\omega_I)^{\mathcal{H}})^{\mathcal{H}} = (\nabla\omega_I)^{\mathcal{H}} = 0$ . Thus  $\nabla'\omega_A$  is in  $\mathcal{G}$ , as required.

In 4-dimensions we need to calculate the curvature. If s is a local section, then  $s^*\omega_I$  defines a complex structure if and only if it is a holomorphic section with respect to I. As in the integrability proof in the previous chapter, this implies that the curvature tensor lies in the complement of  $\Lambda^{0,2}\otimes\Lambda^{0,2}$ . This holds for each complex structure on N and forces the curvature to be self-dual. The Einstein condition follows from an immersion computation and the formulae of O'Neill (1966) applied to the Riemannian submersion  $\mu^{-1}(x) \to \mu^{-1}(x)/Sp(1)$ .

The above theorem generalises to the pseudo-Riemannian category in the same way as we remarked that the hyperKäher quotient construction could be generalised.

The hypotheses on the group action in the above theorem, imply that the action is essentially determined by a U(1)-action and the quaternionic structure of N. This is a quaternionic analogue of having a complexified U(1)-action, which is what is used in the ordinary Kähler quotient construction. Note that an Sp(1)-action also determines much of the hyperKähler structure of N.

**Lemma 3.5.2.** Let (N,g) be a Riemannian manifold with symplectic form  $\omega$ . Suppose N admits an isometric SU(2)-action such that the distribution  $\mathcal{A}$  spanned by  $SU(2) \cdot I$  is 3-dimensional and the orthogonal complement  $I^{\perp}$  in  $\mathcal{A}$  is preserved by the almost complex structure I defined by  $\omega$  and g. Then N is locally hyperKähler.

PROOF. Locally there is a  $g \in SU(2)$  such that  $g^*\omega$  is orthogonal to  $\omega$ . Define  $\omega_I$  to be  $\omega$  and put  $\omega_J = g^*\omega$ . Define J by  $g(X, JY) = \omega_J(X, Y)$  for tangent vectors X and Y. Then, the I-invariance of the decomposition of  $\mathcal{A}$  implies that  $IJ \in SU(2) \cdot I$  and hence that  $(IJ)^2 = -1$ , so IJ = -JI. Define K to be IJ and define  $\omega_K$  in the same way as  $\omega_J$ . Then  $\omega_I$ ,  $\omega_J$  and  $\omega_K$  are closed 2-forms and so define a local hyperKähler structure.

The product of two quaternionic Kähler manifolds need not be quaternionic, but the above theorem suggests a type of quaternionic join construction. Let  $M_1$ ,  $M_2$  be quaternionic Kähler manifolds with positive scalar curvature. Consider the bundles  $\mathcal{U}(M_1)$ ,  $\mathcal{U}(M_2)$  with their hyperKähler metrics. The product  $\mathcal{U}(M_1) \times \mathcal{U}(M_2)$  is hyperKähler and  $\mathbb{H}^*$  acts diagonally. The Sp(1)-action so defined satisfies the hypotheses of the theorem and we obtain a quaternionic Kähler manifold  $\mathcal{J}(M_1, M_2)$  of dimension dim  $M_1$  + dim  $M_2$  + 4. Topologically this is the  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -quotient of the quaternionic projectivisation of the bundle which is locally  $\pi_1^*H(M_1) \oplus \pi_2^*H(M_2) \to M_1 \times M_2$ , where  $\pi_i$  is projection onto the *i*th-factor. Thus if  $M_2$  is a point \*,  $\mathcal{J}(M_1, *)$  is topologically  $\mathcal{U}(M_1)$ .

**Proposition 3.5.3.** Let M be a quaternionic Kähler manifold with positive scalar curvature. The quaternionic Kähler metric on  $\mathcal{J}(M,*)$  agrees with the metric  $g_1$  constructed on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  in Chapter 2.

PROOF. First note that the join of two points  $\mathcal{J}(*,*)$  is the  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -quotient of  $\mathbb{HP}(1)$  with two points removed with its standard symmetric metric  $g^{\mathbb{HP}(1)}$ . In inhomogeneous coordinates,

$$g^{\mathbb{HP}(1)} = \operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{d\bar{z} \otimes dz}{1 + \|z\|^2} - \frac{\bar{z}dz \otimes d\bar{z}z}{(1 + \|z\|^2)^2}\right) = \operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{d\bar{z} \otimes dz}{(1 + \|z\|^2)^2}\right).$$

Let  $g^M$  denote the metric on M, which we will assume to be normalised so that the constant c appearing in the definition of  $g_1$  is 1. Let  $g_{(i)}^{\mathbb{H}}$  denote various copies of the standard flat metric on  $\mathbb{H}$ . Then the metric on  $\mathcal{J}(M,*)$  is

$$\frac{1}{r^2} \left( r_1^2 {\pi^H}^* g^M + g_{(1)}^{\mathbb{H}} + g_{(2)}^{\mathbb{H}} \right)^{\mathcal{H}},$$

where  $r^2 = r_1^2 + r_2^2$ ;  $r_1^2$ ,  $r_2^2$  are the radius functions on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  and  $\mathcal{U}(*)$  respectively; and  $\mathcal{H}$  denotes projection to an appropriate horizontal subspace. Now  $\pi^{H^*}g^M$  is horizontal and  $\frac{1}{r^2}\left(g_{(1)}^{\mathbb{H}} + g_{(2)}^{\mathbb{H}}\right)^{\mathcal{H}}$  is the metric on  $\mathcal{J}(*,*)$ . Fix  $r_2^2 = 1$  and  $r_1^2 = ||z||^2$ , then the metric on  $\mathcal{J}(M,*)$  is

$$\frac{\|z\|^2}{1+\|z\|^2}\pi^{H^*}g^M+\frac{1}{(1+\|z\|^2)^2}g^{\mathbb{H}},$$

which is one of the  $g_1$  metrics.

If M is  $\mathbb{HP}(n)$  then  $\mathcal{J}(M,*)$  is the quotient of  $\mathbb{H}^{n+2}$  by  $\mathbb{H}^*$  and we just obtain the standard quaternionic Kähler metric on an open subset of  $\mathbb{HP}(n+1)$ . Thus, the quaternionic Kähler metrics on  $\mathcal{U}(\mathbb{HP}(n))$  arise from the standard inclusion  $\mathbb{H}^{n+1} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{HP}(n+1)$ . Other examples of joins of Wolf spaces will be discussed in the next chapter. In particular, we will see that the join of  $\mathbb{CP}(2)$  with a point is not locally symmetric.

### 3.6 Potentials

Let N be a hyperKähler manifold admitting a circle action preserving I and permuting J and K. Hitchin et al. (1987) showed that if  $\mu$  is the moment associated to the circle action and the Kähler structure I, then  $\mu$  is a Kähler potential for J and for K. This raises the possibility of N admitting a Kähler potential for all the complex structures simultaneously.

**Definition 3.6.1.** If N is a hyperKähler manifold, a function  $\mu \colon N \to \mathbb{R}$  is a hyperKähler potential if for each complex structure A compatible with the hyperKähler structure of N,  $\mu$  satisfies

$$i\partial_A\bar{\partial}_A\mu=\omega_A,$$

where  $\omega_A$  is the Kähler form of A.

The result quoted above suggests that the existence of a hyperKähler potential may be linked with the existence of certain group actions.

**Proposition 3.6.2.** Suppose N is a hyperKähler manifold. If N has a hyperKähler potential then N admits a local Sp(1)-action which permutes the complex structures and, in the notation of the previous section, is such that the vector field  $IX_I$  is independent of I.

Conversely, if N admits such an Sp(1)-action, then N has a hyperKähler potential.

PROOF. Let  $\mu$  be a hyperKähler potential on N. For a complex structure I compatible with the hyperKähler structure of N, define a vector field  $X_I$  by  $d\mu = X_I \sqcup \omega_I = -(IX_I) \sqcup g$ , where g is the metric on N. Thus the vector field  $X = IX_I$  is independent of the choice of complex structure I. It is now sufficient to show that the bracket [IX, JX] a non-zero multiple of KX. Firstly, if A and B are vector fields then

$$0 = -d^{2}\mu(A, B) = d(X \rfloor g)(A, B) = Ag(X, B) - Bg(X, A) - g(X, [A, B]).$$

Taking A = IX and B = JX yields g(X, [IX, JX]) = 0, so [IX, JX] is orthogonal to X. If C is also a vector field then

$$0 = d\omega_I(A, B, C) = A\omega_I(B, C) + B\omega_I(C, A) + C\omega_I(A, B)$$
$$-\omega_I(A, [B, C]) - \omega_I(B, [C, A]) - \omega_I(C, [A, B]).$$

Fix a point n of N and let  $Y \in T_nN$  be orthogonal to the quaternionic span of X. Extend Y locally so that it commutes with IX. Take A = Y, B = IX and C = JX in the above formula. This gives

$$0 = g(Y, I[IX, JX]) + g(X, [JX, Y]) + g(JX, I[Y, IX]) = g(Y, I[IX, JX]),$$

so [IX, JX] is in the span of IX, JX and KX. Now  $\mu$  is a Kähler potential for I, so  $d(Id\mu) = \omega_I$  for each I. Thus  $L_{IX}\omega_J = d((KX) \rfloor g) = d(K(-X \rfloor g)) = d(Kd\mu) = \omega_K$  and similarly for cyclic permutations of I, J and K. Also,  $L_{IX}\omega_I = d(X \rfloor g) = d^2\mu = 0$ . Thus

$$L_{[IX,JX]}\omega_I = [L_{IX}, L_{JX}]\omega_I$$

$$= (L_{IX}L_{JX} - L_{JX}L_{IX})\omega_I$$

$$= -L_{IX}\omega_K - 0$$

$$= \omega_J,$$

showing that [IX, JX] is non-zero and that the Sp(1)-action, resulting from integration, permutes the complex structures.

Conversely, if N admits a permuting Sp(1)-action with  $IX_I$  fixed, let  $\mu_I$  be the moment map associated to I, then  $d\mu_I = X_I \lrcorner \omega_I = -(IX_I) \lrcorner g$ . Hitchin et al. (1987) show that  $\mu_I$  is a Kähler potential for J and K. Now let  $\mu_J$  be the moment map associated to J. Then since  $JX_J$  is independent of J, we have  $d\mu_J = -(JX_J) \lrcorner g = d\mu_I$ . Now  $\mu_J$  is a Kähler potential for I, so applying  $\partial_I$  to this equation shows that  $i\partial_I d\mu_I = \omega_I$  and that  $\mu_I$  is a hyperKähler potential.

Note that on the associated bundle of a quaternionic Kähler manifold the hyperKähler potential is the function  $r^2$ . The hyperKähler potential determines the metric as follows. The first part of the proposition is well-known.

**Proposition 3.6.3.** 1) If N is a Kähler manifold with metric g, Riemannian connection  $\nabla$ , complex structure I and Kähler form  $\omega_I$ , then for a function  $\mu$  on N

$$\frac{1}{2}(\nabla^2_{X,Y}\mu + \nabla^2_{IX,IY}\mu) = g(X,Y) \qquad \text{for all } X,\,Y$$

if and only if

$$i\partial_I \bar{\partial}_I \mu = \omega_I.$$

2) If N is a hyperKähler manifold, then for a function  $\mu$ 

$$\nabla^2 \mu = g$$
 if and only if  $\mu$  is a hyperKähler potential.

PROOF. 1) Let X, Y be two vector fields. Now  $\nabla$  is torsion-free and I is Kähler, so

$$\begin{aligned} 2(i\partial_I \bar{\partial}_I \mu)(X,Y) &= -id(d\mu + iId\mu)(X,Y) \\ &= d(Id\mu)(X,Y) \\ &= X(Id\mu)(Y) - Y(Id\mu)(X) - Id\mu[X,Y] \\ &= X((IY)\mu) - Y((IX)\mu) - (I[X,Y])\mu \\ &= X((IY)\mu) - Y((IX)\mu) - I(\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X)\mu \\ &= X((IY)\mu) - \nabla_X (IY)\mu - Y((IX)\mu) + \nabla_Y (IX)\mu \\ &= \nabla_{X,IY}^2 \mu - \nabla_{Y,IX}^2 \mu \end{aligned}$$

and the result follows.

2) This follows from part (1) by fairly general principles. Let  $h(X,Y) = \nabla_{X,Y}^2 \mu$ ; we need only show that g = h if and only if  $g(X,Y) = \frac{1}{2}(h(X,Y) + h(IX,IY))$  for all vector fields X, Y and each compatible complex structure I. If g = h then this is just the fact that I preserves the metric. If the second condition holds then h(IX,IY) = h(JX,JY). Put X' = IX, Y' = IY and suppose IJ = K = -JI, then h(X',Y') = h(KX',KY'), as required.

**Remark.** If N is a hyperKähler manifold with hyperKähler potential  $\mu$ , then the vector field X dual to  $d\mu$  is an infinitesimal quaternionic transformation. In the notation of Proposition 3.6.2, X is the vector field  $IX_I$ , so we have a local  $\mathbb{H}^*$ -action. The system of equations

$$\nabla d\mu = \lambda q$$
.

for some constant  $\lambda$ , is over determined and Weitzenböck techniques show that the  $\mathbb{H}^*$ -orbits are flat and totally geodesic.

Pursuing an idea of Lebrun (1990), suppose M is a quaternionic Kähler manifold with Levi-Civita connection  $\nabla$  and that M admits a hyperKähler metric in the same quaternionic class. The hyperKähler metric trivialises the bundle H and so gives a solution h of the twistor equation. Quaternionic invariance of this equation, implies that  $e = \nabla h$  is a section of E. From e and h one can construct infinitesimal vector fields for a local  $\mathbb{H}^*$ -action. We expect such metrics to be locally isometric to an associated bundle  $\mathcal{U}(M')$  for some quaternionic Kähler manifold M'. If M is four-dimensional, the above discussion shows that it is flat.

The classification of hyperKähler 4-manifolds admitting a permuting Sp(1)action was carried out by Gibbons & Pope (1979) and completed by Atiyah &
Hitchin (1988). The metrics obtained (upto finite quotients) are the flat metric
on  $\mathbb{H}$ , the TAUB-NUT metric and the hyperKähler metric on the moduli space of
charge 2 monopoles. Of these, the only one that can possess a hyperKähler potential
is the flat metric.

Maciocia (1989) explicitly constructs the hyperKähler potential for the moduli space  $\mathcal{M}_{k,r}$  of framed SU(r)-instantons of charge k over  $\mathbb{R}^4$ . If A is such a connection, then the hyperKähler potential is given by the 'second moment'

$$m_2(a) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} ||x||^2 \operatorname{Tr} F_A^2,$$

where  $F_A$  is the curvature of A.

Corollary 3.6.4. The manifold  $m_2^{-1}(x)/SO(3) \subset \mathcal{M}_{k,r}/SO(3)$ , for any non-degenerate point  $x \in \text{Im } m_2$ , is quaternionic Kähler.

# Chapter 4 ISOMETRY GROUPS AND QUATERNIONIC GEOMETRY

In this chapter we will be concerned with quaternionic Kähler manifolds of positive scalar curvature which admit sufficiently large isometry groups. We start by showing that the twistor spaces of these manifolds may be mapped into the projectivised nilpotent variety of the complexified isometry group. We also obtain a map of the quaternionic Kähler manifold into the Grassmannian of oriented three-planes in the Lie algebra of the isometry group. This leads us to study the nilpotent variety and the Grassmannian from the point of view of quaternionic geometry.

In the second section we try to see as much of the twistor space structure of the projectivised nilpotent orbits as possible and obtain quaternionic manifolds via the inverse twistor construction. The following section studies the same situation from the point of view of the nilpotent orbits themselves using the gradient flows of certain functionals. The nilpotent orbits are already known to be hyperKähler with an action of  $\mathbb{H}^*$  permuting the complex structures (Kronheimer, 1988) and in Section 3 we see that the  $\mathbb{H}^*$ -quotient is a quaternionic Kähler manifold and identify points of this manifold with elements of the Grassmannian encountered in the first section. The chapter ends with various examples of quaternionic Kähler manifolds derived from nilpotent orbits.

## 4.1 Embeddings of Twistor Spaces

Let M be a quaternionic Kähler manifold with positive scalar curvature and let G be the identity component of its isometry group. For simplicity, we will assume that G is compact and semi-simple. Compactness holds if, for example, M is complete, since the positivity of the scalar curvature now implies that M is compact (Myers, 1935). We have already described the twistor space Z of M as the complex projectivisation of either  $\mathcal{U}(M)$  or, locally, H. However, since the vector bundle  $\mathcal{G}$  generated by local compatible almost complex structures on M is just the symmetric product  $S^2H$  we see that Z is also the sphere bundle of  $\mathcal{G}$ . Explicitly, a unit vector  $x \in H$  is identified with the symmetric product  $ix \vee jx \in S^2H$ . The Kähler structure on Z now arises as a combination of the natural structure on the fibres  $S^2 \cong \mathbb{C}P(1)$  and the almost complex structure on  $T_xM$  defined by the point of  $Z = S(\mathcal{G})$ .

The isometry group G lifts to Z as a real form of the identity component of the group  $G^{\mathbb{C}}$  of holomorphic automorphisms of the contact structure on Z (see Nitta & Takeuchi, 1987).

**Theorem 4.1.1.** (Salamon, 1982) If M is a 4n-dimensional pseudo-quaternionic Kähler manifold with non-zero scalar curvature and Z is the twistor space, then

- i) the fibres of Z are complex projective lines with normal bundle  $\mathbb{C}^{2n} \otimes \mathcal{O}(1)$ ,
- ii) Z admits a real structure, that is, a fixed-point free, antiholomorphic involution,
- iii) Z has a complex contact structure, the contact line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  is positive and the contact distribution is transverse to the fibres, that is, the contact form  $\theta \in \Omega^1(\mathcal{L})$  gives an isomorphism  $T \mathbb{CP}(1) \cong \mathcal{L}|_{\mathbb{CP}(1)}$ ,

iv) the space of holomorphic sections  $H^0(\mathcal{L})$  is isomorphic to the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$ .

For part (iv), see also Poon & Salamon (1989) and Kobayashi (1972).

If Z is compact then Kodaira's Theorem (see Griffiths & Harris, 1978) shows that for sufficiently large r the (meromorphic) map

$$\Phi^{(r)}\colon Z\to \mathbb{P}(H^0(\mathcal{L}^r)^*)$$

induced by evaluation, is a holomorphic embedding. Let  $\Phi = \Phi^{(1)}$  be the meromorphic map

$$\Phi \colon Z \to \mathbb{P}(H^0(\mathcal{L})^*) \cong \mathbb{P}(\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}^*}).$$

From Chapter 3, we see that this map is the complex moment map associated to the action of G on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ , which should be regarded as the symplectification of Z. So  $\Phi$  is associated to both the algebraic geometry and the group theory of Z. A base point of  $\Phi$  is a pole of  $\Phi$ , that is, a point at which all holomorphic sections of  $\mathcal{L}$  vanish.

**Proposition 4.1.2.** Suppose  $\Phi$  has no base points and that the action of G on M is full in the sense that there is no open set in M on which G fixes a compatible complex structure. Then the elements of  $\Phi(Z)$  are nilpotent.

PROOF. Let z be a point of Z, identify  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  and  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}^*}$  via an invariant inner product, and choose a representative  $e \in \mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $\Phi(z) = [e]$ . We claim that e is nilpotent if for every G-invariant polynomial p we have p(e) = 0. To see this choose an embedding of  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  in  $\mathfrak{gl}(m,\mathbb{C})$  (this exists since G is compact). Then put e in Jordan form and consider the polynomials  $p_n(x) = \text{Tr}(x^n)$ . These are invariant

polynomials for  $GL(m, \mathbb{C})$  and hence for G, so  $Tr(e^n) = 0$  for all n and all symmetric polynomials in the eigenvalues of e vanish. Hence zero is the only eigenvalue of e and e is nilpotent.

Suppose there is a non-trivial, G-invariant polynomial  $p \in S^k H^0(\mathcal{L}) \cong S^k \mathfrak{g}$  of least degree such that  $p(e) \neq 0$ . Let  $s_k$  be the map

$$s_k \colon S^k H^0(\mathcal{L}) \to H^0(\mathcal{L}^k).$$

Now  $p(e) = (s_k p)(e^{\otimes k})$  is non-zero, so we have a G-invariant section  $\sigma = s_k p$  of  $H^0(\mathcal{L}^k)$ . Restricting to a fibre  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$  of  $Z \to M$  we have that  $\sigma|_{\mathbb{C}P(1)}$  is a holomorphic section of  $\mathcal{L}^k|_{\mathbb{C}P(1)} = \mathcal{O}(2k)$ , so  $\sigma$  must have a zero on  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$ . Furthermore, for a generic  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$  this zero must have multiplicity one, otherwise there is an invariant polynomial of smaller degree. Using the action of G, we now obtain a holomorphic, invariant section of E on an open set, which is not possible by our fullness hypothesis. So  $\sigma$  is identically zero and E0 and E1. Thus E2 is a zero of each E2-invariant polynomial and so must be nilpotent.

Since G acts on Z preserving the Kähler structure we have a real moment map  $\mu \colon Z \to \mathfrak{g}^*$ . We may extend this linearly to a map  $\mathcal{G} \to \mathfrak{g}^*$ ; this is just the map  $A \mapsto (\nabla A)^{\mathfrak{sp}}$  (1) discussed in Chapter 3, because the fibre of  $\mathcal{G}$  is isomorphic to  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)$ . So for each point x in M we have a map  $\Psi \colon \mathcal{G}_x \cong \mathfrak{sp}(1) \to \mathfrak{g}$ . In Chapter 2 we saw that for a Wolf space this map is a homomorphism, but in general this map does not preserve the Lie algebra structure. The maps  $\Phi$  and  $\Psi$  are related as follows: let  $e_1$  be a unit vector in  $\mathcal{G}_x$  and extend to an oriented, orthonormal basis  $e_1, e_2, e_3$ , then  $\Phi(e_1) = [\Psi(e_2) + i\Psi(e_3)] \in \mathbb{P}(\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}})$ . Now  $e_2 + ie_3$  is isotropic in  $\mathcal{G}_x \otimes \mathbb{C}$ , so the above proposition shows that  $V = \Psi(\mathcal{G}_x)$  is such that the image of the isotropic elements, under the complex linear extension of  $\Psi$ , are nilpotent. Let  $\mathcal{F}$  denote the set of all oriented 3-planes  $V \in \widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}_3(\mathfrak{g})$  whose isotropic elements are nilpotent.

**Proposition 4.1.3.** If the action of G is full and  $\Phi$  has no base points, then  $\Psi(\mathcal{G}_x)$  lies in the variety  $\mathcal{F}$ .

PROOF. It only remains to show that  $\Psi(\mathcal{G}_x)$  is three-dimensional. The hypothesis that  $\Phi$  has no base points implies that  $\Psi(\mathcal{G}_x)$  is at least one-dimensional. If the image is not three-dimensional, then there exist orthogonal unit vectors  $e_1$  and  $e_2$  in  $\mathcal{G}_x$  with  $\Psi(e_1) \neq 0$  and  $\Psi(e_2) \in \langle \Psi(e_1) \rangle$ . Thus  $\Psi(e_1 \pm ie_2)$  are complex multiples of  $\Psi(e_1) \in \mathfrak{g}$ . It is now sufficient to show that  $\mathfrak{g}$  contains no (non-zero) nilpotent elements.

As above, we may assume that G is a subgroup of SU(n) for some n. Now if  $A \in \mathfrak{su}(n)$  is nilpotent, we have  $\operatorname{Tr} A^m = 0$ , for all m. But  $A = -\bar{A}^t$ , so  $0 = \operatorname{Tr} A^2 = -\operatorname{Tr} A\bar{A}^t = -\sum_{i,j} |a_{ij}|^2$  and A is identically zero.

Thus,  $\mathcal{F} \subset \widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}_3(\mathfrak{g})$  and the nilpotent variety in  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  contain local models for M and  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ , respectively. In the next two sections we will study the quaternionic geometry of these two varieties.

To give an example of  $\mathcal{F}$ , consider the case where  $\mathfrak{g}$  is  $\mathfrak{so}(4) = \mathfrak{so}(3) \oplus \mathfrak{so}(3)$ . Let  $e_1, e_2, e_3, f_1, f_2, f_3$  be oriented orthogonal bases for each of the  $\mathfrak{so}(3)$ -factors such that

$$[e_1, e_2] = -2e_3,$$
  $[f_1, f_2] = -2f_3,$  etc.

The elements of  $\mathcal{F}$  are now the three planes  $\langle \lambda e_1 + \mu f_1, \lambda e_2 + \mu f_2, \lambda e_3 + \mu f_3 \rangle$ , for  $(\lambda, \mu) = (\cos \theta, \sin \theta) \in S^1$ , together with those obtained after applying an element of SO(3) to either the  $e_i$  or the  $f_i$ . These three planes are images of homomorphisms only if  $\lambda/\mu$  is 0, 1 or  $\infty$ . The elements of  $\mathcal{F}$  with  $\lambda/\mu \in (0, \infty)$  and  $\lambda > 0$  are in bijective correspondence with  $S^4/\mathbb{Z}_2$  with two points removed.

## 4.2 Projective Nilpotent Orbits

From the previous section one would hope to be able to show that projective nilpotent orbits are twistor spaces of quaternionic Kähler manifolds. We saw in Chapter 2 that this was indeed the case for the highest root orbit, since this is the associated bundle of the Wolf space with isometry group G.

Let  $\mathcal{O}$  be a nilpotent orbit of a complex semi-simple Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$ . There is a contact structure on  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$  derived form the complex symplectic structure  $\omega$  of  $\mathcal{O}$  described by Kirillov, Kostant & Souriau (Kirillov, 1972). If X is an element of  $\mathcal{O}$ , then  $\omega([X,A],[X,B])=\langle X,[A,B]\rangle$ . The contact form  $\theta$  is the contraction of  $\omega$  with the vector field generating the  $\mathbb{R}$ -action, so  $\theta([X,A])=\omega([X,-H],[X,A])=-\langle X,[H,A]\rangle=\langle [X,H],A\rangle=-2\langle X,A\rangle$ . Let  $\sigma$  be the real structure on  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  whose fixed point set is  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Then  $\sigma^*\theta=\bar{\theta}$ , so the natural real structure  $\sigma$  on  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$  respects the contact structure.

Given  $X \in \mathcal{O}$ , the Jacobson-Morosov Theorem (Carter, 1985, Kostant, 1959) states that there are elements Y and H of  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  such that  $\langle X, Y, H \rangle$  is an  $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{C})$ -triplet, that is X, Y and H satisfy

$$[X, Y] = H,$$
  $[H, X] = 2X$  and  $[H, Y] = -2Y.$ 

This shows that  $\mathbb{R}$  acts on  $\mathcal{O}$  via scaling and that we have a Lie algebra homomorphism  $\rho \colon \mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{C}) \to \mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  such that  $\rho \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = X$ , given by

$$\rho \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = X, \qquad \rho \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = Y \text{ and } \rho \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} = H.$$

Without loss of generality,  $\rho$  is the complexification of a real homomorphism  $\mathfrak{su}(2) \to \mathfrak{g}$ , where  $\mathfrak{g}$  is the Lie algebra of a compact real form G of  $G^{\mathbb{C}}$  (see Kronheimer, 1988).

Let  $x \in \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$  be the point defined by X and let  $\mathcal{N}$  be the set of nilpotent elements in  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{C})$ . Then x lies in  $\mathbb{P}(\rho\mathcal{N}) = \mathbb{C}P(1)$ . Let  $\nu$  be the normal bundle of this  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$  in  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$ . If  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$  is a twistor space then we expect  $\nu$  to be a direct sum of  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ 's. Now  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  splits under the action of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{C})$  into a direct sum of SU(2)-modules

$$\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}} = S^2 \oplus \bigoplus_{k \geqslant 0} A_k S^k,$$

where the first  $S^2$  is the span of X, Y and H,  $A_k$  are trivial as SU(2)-modules and juxtaposition denotes tensor product. The tangent space to  $\mathcal{O}$  at X is

$$T_X \mathcal{O} = (\operatorname{ad} X)\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}},$$

so the normal bundle at x is given by

$$u_x \cong (\operatorname{ad} X) \bigoplus_{k \geqslant 1} A_k S^k.$$

Restricting to the circle subgroup defined by H, we have a further splitting of  $\nu$  into U(1)-bundles. Since  $(\operatorname{ad} X)S^k$  is just  $S^k$  without the (-k)-weight space, a summand  $(\operatorname{ad} X)S^k$  of  $\nu$  consists of line bundles whose Chern classes are  $k, k-2, \ldots, 2-k$ . Thus the Chern class of  $(\operatorname{ad} X)S^k$  is  $k=\dim(\operatorname{ad} X)S^k$  and we have

$$c_1(\nu) = \operatorname{rank} \nu$$
.

Let  $\operatorname{ev}_x$  be the evaluation map  $H^0(\nu) \to \nu_x$ . Consider the map  $A \mapsto [X, A]$ . This is a map from  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  to the tangent space of the nilpotent orbit at X and gives a well-defined element of the tangent space  $T_x\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$  of the projective nilpotent orbit at x = [X]. We denote this tangent vector by x(A). The composition

$$\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}} \longrightarrow T_x \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}) \longrightarrow T_x \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})/T_x \mathbb{C}\mathrm{P}(1) = \nu_x,$$

where the first map is  $A \mapsto x(A)$  and the second is projection, is clearly surjective. Letting x range over  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$  gives a map from the complex Lie algebra to  $H^0(T\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}))$ . Now the composition

$$\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}} \longrightarrow H^0(T\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})) \longrightarrow H^0(\nu) \xrightarrow{ev_x} \nu_x$$

agrees with the map given above and so  $ev_x$  must be surjective. Any holomorphic bundle over  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$  splits holomorphically as a direct sum of line bundles  $\mathcal{O}(k)$  (see Griffiths & Harris, 1978), so

$$\nu = \bigoplus_{k} W_k \mathcal{O}(k),$$

for some complex vector spaces  $W_k$ . Let  $\mu$  be the non-negative part of  $\nu$ , so that  $\mu = \bigoplus_{k \geq 0} W_k \mathcal{O}(k)$ . Then we have the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mu \longrightarrow \nu \xrightarrow{\pi} \nu/\mu \longrightarrow 0.$$

If s is a holomorphic section of  $\nu$ , then  $\pi s = 0$  so  $ev_x(s) = s(x) \in \mu_x$ . But  $ev_x$  is surjective so  $\pi$  is zero and  $\nu = \bigoplus_{k \geq 0} W_k \mathcal{O}(k)$ . In particular, we have

$$H^1(\nu) = 0.$$

Let  $h^i(\cdot)$  be dim  $H^i(\cdot)$ . By the Riemann-Roch Theorem, we have that

$$h^{0}(\nu) - h^{1}(\nu) = \chi^{\text{hol}}(\nu) = \text{ch}(\nu) \cdot \text{Td}(\mathbb{CP}(1))$$
  
=  $c_{1}(\nu) + \text{rank } \nu$   
=  $2 \text{ rank } \nu$ ,

since  $\operatorname{ch}(\nu)$  is rank  $\nu$  in dimension 0 and  $c_1(\nu)$  in dimension 1 and  $\operatorname{Td}(\mathbb{CP}(1))$  is 1 in both dimensions 0 and 1. Thus,

$$h^0(\nu) = 2 \operatorname{rank} \nu.$$

If we identify the nilpotent orbit  $\mathcal{N}$  in  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{C})$  with its image  $\rho(\mathcal{N})$ , then the map  $(x,A)\mapsto x(A)$  gives the following commutative diagram

$$\mathbb{C}\mathrm{P}(1) \times \bigoplus_{k \geqslant 1} A_k S^k \xrightarrow{} \mathcal{C}\mathrm{P}(1) \qquad \qquad \nu$$

This map is complex linear and hence holomorphic and the splitting  $\bigoplus_{k\geqslant 1}A_kS^k$  induces a holomorphic splitting of  $\nu$ . So, holomorphically, we may work with one summand  $\nu'=(\operatorname{ad} X)S^k$  of  $\nu$ . The above cohomological arguments also apply to  $\nu'$ , in particular

$$c_1(\nu') = k = \operatorname{rank} \nu'$$
  
 $h^0(\nu') = 2k.$ 

Now the map

$$S^{k} = H^{0}(\mathbb{C}P(1) \times S^{k}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(\nu')$$
(4.2.1)

is equivariant and we have a surjection

$$\mathbb{C}\mathrm{P}(1) \times S^k \longrightarrow \nu'. \tag{4.2.2}$$

Suppose  $\nu' = B_0 + B_1 \mathcal{O}(1) + \cdots$ , where the  $B_i$  are SU(2)-modules. Then any  $S^r \subset B_0$  is in the image of  $S^k$  under (4.2.1). But  $S^r \subset \nu'$ , so r < k, since rank  $\nu' = k$ 

and dim  $S^r = r + 1$ . Now Schur's Lemma implies that the map  $S^k \to S^r$  is zero and so the map  $S^k \to B_0$  is also trivial. Surjectivity of (4.2.2) now forces  $B_0 = \{0\}$  and

$$\nu' = \bigoplus_{t \geqslant 1} B_t \mathcal{O}(t).$$

But the equation  $c_1(\nu') = \operatorname{rank} \nu'$  says  $\sum_{t \ge 1} (\dim B_t) t = \sum_{t \ge 1} \dim B_t$ , so  $\nu' = B_1 \mathcal{O}(1)$  and

$$\nu = B\mathcal{O}(1),$$

for some SU(2)-module B.

Write  $B_1$  as  $\bigoplus_i S^{l_i}$ . Then

$$H^{0}(\nu') = B_{1} \otimes S^{1} \cong \bigoplus_{i} (S^{l_{i}+1} + S^{l_{i}-1})$$

and  $h^0(\nu') = 2\sum_i l_i + 1$ . Also,  $S^k \subset H^0(\nu')$  so one of  $S^k + S^{k-2}$  or  $S^{k+2} + S^k$  must also be contained in  $H^0(\nu')$ . A dimension count shows that  $H^0(\nu') = S^k \oplus S^{k-2}$  and

$$H^0(\nu) = \bigoplus_{k \geqslant 1} A_k(S^k \oplus S^{k-2}).$$

Thus we have proved the following.

**Proposition 4.2.1.** If  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  splits as the direct sum  $S^2 \oplus \bigoplus_{k \geqslant 0} A_k S^k$ , under the action of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{C})$ . Then the normal bundle of  $\mathbb{C}P(1) = \mathbb{P}(\rho \mathcal{N})$  in  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$  is

$$\left(\bigoplus_{k\geqslant 1} A_k S^{k-1}\right)\otimes \mathcal{O}(1).$$

**Remark.** This decomposition may also be obtained as follows. Let V be the complexification of a real oriented three-plane whose isotropic elements lie in  $\mathcal{O}$ .

Then  $T\mathbb{P}(\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}})/T\mathbb{P}(V)$  is a direct sum of  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ 's. If  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$  is the projectivisation of the isotropic elements of V, then the map  $\mathbb{C}P(1) \to \mathbb{P}(V) \cong \mathbb{C}P(2)$  has degree 2 and  $\mu = T\mathbb{P}(\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}})/T\mathbb{P}(V)|_{\mathbb{C}P(1)} \cong V^{\perp} \otimes \mathcal{O}(2)$ . Now the normal bundle  $\nu$  of  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$  is a non-negative subbundle of  $\mu$ , so  $\nu = A\mathcal{O} + B\mathcal{O}(1) + C\mathcal{O}(2)$ , for some vector spaces A, B and C. An  $\mathcal{O}(2)$ -summand gives a non-zero holomorphic section s of  $\nu(-2)$  and hence of  $\mu(-2)$ . This is a constant vector v in  $V^{\perp}$  which also lies in  $T_x\mathcal{O}$  for each  $x \in \mathbb{C}P(1)$ . Thus, if  $c_1(\nu) = \operatorname{rank} \nu$ , we have that  $\nu$  is a direct sum of  $\mathcal{O}(1)$ 's if and only if  $\bigcap_{[X] \in \mathbb{C}P(1)} \operatorname{ad}(X)\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}} = \{0\}$ . If V arises from a homomorphism, then this second condition is clearly satisfied.

This information about  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$  is nearly sufficient to prove directly that it is the twistor space of a quaternionic Kähler manifold.

**Theorem 4.2.2.** The manifold G/N(Sp(1)) is a submanifold of a pseudoquaternionic Kähler manifold whose twistor space is an open subset of a projectivised nilpotent orbit  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$ .

Note that if  $\mathcal{O}$  is a highest root orbit and G is simple and centreless, then the manifold G/N(Sp(1)) is just the Wolf space discussed in Chapter 2. This result should be contrasted with the classification of homogeneous Kähler manifolds, which may be described as G/N(U(1)) for some circle subgroup U(1) of G.

PROOF. Starting with a real homomorphism  $\rho \colon \mathfrak{su}(2) \to \mathfrak{g}$  such that  $\rho(\mathcal{N}) \subset \mathcal{O}$ , we obtain a  $\mathbb{C}P(1) \subset \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$  with normal bundle  $\nu \cong B\mathcal{O}(1)$ . In particular,  $H^1(\nu)$  vanishes, so Kodaira's Theorem provides us with a maximal family  $\mathcal{M}$  of deformations of dimension  $h^0(\nu) = 2 \operatorname{rank} \nu$  (Kodaira, 1962). Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be the incidence manifold for  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}) \times \mathcal{M}$  and consider the following diagram, where each map is the canonical

projection.

$$\mathcal{T}$$
 $q \swarrow \searrow p$ 
 $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$ 
 $\mathcal{M}$ 

Now for points of  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$  we have

$$\operatorname{rank} q = \dim \mathcal{T} - h^{0}(\nu(-1))$$

$$= 2 \operatorname{rank} \nu + 1 - \operatorname{rank} \nu$$

$$= \operatorname{rank} \nu + 1$$

$$= \dim \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}).$$

By Riemann-Roch, this computation is equivalent to  $h^1(\nu(-1)) = 0$ . A result of Grothendieck (Hartshorne, 1977) asserts that the function  $x \mapsto h^1(\nu(-1))_x$  is lower semi-continuous and so  $h^1(\nu(-1)) = 0$  in a neighbourhood of  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$ . Thus q has rank dim  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$  in a neighbourhood of the orbit of  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$  under G. This orbit is an  $S^2$ -bundle over the manifold G/N(Sp(1)) where N(Sp(1)) is the normaliser of subgroup Sp(1) of G obtained from  $\mathrm{Im}\,\rho$  via exponentiation. The real and contact structures on the  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$ 's in this orbit extend to the deformation space. Our result now follows from a theorem of LeBrun (1989) which states that for a complex contact manifold of dimension  $2n+1 \geq 5$  with fixed-point-free anti-holomorphic involution  $\sigma$  respecting the contact structure, the set of  $\sigma$ -invariant rational curves with normal bundle  $2n\mathcal{O}(1)$  is naturally a pseudo-quaternionic Kähler manifold of dimension 4n. (A non-Riemannian version of LeBrun's result was discussed by Pedersen & Poon, 1989.)

The above theorem would show that the whole of  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$  is a twistor space if we could prove that there is an appropriate real  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$  through each point. The Jacobson-Morosov Theorem already shows that there each point lies in a  $\mathbb{C}P(1)$  with correct normal bundle, but in general this need not be  $\sigma$ -invariant. Note that the

manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  is a complex Riemannian manifold with quaternionic structure (i.e. a manifold with structure group  $Sp(n,\mathbb{C}) Sp(1,\mathbb{C})$  and a compatible torsion-free connection) associated to the whole projectivised orbit.

## 4.3 Trajectories and Quaternionic Kähler Metrics

The manifold G/N(Sp(1)) is contained in the variety  $\mathcal{F} \subset \widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}_3(\mathfrak{g})$  introduced in the first part of this chapter. The proof at the end of the previous section shows that G/N(Sp(1)) lies in a quaternionic Kähler manifold which is contained in  $\mathcal{F}$ . Given an invariant inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  on  $\mathfrak{g}$ , there is a natural functional  $\psi$ , defined on  $\widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}_3(\mathfrak{g})$  as follows. Let V be an oriented 3-plane in  $\mathfrak{g}$  and let  $v_1, v_2, v_3$  be an oriented basis for V. Then

$$\psi(V) = \psi(v_1, v_2, v_3) = -\frac{1}{\ell} \langle v_1, [v_2, v_3] \rangle,$$

where

$$\ell^{2} = \|v_{1}\|^{2} \|v_{2}\|^{2} \|v_{3}\|^{2}$$
$$- \langle v_{1}, v_{2} \rangle^{2} \|v_{3}\|^{2} - \langle v_{2}, v_{3} \rangle^{2} \|v_{1}\|^{2} - \langle v_{3}, v_{1} \rangle^{2} \|v_{2}\|^{2}$$
$$+ 2\langle v_{1}, v_{2} \rangle \langle v_{2}, v_{3} \rangle \langle v_{3}, v_{1} \rangle.$$

Note that if  $e_1, e_2, e_3$  is an orthonormal basis for V then  $\psi(V) = -\langle e_1, [e_2, e_3] \rangle$ . The gradient flow equations for  $\psi, \dot{V} = \nabla \psi(V)$ , are

$$\dot{e}_1 = -[e_2, e_3] - \psi e_1,$$

$$\dot{e}_2 = -[e_3, e_1] - \psi e_2,$$

$$\dot{e}_3 = -[e_1, e_2] - \psi e_3.$$

The right-hand sides of these equations are just the components of the Lie brackets which are orthogonal to V.

The non-zero critical points of  $\psi$  correspond to images of homomorphisms  $\rho \colon \mathfrak{su}(2) \to \mathfrak{g}$ , so these critical sets are the manifolds G/N(Sp(1)). Dynkin (1952) defines the index  $j_{\rho}$  of  $\rho$  to be the constant such that  $\langle \rho(x), \rho(y) \rangle = j_{\rho} \langle x, y \rangle$ . So, at a homomorphism  $\rho$ ,  $\psi(\rho(\mathfrak{sp}(1))) = \sqrt{2}/\sqrt{j_{\rho}}$ . Results of Dynkin now show that  $0 < \psi(\rho(\mathfrak{sp}(1))) \leqslant \sqrt{2}$  and that  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\psi$  is a calibration on  $\widetilde{Gr}_3(\mathfrak{g})$  with the absolute maxima of  $\psi$  occurring at the Wolf space with isometry group G.

Returning to the example of the first section, where  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{so}(4) = \mathfrak{so}(3) \oplus \mathfrak{so}(3)$ , the trajectories of  $\psi$  are obtained by varying the  $S^1$ -parameter  $(\lambda, \mu)$ . The critical points correspond to the homomorphisms from  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)$  to each  $\mathfrak{so}(3)$  factor of  $\mathfrak{so}(4)$  and to the diagonal copy of  $\mathfrak{so}(3)$  in  $\mathfrak{so}(4)$ . In the first two cases the value of  $\psi$  is  $\sqrt{2}$  and in the diagonal case  $\psi$  is 1. The space of trajectories from the diagonal homomorphism to one  $\mathfrak{so}(3)$ -factor is thus  $\mathbb{R}P(3)$ .

**Lemma 4.3.1.** The gradient flow of  $\psi$  preserves the variety  $\mathcal{F}$  and the nilpotent orbits associated to elements of  $\mathcal{F}$ .

PROOF. Given an oriented, orthonormal basis  $e_1, e_2, e_3$  for an element  $V \in \mathcal{F}$ , let

$$e_1' = (1 - t\psi)e_1 - t[e_2, e_3], \text{ etc.},$$

be a path parameterised by  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Upto order  $t^2$ ,  $e'_1$ ,  $e'_2$ ,  $e'_3$  are orthonormal, so we need to show that  $e'_1 + ie'_2$  is nilpotent to first order.

We claim that  $X \in \mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}} \leqslant \mathfrak{gl}(m,\mathbb{C})$  is nilpotent if and only if X = [X,Y] for some  $Y \in \mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$ . The forward implication is part of the Jacobson-Morosov Theorem. For the converse, let A be a Jordan block of X, so X is conjugate to  $\begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{pmatrix}$ .

Now

$$\left[\begin{pmatrix}A&0\\0&B\end{pmatrix},\begin{pmatrix}\alpha&\beta\\\gamma&\delta\end{pmatrix}\right]=\begin{pmatrix}[A,\alpha]&*\\*&[B,\delta]\end{pmatrix},$$

and X = [X, Y] implies  $A = [A, \alpha]$ . Since A is a Jordan block it has minimum polynomial  $(x - \lambda I)^n$ . But  $0 = \text{Tr}[A, \alpha] = \text{Tr} A = n\lambda$ , so  $\lambda = 0$  and A is nilpotent.

Now  $V \in \mathcal{F}$ , so  $e_1 + ie_2$  is nilpotent and there exists Y such that  $e_1 + ie_2 = [e_1 + ie_2, Y]$ . We have

$$e'_1 + ie'_2 = (1 - t\psi)(e_1 + ie_2) + t[e_1 + ie_2, ie_3]$$
and  $[e'_1 + ie'_2, Y] = (1 - t\psi)[e_1 + ie_2, Y] + t[[e_1 + ie_2, ie_3], Y]$ 

$$= (1 - t\psi)[e_1 + ie_2, Y] + t[[e_1 + ie_2, Y], ie_3] - t[e_1 + ie_2, [ie_3, Y]],$$

SO

$$e'_1 + ie'_2 = [e'_1 + ie'_2, Y + t[ie_3, Y]]$$
 to order  $t^2$ ,

as required. Note that, to first order,  $Y + t[ie_3, Y]$  lies in the  $G^{\mathbb{C}}$ -orbit of Y.  $\square$ 

From the lower semi-continuity of  $h^1$ , we may use the flow of  $\psi$  to extend the pseudoquaternionic Kähler manifold constructed at the end of the previous section. We shall see that the twistor space is the whole of  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$  from the following argument in the Lie algebra. The proof will not depend on the discussion of  $\mathcal{F}$ , but we shall see that the variety  $\mathcal{F}$  does provide a good description of the quaternionic geometry.

The analogue of  $\psi$  on  $\mathfrak{g}^3$  is the Chern-Simons functional  $\varphi \colon \mathfrak{g} \times \mathfrak{g} \times \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$\varphi(A) = \varphi(A_1, A_2, A_3) = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \langle A_i, A_i \rangle + \langle A_1, [A_2, A_3] \rangle.$$

The gradient flow equation  $\dot{A} = -\nabla \varphi(A)$  is

$$\dot{A}_1 = -2A_1 - [A_2, A_3],$$

$$\dot{A}_2 = -2A_2 - [A_3, A_1],$$

$$\dot{A}_3 = -2A_3 - [A_1, A_2].$$

Note that these trajectories project to (unparameterised) trajectories of  $\psi$  on  $\widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}_3(\mathfrak{g})$ , since the right-hand sides project to the component of the Lie bracket that is orthogonal to the three-plane  $V_A$  spanned by  $A_1,A_2,A_3$ . Let  $M(\rho)$  denote the space of solutions of these equations such that  $\lim_{t\to\infty}A(t)=0$  and  $\lim_{t\to-\infty}A(t)$  is conjugate to  $\rho$  under the adjoint action of the real group G. Here A has been identified with the linear map  $\mathfrak{su}(2)\to\mathfrak{g}$  given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} -i & 0 \\ 0 & i \end{pmatrix} \mapsto A_1, \qquad \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \mapsto A_2 \quad \text{and} \quad \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix} \mapsto A_3.$$

**Lemma 4.3.2.** If A is a solution of  $\dot{A} = -\nabla \varphi(A)$  such that  $\lim_{t \to -\infty} A(t)$  is a homomorphism  $\mathfrak{su}(2) \to \mathfrak{g}$  (for example, if A is a point of  $M(\rho)$ ) then  $A_1, A_2, A_3$  is a conformal basis for  $V_A$ .

PROOF.  $\frac{d}{dt}\langle A_1, A_2 \rangle = -4\langle A_1, A_2 \rangle$ , so  $\langle A_1, A_2 \rangle = Ce^{-4t}$  for some constant C. At a homomorphism  $-2A_2 = [A_3, A_1]$ , so  $2\langle A_1, A_2 \rangle = -\langle A_1, [A_3, A_1] \rangle = 0$ . Letting  $t \to -\infty$  shows that C = 0 and that  $\langle A_1, A_2 \rangle = 0$  for all t.

Now 
$$\frac{d}{dt}||A_1||^2 = -4||A_1||^2 - 2\langle A_1, [A_2, A_3] \rangle$$
, so

$$||A_1||^2 = c_1 e^{-4t} - 2e^{-4t} \int_0^t e^{4s} \langle A_1, [A_2, A_3] \rangle ds.$$

But the integrand is the same for each  $A_i$  and as  $t \to -\infty$  the norms of the  $A_i$  approach the same non-zero constant, so  $||A_1|| = ||A_2|| = ||A_3||$  for all t.

Kronheimer (1988) shows that  $M(\rho)$  is diffeomorphic to the nilpotent orbit  $\mathcal{O} \subset \mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  containing X. He also interprets  $M(\rho)$  as a moduli space of framed G-instantons with SU(2)-action on the 4-manifold  $SU(2) \times \mathbb{R}$  and shows that  $M(\rho)$  is a hyperKähler manifold. The space  $M(\rho)$  also admits an action of  $\mathbb{H}^*/\mathbb{Z}_2 \cong \operatorname{Aut}(\mathfrak{su}(2))$  induced by composition and this action permutes the complex structures.

To obtain an identification between  $M(\rho)$  and  $\mathcal{O}$ , introduce a fourth  $\mathfrak{g}$ -valued function  $A_0(t)$  and replace the gradient flow equations above by

$$\dot{A}_1 = -2A_1 - [A_0, A_1] - [A_2, A_3],$$

$$\dot{A}_2 = -2A_2 - [A_0, A_2] - [A_3, A_1],$$

$$\dot{A}_3 = -2A_3 - [A_0, A_3] - [A_1, A_2].$$

Introducing  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$ -valued functions given by  $2\alpha = A_0 + iA_1$  and  $2\beta = A_2 + iA_3$ , we obtain one real equation and one complex equation

$$(\dot{\alpha} + \dot{\alpha}^*) + 2(\alpha + \alpha^*) + 2([\alpha, \alpha^*] + [\beta, \beta^*]) = 0,$$
  
 $\dot{\beta} + 2\beta + 2[\alpha, \beta] = 0.$ 

These equations are invariant under the action of the real gauge group  $\mathbf{G}$  of all smooth maps  $g: \mathbb{R} \to G$ , given by  $A_0 \mapsto \operatorname{Ad}(g)(A_0) - \dot{g}g^{-1}$  and  $A_i \mapsto \operatorname{Ad}(g)(A_i)$  for i = 1, 2, 3. The complex equation is invariant under the complex gauge group  $\mathbf{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$  of smooth maps  $g: \mathbb{R} \to G^{\mathbb{C}}$  which acts via

$$\alpha \mapsto \operatorname{Ad}(g)\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\dot{g}g^{-1}$$
 and  $\beta \mapsto \operatorname{Ad}(g)\beta$ .

One now makes the following definitions.

**Definition 4.3.3.** (Kronheimer) A complex trajectory associated to  $\rho$  is a pair of smooth functions  $\alpha, \beta \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  such that

- i)  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  satisfy the complex equation,
- ii) as  $t \to \infty$  we have  $\alpha(t) \to 0$  and  $\beta(t) \to 0$ ,
- iii) as  $t \to -\infty$  we have  $2\alpha(t) \to \mathrm{Ad}(g)(H)$  and  $\beta(t) \to \mathrm{Ad}(g)(Y)$  for some g in the compact group G,

iv)  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  approach their limits as  $t \to \pm \infty$  with exponential decay.

Two complex trajectories are equivalent if there is an element g of the complex gauge group  $\mathbf{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$  taking one to the other and such that  $g(t) \to 1$  as  $t \to \infty$ .

**Proposition 4.3.4.** (Kronheimer) The equivalence classes of the complex trajectories associated with  $\rho$  are parameterised by the nilpotent orbit  $\mathcal{O}$ .

Explicitly, Kronheimer shows that if two trajectories agree outside a compact subset of  $\mathbb{R}$  then they are equivalent and that each complex trajectory is equivalent to a trajectory  $(\alpha, \beta)$  such that

$$(\alpha(t), \beta(t)) = \begin{cases} \left(\frac{1}{2}H, Y\right) & \text{if } t \in (-\infty, 0], \\ (0, e^{-2t}\varepsilon) & \text{if } t \in [1, \infty), \end{cases}$$

$$(4.3.1)$$

where  $\varepsilon \in \mathcal{O}$  is uniquely determined by the trajectory. The U(1) in Sp(1) which preserves the natural complex structure I on the space of equivalence classes of complex trajectories, acts on  $(\alpha, \beta)$  as multiplication by  $(0, e^{2i\theta})$ .

**Lemma 4.3.5.** The action of U(1) on the trajectories given in (4.3.1) is given by  $e^{i\theta} \cdot \varepsilon = e^{2i\theta} \varepsilon$ .

PROOF. We have  $e^{i\theta} \cdot (\alpha, \beta) = (\alpha, e^{2i\theta}\beta)$ , so it is sufficient to find a gauge transformation f such that

$$f(t) = \begin{cases} g & \text{if } t \in (-\infty, 0], \\ 1 & \text{if } t \in [1, \infty), \end{cases}$$

where  $g \in G^{\mathbb{C}}$  is such that  $\langle e^{-2i\theta}X, e^{2i\theta}Y, H \rangle = \operatorname{Ad} g\langle X, Y, H \rangle$ . Since these two  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{C})$ -triplets have H in common, a result of Dynkin's shows that they are conjugate under the action of  $G^{\mathbb{C}}$ . In our case, we may take g to be  $\rho \begin{pmatrix} e^{-i\theta} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{i\theta} \end{pmatrix}$ .  $\square$ 

Let  $X_I$  denote the vector field generated by this U(1)-action, then  $IX_I$  is vector field generated by the  $\mathbb{R}$ -action

$$\lambda \cdot \varepsilon = \lambda^2 \varepsilon,$$

which is independent of the choice of complex structure I on  $M(\rho)$ . The results of the previous chapter now show the following.

**Propoition 4.3.6.** The quotient of  $\mathcal{O} \cong M(\rho)$  by  $\mathbb{H}^*$  is a quaternionic Kähler manifold.

The above  $\mathbb{R}$ -action can be seen directly on  $M(\rho)$  as reparameterization of the trajectories. If we map  $t\mapsto t-\tau$  we obtain the trajectory

$$(\alpha(t), \beta(t)) = \begin{cases} \left(\frac{1}{2}H, Y\right) & \text{if } t \in (-\infty, \tau], \\ \left(0, e^{-2t}e^{2\tau}\varepsilon\right) & \text{if } t \in [1 + \tau, \infty), \end{cases}$$

which agrees with (4.3.1) with  $\varepsilon$  replaced by  $e^{2\tau}\varepsilon$  outside the compact interval  $[\min\{0,\tau\},\max\{1,1+\tau\}].$ 

The real structure on a twistor space  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O})$  is given by the action of j on  $\mathcal{U}(M)$ . Using the notation of the Lemma, the action of  $j \in \mathbb{H}^*$  is given by  $j \cdot (\alpha, \beta) = (\sigma\alpha, \sigma\beta)$  and using the gauge transformation f with  $g = \rho(j) = \rho\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$  shows that  $j \cdot \varepsilon = \sigma\varepsilon$ , where  $\sigma$  is the real structure on  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  defining  $\mathfrak{g}$ .

Given two homomorphisms  $\rho_+$  and  $\rho_-$  of  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)$  into  $\mathfrak{g}$ , let  $M(\rho_-, \rho_+)$  denote the space of trajectories A of  $\varphi$  such that  $\lim_{t\to\infty} A(t) = \rho_+$  and  $\lim_{t\to-\infty} A(t)$  is conjugate to  $\rho_-$  under the action of G.

**Proposition 4.3.7.** i) A trajectory of  $\psi$  on  $\mathcal{F}$  between the images of homomorphisms  $V_{\rho_{-}}$  and  $V_{\rho_{+}}$  may be lifted to a trajectory in  $M(\rho_{-}, \rho_{+})$  and this lifting is unique upto the action of  $\mathbb{H}^*$ .

ii) For a trajectory  $A \in M(\rho_{-})$ , the three-plane  $\lim_{t \to \infty} V_{A(t)}$  is a well-defined element of  $\mathcal{F}$ . Moreover, if  $\lim_{t \to -\infty} A(t) = \rho_{-}$  the projection of this trajectory may be extended to a trajectory between  $V_{\rho_{-}}$  and  $V_{\rho_{+}}$ , for some homomorphism  $\rho_{+} \colon \mathfrak{sp}(1) \to \mathfrak{g}$  and every point on this extended trajectory arises for some such  $\varphi$ -trajectory A.

PROOF. To show the existence of a lifting, let  $e_i(t)$  be a path of orthonormal bases for a  $\psi$ -trajectory V(t) in  $\mathcal{F}$  and define

$$A_i(t) = g(t)e_i(f(t)),$$
 for  $i = 1, 2, 3,$ 

where g and f are arbitrary, differentiable, real-valued functions to be determined. For A to be a trajectory of  $\varphi$ , we require

$$\dot{A}_1 = \dot{g}g^{-1}A_1 - \dot{f}\psi A_1 - \dot{f}g^{-1}[A_2, A_3] = -2A_1 - [A_2, A_3],$$
 etc.

If  $A_1, A_2, A_3$  do not span the image of a homomorphism, then  $A_1$  and  $[A_2, A_3]$  are linearly independent, so

$$\dot{f} = g,$$
 
$$\dot{g}g^{-1} - \psi \dot{f} = -2.$$

Since  $\psi$  is bounded on the trajectory, this has the solution

$$g(t) = \frac{e^{-2t}}{k - \int_0^t \psi(\tau)e^{-2\tau} d\tau},$$

$$f(t) = \int_0^t \frac{e^{-2\sigma}}{k - \int_0^\sigma \psi(\tau)e^{-2\tau} d\tau} d\sigma + c,$$

for some constants k and c. Moreover, for an appropriate choice of k,  $\lim_{t\to\infty}g(t)$  is non-zero.

To study the uniqueness of this lifting we look at reparameterizations of  $\varphi$ trajectories. Let A be a  $\varphi$ -trajectory from  $\rho_-$  to  $\rho_+$  and define  $\tilde{A}(t)$  to be the
path g(t)h(t)A(f(t)), where again f and g are real-valued, but now h takes values
in the group SO(3). For  $\tilde{A}$  to be a  $\varphi$ -trajectory, we have that

$$((g\dot{h} + \dot{g}h) - 2gh\dot{f} + 2gh)A_1 - gh\dot{f}[A_2, A_3] + g^2[hA_2, hA_3] = 0,$$
 etc.

Now  $h \in SO(3)$  implies that  $[hA_2, hA_3] = h[A_2, A_3]$ , so if we are not at a homomorphism  $\dot{f} = g$  and

$$gh^{-1}\dot{h} = (-\dot{g} + 2g\dot{f} - 2g) id.$$

If  $\dot{h}$  is non-zero then h must be proportional to the identity matrix, but this implies that  $h \equiv 1$ . So h is always a constant matrix and  $\dot{g} - 2g\dot{f} + 2g = 0$ . This equation is just the one obtained above, but with  $\psi$  replaced by 2. This now gives

$$g(t) = \frac{1}{1 + \lambda e^{2t}},$$
  
$$f(t) = -\frac{1}{2}\log|e^{-2t} + \lambda| + c,$$

where  $\lambda$  and c are constants.

Fix h=1 and c=0. If  $\lambda=0$ , we just obtain the original trajectory. For  $\lambda>0,\ \tilde{A}(t)\to\rho_-$  as  $t\to-\infty$ . As  $t\to\infty,\ \tilde{A}(t)\to0$  but  $f(t)\to-\frac{1}{2}\log\lambda$ , so  $V_{\tilde{A}(t)}\to V_{A(-\frac{1}{2}\log\lambda)}$ .

If  $\lambda < 0$ , then g and f have singularities at  $t = t_0 = -\frac{1}{2}\log(-\lambda)$  and the trajectory splits into two parts. For  $t < t_0$ , the limit as  $t \to -\infty$  is still  $\rho_-$ , and in  $\mathcal{F}$ , as  $t \nearrow t_0$ , the three-plane  $V_{\tilde{A}}$  approaches  $V_{\rho_+}$ . For  $t > t_0$ , we have an orientation reversed version of the case  $\lambda > 0$ .

Fix  $\lambda=-1$ , so that  $t_0=0$ . We claim that as  $t\nearrow 0$ ,  $\|\tilde{A}_i\|$  approaches a non-zero limit. Recall that

$$\tilde{A}_i(t) = \frac{1}{1 - e^{2t}} A_i(-\frac{1}{2} \log(e^{-2t} - 1)), \quad \text{for } i = 1, 2, 3 \text{ and } t < 0.$$

Suppose  $A_1(t) = e^{-2t}(\gamma + \varepsilon(t))$ , where  $\varepsilon(t) \to 0$  as  $t \to \infty$  and  $\gamma$  is non-zero. Then, as  $t \to 0$ , we have  $\tilde{A}_1 \to \gamma$ , as required.

To show that  $A_1$  has the right behaviour at infinity, recall that

$$||A_1(t)||^2 = Ce^{-4t} - 2e^{-4t} \int_T^t e^{4\tau} \phi(\tau) d\tau,$$

where  $\phi = \langle A_1, [A_2, A_3] \rangle$  and  $C = e^{4T} ||A_1(T)||^2$ . Now  $\dot{\phi} = -6\phi - (\langle A_1, A_2 \rangle^2 + \langle A_2, A_3 \rangle^2 + \langle A_3, A_1 \rangle^2) \leqslant -6\phi$ , so  $0 \leqslant \phi(t) \leqslant e^{-6t}k$ , where  $k = e^{6T}\phi(T)$  for t > T and

$$Ce^{-4t} \geqslant ||A_1(t)||^2 \geqslant (C - k)e^{-4t} + e^{-6t}k,$$

so we need only ensure that C > k, that is  $e^{2T}\phi(T) < \|A_1\|^2(T)$ . But  $\phi \leqslant 2\|A_1\|^3$ , so it is sufficient to have  $2e^{2T}\|A_1(T)\| < 1$  and this is possible, since  $\|A_1(T)\|$  is bounded as  $T \to -\infty$ .

It now only remains to show that if A is a  $\varphi$ -trajectory from  $\rho_-$  to zero, then the limit three-plane lies in  $\mathcal{F}$ . Fix attention on the isotropic element  $\beta = A_2 + iA_3$ . Let  $\alpha = iA_1$ . Now Kronheimer shows that there is a complex gauge transformation g such that on  $[1, \infty)$ ,  $g \cdot (\alpha, \beta) = (0, e^{-2t}\varepsilon)$ , for some  $\varepsilon$  in the nilpotent orbit given by  $\rho_-$ . In particular,  $e^{2t}\beta = \operatorname{Ad}(g^{-1})\varepsilon$ , so we obtain a nilpotent element in the limit.

The manifold  $M(\rho_-, \rho_+)$  is a transverse slice to the orbit given by  $\rho_+$  through the orbit associated to  $\rho_-$  (Slodowy, 1980) and Kronheimer shows this is a hyper-Kähler manifold. In  $\mathcal{F}$ , this slice is just seen as all the points on trajectories to  $V_{\rho_+}$ from the real orbit of  $V_{\rho_-}$ , together with the points of the  $V_{\rho_-}$ -orbit.

# 4.4 Examples

The classification of nilpotent orbits in the complexification of a classical Lie algebra is just the classification of the Jordan forms of matrices which arise and so the orbits are classified by various partitions of n, for some fixed integer n. The dimension of an orbit may be calculated directly from the partitions (Springer & Steinberg, 1970) and, using the results of Dynkin (1952) and Bala & Carter (1974), for the first few semi-simple Lie algebras, we obtain the nilpotent orbits of the dimensions given in Table 1 (see also Carter, 1985). Unless otherwise stated, by 'dimension' we mean 'real dimension.'

Lie algebra	Dimension	Real Dimensions of Nilpotent Orbits
$\mathfrak{so}(3) = \mathfrak{su}(2) = \mathfrak{sp}(1)$	3	4
$\mathfrak{so}(4)=\mathfrak{sp}(1)+\mathfrak{sp}(1)$	6	8, 4, 4
$\mathfrak{su}(3)$	8	12,8
$\mathfrak{so}(5) = \mathfrak{sp}(2)$	10	16, 12, 8
$\mathfrak{g}_2$	14	24, 20, 16, 12
$\mathfrak{so}(6)=\mathfrak{su}(4)$	15	24, 20, 16, 12
$\mathfrak{sp}(3)$	21	36, 32, 28, 28, 24, 20, 12
$\mathfrak{so}(7)$	21	36, 32, 28, 24, 20, 16
$\mathfrak{su}(5)$	24	40, 36, 32, 28, 24, 16
$\mathfrak{sp}(4)$	36	64, 60, 56, 56, 52, 48, 48, 44, 40, 40, 36, 28, 16

Table 1.

Dimensions of nilpotent orbits of some semi-simple Lie algebras.

Four-dimensional Models. If we regard nilpotent orbits as models for associated bundles of quaternionic Kähler manifolds, then in 4-dimensions we have the highest root orbits of  $\mathfrak{su}(3)$  and  $\mathfrak{sp}(2)$  and the regular orbit in  $\mathfrak{so}(4)$ . The first two are just the associated bundles of the Wolf spaces  $\mathbb{C}P(2)$  and  $\mathbb{H}P(1)$ , respectively. Hitchin (1979) showed that these were the only two complete, self-dual Einstein manifolds with positive scalar curvature. The regular orbit (the unique nilpotent orbit of highest dimension) in  $\mathfrak{so}(4)$  is just the product of the highest root orbits of each  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)$  factor, and so it is the associated bundle for the quaternionic join of two points, which is an incomplete manifold. This orbit is a finite quotient of the highest root orbit of  $\mathfrak{sp}(2)$ . More generally, we may describe the regular orbit of  $\mathfrak{sp}(p_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(p_r)$  as a finite quotient of an open subset of the highest root orbit of  $\mathfrak{sp}(n)$ , where  $\sum_{i=1}^r p_i = n$ . The highest root orbit in  $\mathfrak{sp}(n,\mathbb{C}) \cong S^2\mathbb{C}^{2n}$  consists of those elements  $v^2$ , where  $v \in \mathbb{C}^{2n}$ . Write  $v = v_{p_1} + \cdots + v_{p_r}$  corresponding to the splitting  $\mathbb{C}^{2n} = \mathbb{C}^{2p_1} + \cdots + \mathbb{C}^{2p_r}$ , then the map to  $\mathfrak{sp}(p_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(p_r)$  is given by

$$v^2 \mapsto v_{p_1}^2 + \dots + v_{p_r}^2$$

Restricting to the open set consisting of v such that no component  $v_{p_i}$  is zero gives the regular orbit as a  $\mathbb{Z}_2^{r-1}$ -quotient and shows that the quaternionic Kähler manifold obtained is

$$\mathbb{HP}(n-1)\setminus\bigcup_{i}\mathbb{HP}(n-p_i-1)\bigg/\mathbb{Z}_2^{r-1}.$$

This space is just the quaternionic join  $\mathcal{J}(\mathbb{H}P(p_1), \dots, \mathbb{H}P(p_r))$ . Poon (1986) showed that the projectivised regular orbit of  $\mathfrak{so}(4,\mathbb{C})$  could be desingularised in such a way as to give a self-dual structure on the connected sum  $\mathbb{C}P(2)\#\mathbb{C}P(2)$ . Donaldson & Friedman (1989) extended this result to define self-dual metrics on other connected

sums of self-dual manifolds. This example suggests that one should be able to extend their result to construct quaternionic metrics on the connected sums of quaternionic manifolds.

**Eight-dimensional Models.** We have the following. Firstly, the highest root orbits for  $\mathfrak{g}_2$ ,  $\mathfrak{su}(4)$  and  $\mathfrak{sp}(3)$  and the regular orbits of  $\mathfrak{sp}(1) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1)$  and  $\mathfrak{su}(3) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1)$  giving the Wolf spaces  $G_2/SO(4)$ ,  $Gr_2(\mathbb{C}^4)$  and  $\mathbb{HP}(2)$  and the incomplete spaces  $\mathbb{HP}(2) \setminus 3 \mathbb{HP}(1)/\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$  and  $\mathcal{U}(\mathbb{CP}(2))$ . Next there is the subregular orbit (the unique orbit of codimension 4 in the nilpotent variety) of  $\mathfrak{sp}(2,\mathbb{C}) \cong \mathfrak{so}(5,\mathbb{C})$ . Because of the isomorphism between these algebras, the description of this orbit leads to two different generalisations.

**Proposition 4.4.1.** i) In  $\mathfrak{sp}(n,\mathbb{C})$ , one of the nilpotent orbits of dimension 8n-4 is double covered by an open subset of the highest root orbit in  $\mathfrak{su}(2n,\mathbb{C})$ . The quaternionic Kähler manifold obtained from this  $Sp(n,\mathbb{C})$ -orbit is  $Gr_2(\mathbb{C}^{2n}) \setminus \mathbb{HP}(n-1)/\mathbb{Z}_2$ .

ii) In  $\mathfrak{so}(q,\mathbb{C})$ , one of the nilpotent orbits of dimension 4q-8 is double covered by an open subset of the highest root orbit in  $\mathfrak{so}(q+1,\mathbb{C})$ . The quaternionic Kähler manifold obtained from this  $SO(q,\mathbb{C})$ -orbit is  $\widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}_4(\mathbb{R}^{q+1})\setminus \widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}_4(\mathbb{R}^q)\Big/\mathbb{Z}_2$ .

PROOF. i) The Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{su}(m,\mathbb{C})$  consists of the trace-free elements of  $\operatorname{End}(\mathbb{C}^m)$  and the highest root orbits contains those elements of the form  $a\otimes \bar{b}$ , for some  $a,b\in\mathbb{C}^m$ . If we identify  $\mathbb{C}^{2n}$  and  $\mathbb{H}^n$ , then there is a map from the highest root orbit of  $\mathfrak{su}(2n,\mathbb{C})$  to  $\mathfrak{sp}(n,\mathbb{C})\cong S^2\mathbb{C}^{2n}$  given by  $a\otimes \bar{b}\mapsto a\vee jb$ . Generically, this map has kernel  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ . Its image consists of all elements of the form  $e\vee f$ , where  $e,f\in\mathbb{C}^{2n}$  and, if  $\omega$  is the symplectic form, then  $\omega(e,f)=0$ . One of the consequences of the results of Springer & Steinberg (1970) is that the nilpotent orbits of  $\mathfrak{sp}(n,\mathbb{C})$  are obtained as the intersection of  $\mathfrak{sp}(n,\mathbb{C})$  with the nilpotent orbits of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2n,\mathbb{C})$ . Thus

studying the Jordan forms of elements shows that the image splits as a disjoint union of two orbits, one is the highest root orbit of  $\mathfrak{sp}(n,\mathbb{C})$  and the other is an orbit of  $\mathfrak{sp}(n,\mathbb{C})$  of dimension 8n-4.

On the level of quaternionic Kähler manifolds, the  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -action is the action of j on  $\operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^{2n})$ , where  $\mathbb{C}^{2n} \cong \mathbb{H}^n$ ; so the fixed point set is  $\mathbb{HP}(n-1)$  and the incomplete manifold obtained is  $\operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^{2n}) \setminus \mathbb{HP}(n-1) / \mathbb{Z}_2$ .

ii) The Lie algebra of  $\mathfrak{so}(q)$  is  $\Lambda^2\mathbb{C}^q$ , so there is map from  $\mathfrak{so}(q+1)$  to  $\mathfrak{so}(q)$  induced by projection. In particular,

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 1 & i \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & -i & 1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -1 & i & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -i & -1 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \longmapsto \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & -i \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots & \vdots \\ -1 & i & \dots & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The first matrix is an element of the highest root orbit of  $\mathfrak{so}(q+1)$  and its image is a nilpotent matrix in  $\mathfrak{so}(q)$  which lies in an orbit of dimension 4q-8 (using the results of Springer & Steinberg, 1970). Away from the highest root orbit of  $\mathfrak{so}(q)$  this map has kernel  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ . The quaternionic manifold obtained is  $\widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}_4(\mathbb{R}^{q+1}) \setminus \widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}_4(\mathbb{R}^q) / \mathbb{Z}_2$ , where  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  acts on  $\mathbb{R}^{q+1} = \mathbb{R}^q \oplus \mathbb{R}$  as (1,-1). Note that the nilpotent elements obtained are those which may be written in the form  $a \wedge b$ , with g(a,a) = 0 = g(a,b), since the highest root orbit of  $\mathfrak{so}(q+1,\mathbb{C})$  consists of elements  $c \wedge d$ , with g(c,c) = g(d,d) = 0 = g(c,d).

Our final model for a quaternionic Kähler 8-manifold is the regular orbit of SU(3). Now  $\mathfrak{su}(3)$  is a subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}_2$ : let (0,1) be the highest root of  $\mathfrak{g}_2^{\mathbb{C}}$  and suppose (1,0) is a short root such that the long roots of  $\mathfrak{g}_2$  are  $\pm(0,1)$ ,  $\pm(3,2)$ ,

 $\pm(3,1)$ , and the short roots are  $\pm(1,0)$ ,  $\pm(1,1)$ ,  $\pm(2,1)$ ; then  $\mathfrak{su}(3,\mathbb{C})$  is the subalgebra generated by the long roots. The Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_2^{\mathbb{C}}$  decomposes under the action of SU(3) as

$$\mathfrak{g}_2^{\mathbb{C}}=\mathfrak{su}(3,\mathbb{C})\oplus\Lambda^{1,0}\mathbb{C}^3\oplus\Lambda^{0,1}\mathbb{C}^3.$$

The space  $G_2/SU(3)$  is 3-symmetric; the symmetry  $\sigma$  comes from the centre  $\mathbb{Z}_3$  of SU(3) and acts on this decomposition of  $\mathfrak{g}_2^{\mathbb{C}}$  as  $(1, e^{2\pi i/3}, e^{-2\pi i/3})$ . The projection of the highest root orbit of  $\mathfrak{g}_2^{\mathbb{C}}$  contains elements of both the nilpotent orbits of  $\mathfrak{su}(3,\mathbb{C})$  and so counting dimensions, the image must be the whole nilpotent variety of  $\mathfrak{su}(3,\mathbb{C})$ . To show that both orbits meet the image, we argue as follows. We have a subgroup  $SO(4) = Sp(1)_+ Sp(1)_-$  of  $G_2$  and Salamon (1987) shows that the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_2^{\mathbb{C}}$  decomposes under SO(4) as

$$\mathfrak{g}_2^{\mathbb{C}} = S^2 V_+ \oplus S^2 V_- \oplus V_+ S^3 V_-.$$

If we take  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)_+$  to be the span of  $E_{(0,1)}, H_{(0,1)}, E_{-(0,1)}$ , where  $H_{\alpha}, E_{\lambda}$  is a Cartan basis for  $\mathfrak{g}_2^{\mathbb{C}}$ , then  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)_-$  is spanned by  $E_{(2,1)}, H_{(2,1)}, E_{-(2,1)}$  and the remaining roots span  $V_+S^3V_-$ . Now, for definiteness, identify  $E_{(0,1)}$  and  $E_{(3,1)}$  with the matrices

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}. \text{ This gives } [E_{(0,1)}, E_{(3,1)}] = E_{(3,2)} \text{ is } \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and so  $E_{(0,1)} + E_{(3,2)}$  is a highest root vector of  $\mathfrak{su}(3)$  and hence of  $\mathfrak{g}_2$ . Consider the orbit of this element under  $Sp(1)_-$ . The first component lies in  $\mathfrak{sp}(1)_+$  so it is  $Sp(1)_-$ -invariant. The other component lies in the  $Sp(1)_-$ -module  $S^3V_-$  spanned by  $E_{(3,2)}, E_{(1,1)}, E_{(-1,0)}, E_{(-3,-1)}$ . In particular, there is an element in the  $Sp(1)_-$ -orbit of  $E_{(0,1)} + E_{(3,2)}$  which projects to  $E_{(0,1)} + aE_{(3,2)} + bE_{(-3,-1)}$  with both a and b non-zero. Now this element lies in the regular orbit of  $\mathfrak{su}(3,\mathbb{C})$  and is the projection of a highest root element of  $\mathfrak{g}_2^{\mathbb{C}}$ , as required.

Quaternionically, we obtain the following. Let 1, i, j, k, e, ie, je, ke be a basis of  $\mathbb{O}$ , then the Wolf space  $G_2/SO(4)$  is the space of quaternionic lines in  $\mathbb{O}$ . The action of  $\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_3$  on  $\mathbb{O}$  is by right multiplication by  $e^{2\pi e/3} = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}e$ . This is an element of  $G_2$ , since

$$(\sigma i)(\sigma j) = \frac{k}{4} - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{4}(ie)j - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{4}i(je) + \frac{3}{4}(ie)(je) = -\frac{k}{2} + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}(ke) = \sigma(k)$$
and
$$\sigma(i)\sigma(e) = \left(-\frac{i}{2} + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}ie\right)e = -\frac{ie}{2} - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}i = \sigma(ie).$$

The fixed point set of  $\sigma$  consists of those quaternionic lines which are spanned by 1, e and a complex line in  $\mathbb{C}^3 = \langle i, j, k, ie, je, ke \rangle$ , which is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{C}P(2)$ .

**Proposition 4.4.2.** There is an open set in the highest root orbit of  $\mathfrak{g}_2^{\mathbb{C}}$  which is a three-fold cover of the regular orbit in  $\mathfrak{su}(3,\mathbb{C})$ . The quaternionic Kähler manifold associated to this  $\mathfrak{su}(3)$ -orbit is  $G_2 \setminus \mathbb{CP}(2)/\mathbb{Z}_3$ .

Thus we have the following models for eight-manifolds:

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{H}P(2), & & \operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^4), & \frac{G_2}{SO(4)}, & \mathcal{U}(\mathbb{C}P(2)), \\ \\ \frac{\mathbb{H}P(2) \setminus 3 \, \mathbb{H}P(1)}{\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2}, & & \frac{\operatorname{Gr}_2(\mathbb{C}^4) \setminus \mathbb{H}P(1)}{\mathbb{Z}_2} \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{G_2/SO(4) \setminus \mathbb{C}P(2)}{\mathbb{Z}_3}. \end{split}$$

These are exactly the models for quaternionic Kähler 8-manifolds with positive scalar curvature obtained by Poon & Salamon (1989), who showed that the only such complete 8-manifolds are the Wolf spaces.

**Higher-dimensional Quotients.** The hyperKähler quotients of  $\mathbb{H}P(n-1)$  by U(1) and Sp(1) described by Galicki may be understood in terms of Lie algebras

as follows. The normaliser of U(1) in Sp(n) is U(n). Let v be an element of  $\mathbb{H}^n$ . Corresponding to  $\mathbb{H}^n = \Lambda^{1,0}\mathbb{C}^n \oplus \Lambda^{0,1}\mathbb{C}^n = \mathbb{C}^n \oplus \overline{\mathbb{C}^n}$ , write  $v = a + \overline{b}$ . Now

$$\mathfrak{sp}(n,\mathbb{C}) = S^2 \mathbb{C}^{2n} = \mathfrak{u}(n,\mathbb{C}) \oplus \mathfrak{m} = \Lambda^{1,1} \oplus (S^{2,0} \oplus S^{0,2}),$$

and, correspondingly, we have

$$v^2 = a \otimes \bar{b} + (a^2 + \bar{b}^2).$$

The orbit of  $a \otimes \bar{b} \in \mathfrak{gl}(n,\mathbb{C}) = \mathfrak{u}(n,\mathbb{C})$  is 4(n-1)-dimensional and these orbits are parameterised by  $\operatorname{Tr}(a \otimes \bar{b}) = g(a,\bar{b})$ . So the image of  $v^2 \mapsto a \otimes \bar{b}$  is (4n-2)-dimensional. Restricting to nilpotent elements in the image is equivalent to imposing the condition  $g(a,\bar{b}) = 0$  and we obtain the highest root orbit of  $\mathfrak{su}(n,\mathbb{C}) \subset \mathfrak{u}(n,\mathbb{C})$ . Thus,  $g(a,\bar{b})$ , which is the component of  $v^2$  in  $\mathfrak{u}(1,\mathbb{C}) \subset \mathfrak{u}(n,\mathbb{C})$ , gives the complex moment map. Similarly, the normaliser of Sp(1) in Sp(n) is SO(n). The Lie algebra splits as

$$\mathfrak{sp}(n) = \mathfrak{so}(n,\mathbb{C}) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1,\mathbb{C}) \otimes (S_0^2\mathbb{R} + \mathbb{R})$$

and the projection to  $\mathfrak{sp}(1,\mathbb{C})$  gives the complex moment map. This enables us to give another description of the orbit of  $\mathfrak{so}(q,\mathbb{C})$  discussed above. Consider  $\mathbb{C}^{q+2} = \mathbb{C}^q + \mathbb{C}^2$ . Then, as before, the map from the highest root orbit of  $\mathfrak{so}(q+2,\mathbb{C})$  to  $\mathfrak{so}(q,\mathbb{C})$  induced by projection onto  $\mathbb{C}^q$ , contains the highest root orbit and an orbit of dimension 4q-8. A typical element of the highest root orbit of  $\mathfrak{so}(q+2,\mathbb{C})$  is  $a \wedge b = (a_q, a_2) \wedge (b_q, b_2)$ , where g(a, a) = g(b, b) = 0 = g(a, b). Regarding projection to  $\Lambda^2\mathbb{C}^2 \cong \mathfrak{so}(2,\mathbb{C})$  as a complex moment map for the action of U(1) = SO(2), any zero of this map in the highest root orbit may be put in the form  $(a_q, a_2) \wedge (b_q, 0)$  and so the U(1)-quotient consists precisely of the two orbits above. Thus, the quaternionic Kähler quotient of  $\widetilde{Gr}_4(\mathbb{R}^{q+2})$  by U(1) acting on the  $\mathbb{R}^2$ -factor as SO(2) is  $\widetilde{Gr}_4(\mathbb{R}^{q+1})/\mathbb{Z}_2$ .

The Algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_2$ . One might hope to describe the 16-dimensional orbit of  $\mathfrak{g}_2^{\mathbb{C}}$  in terms of the highest root orbit of  $\mathfrak{so}(7)$ . Recall that  $SO(8)/G_2$  is a 3-symmetric space. Let  $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_4$  be a set of simple roots for  $\mathfrak{so}(8)$ .



Let  $h_{\psi_i}$ ,  $e_{\lambda}$  be the corresponding Weyl basis for  $\mathfrak{so}(8,\mathbb{C})$ . The description of the inclusion of  $\mathfrak{g}_2$  in  $\mathfrak{so}(7)$  given by Gray & Wolf (1968) is as follows. Define

$$a_{\pm} = e_{\pm\psi_1} + e_{\pm\psi_3} + e_{\pm\psi_4}$$

$$b_{\pm} = e_{\pm(\psi_1 + \psi_2)} + e_{\pm(\psi_3 + \psi_2)} + e_{\pm(\psi_4 + \psi_2)}$$

$$c_{\pm} = e_{\pm(\psi_1 + \psi_3 + \psi_2)} + e_{\pm(\psi_3 + \psi_4 + \psi_2)} + e_{\pm(\psi_4 + \psi_1 + \psi_2)}$$

and if  $\alpha = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3$ , let  $\varepsilon = e^{2\pi i/3}$ ,  $\alpha' = \alpha_1 + \varepsilon \alpha_2 + \varepsilon^2 \alpha_3$  and  $\alpha'' = \alpha_1 + \varepsilon^2 \alpha_2 + \varepsilon \alpha_3$ . Then

$$\mathfrak{g}_2^{\mathbb{C}} = \langle h_{\psi_1} + h_{\psi_3} + h_{\psi_4}, h_{\psi_2}, e_{\pm \psi_2}, e_{\pm (\psi_1 + \psi_2 + \psi_3 + \psi_4)}, e_{\pm (\psi_1 + 2\psi_2 + \psi_3 + \psi_4)}, a_{\pm}, b_{\pm}, c_{\pm} \rangle.$$

Also, if we define

$$\mathfrak{g}_2(\varepsilon) = \langle h_{\psi_1} + \varepsilon^2 h_{\psi_3} + \varepsilon h_{\psi_4}, a''_{\pm}, b''_{\pm}, c''_{\pm} \rangle$$
$$\mathfrak{g}_2(\varepsilon^2) = \langle h_{\psi_1} + \varepsilon h_{\psi_3} + \varepsilon^2 h_{\psi_4}, a'_{\pm}, b'_{\pm}, c'_{\pm} \rangle$$

then

$$\mathfrak{so}(8) = \mathfrak{g}_2 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_2(\varepsilon) \oplus \mathfrak{g}_2(\varepsilon^2),$$

and

$$\mathfrak{so}(7) = \mathfrak{g}_2 \oplus \mathbb{R}^7,$$

where

$$\mathbb{R}^7 = \langle \frac{1}{2} (h_{\psi_3} + h_{\psi_4}), \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (e_{\pm \psi_3} + e_{\pm \psi_4}),$$

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (e_{\pm (\psi_3 + \psi_2)} + e_{\pm (\psi_4 + \psi_2)}), \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (e_{\pm (\psi_1 + \psi_4 + \psi_2)} + e_{\pm (\psi_1 + \psi_3 + \psi_2)}) \rangle.$$

The inclusion  $\mathfrak{g}_2 \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{so}(7)$  induces a projection  $\mathfrak{so}(7) \to \mathfrak{g}_2$  via the dual map and the Killing forms. Levasseur & Smith (1988) show that the image of highest root orbit contains the orbit of short roots (which contains  $e_{\psi_2}$ ), which is the 16 dimensional orbit we are interested in, and that this map is a bijection on the closures of these orbits. They also show that the 20-dimensional orbit arises in the image of the highest root orbit of  $\mathfrak{so}(8)$ .

The above links between nilpotent orbits in low dimensions are summarised in Diagram 1.

Singularities in the Nilpotent Variety. The nilpotent orbits of a simple Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  may be partially ordered by  $\mathcal{O}_1 \prec \mathcal{O}_2$  if and only if  $\mathcal{O}_1 \subset \overline{\mathcal{O}_2}$ . Diagrams showing this partial order for the exceptional groups and for some of the smaller classical groups may be found in Carter (1985). The nilpotent variety of  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$  contains a unique open dense orbit, the regular orbit, and a unique orbit of codimension 4, the subregular orbit. If  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  are homomorphisms  $\mathfrak{su}(2) \to \mathfrak{g}$  corresponding to the regular and subregular orbits respectively, then Slodowy (1980) defines a slice S transverse to the subregular orbit by taking S to be the intersection of  $S(\rho')$  with the nilpotent variety. Here  $S(\rho') = \rho' \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \mathfrak{z}\rho' \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ , where  $\mathfrak{z}$  denotes the centraliser in  $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$ . The transverse slice S is biholomorphic to  $\mathbb{C}^2/\Gamma$ , where  $\Gamma$  is a finite subgroup of SU(2) (that is,  $\Gamma$  is either cyclic, dihedral of order 4r for some r,

## Diagram 1

HyperKähler Quotients of Small Nilpotent Orbits

Arrows are labelled by the group and the quotient is the closure of the indicated orbit.

binary tetrahedral, binary octahedral or binary icosahedral). This was conjectured by Grothendieck and proved by Brieskorn (1970). Kronheimer (1988) shows that this slice is actually hypercomplex. This result was extended by Kraft & Procesi (1982) in the case of classical groups.

**Proposition 4.4.3.** If  $\mathfrak{g}$  is a classical simple Lie algebra, then for a minimal degeneration (that is, if the two orbits considered are adjacent in the partial order) the singularity obtained is either of the form described above (i.e.  $\mathbb{C}^2/\Gamma$ ), or two copies of  $\mathbb{C}^2/\mathbb{Z}_k$ , for some k, or the transverse slice is smoothly equivalent to a highest root orbit for some simple, complex Lie algebra.

This result was also proved in the case of  $G_2$  by Kraft (1988) and indicates that a quaternionic description of these singularities should be possible.

Bundles Over Real Orbits. The second section of this chapter gives an explicit description of the normal bundle of G/N(Sp(1)) in the quaternionic Kähler manifold associated to the corresponding nilpotent orbit. One could try and construct quaternionic Kähler metrics on these bundles, perhaps using the type of techniques seen in Chapter 2. For the regular orbit in  $\mathfrak{su}(3)$ , the bundle is  $S^2$  and the tangent space of this bundle splits as  $S^4 + S^2$  under the action of Sp(1). The closure of this bundle in  $\mathcal{F}$  contains the Wolf space  $\mathbb{C}P(2)$  and we have already seen that adding this space to a triple cover of the bundle gives the quaternionic Kähler manifold  $G_2/SO(4)$ .

Similarly, the orbit of short roots in  $\mathfrak{g}_2^{\mathbb{C}}$  is a bundle over  $G_2/SO(4)$  whose tangent space splits as  $2S^3 + 2S^1$ . This time the closure contains another copy of  $G_2/SO(4)$  (this comes from the orbit of the long roots) and the completed manifold is  $\widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}_4(\mathbb{R}^7)$ . Regarding this manifold as  $\widetilde{\mathrm{Gr}}_3(\mathbb{R}^7)$ , it is natural to conjecture that

 $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\psi$  coincides with the standard  $G_2$ -calibration on  $\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}}_3(\mathbb{R}^7)$  (see the discussion of exceptional geometries in the next chapter for the definition of this calibration). The two copies of  $G_2/SO(4)$  would then consist of the associative and anti-associative 3-planes in  $\mathbb{R}^7 \cong \operatorname{Im} \mathbb{O}$ .

One might hope to use this type of procedure to construct other complete quaternionic Kähler manifolds which may not be Wolf spaces. For example, we have not yet given a description of the quaternionic Kähler manifold associated to the regular orbit of  $\mathfrak{sp}(2,\mathbb{C})$ . This is the bundle  $S^4$  over SO(5)/SO(3) and the closure is obtained by adjoining  $Gr_2(\mathbb{C}^4)/\mathbb{Z}_2$ . It is natural to ask whether there is a complete 12-dimensional quaternionic Kähler manifold with an open subset covering this manifold.

# Chapter 5

#### DIFFERENTIAL FORMS

This chapter is more in the nature of an appendix. The main purpose is to show that a quaternion-Hermitian manifold, of dimension at least 12, with a closed fundamental 4-form is quaternionic Kähler. (This result was announced in Swann, 1989.) The proof uses various techniques from representation theory which are discussed in the first section of this chapter whilst decomposing part of the exterior algebra of a quaternion-Hermitian manifold. Any notions not defined there may be found in Bröcker & tom Dieck (1985). The main result is then proved in the second section and the last section is devoted to discussion of related topics in exceptional Riemannian geometry.

#### 5.1 Representation Theory and Exterior Algebras

Recall that a quaternion-Hermitian manifold M is a 4n-manifold with structure group Sp(n) Sp(1). As remarked in Chapter 2, we may associate a bundle over M to each representation of Sp(n) Sp(1). In particular,  $T_{\mathbb{C}}M$  is the bundle  $E\otimes H$ , where E and H are the basic representations of Sp(n) and Sp(1), respectively, described in Chapter 2. Now Sp(n) Sp(1) is a subgroup of SO(4n), in fact, Gray (1969) shows that it is a maximal subgroup if n > 1 (if n = 1, then Sp(1) Sp(1) = SO(4)). Thus, by restriction, any SO(4n)-module decomposes as a direct sum of irreducible Sp(n) Sp(1)-modules. In particular,  $\Lambda^p_{\mathbb{C}}T^*M$  decomposes under the action of Sp(n) Sp(1). The Sp(n) Sp(1)-modules are the  $Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$ -modules in

which (-1, -1)-acts as the identity. Any irreducible  $Sp(n) \times Sp(1)$ -module is just a tensor product of an irreducible Sp(n)-module and an irreducible Sp(1)-module. The irreducible representations of  $Sp(1) \cong SU(2)$  are the symmetric powers  $S^rH$  of the basic Sp(1)-module H.

The irreducible Sp(n)-modules are determined by their dominant weights  $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ , where  $\lambda_i$  are positive integers with  $\lambda_1 \geq \lambda_2 \geq \cdots \geq \lambda_n$  (see Bröcker & tom Dieck, 1985). We write  $V^{(\dots)}$  for the irreducible Sp(n)-module of dominant weight  $(\dots)$ . In particular, we have

$$V^{(r0...)} \cong S^r E,$$
  
 $V^{(1...10...)} \cong \Lambda_0^r E,$ 

where (1...10...) has r ones and  $\Lambda_0^r E$  is the Sp(n)-invariant complement to the subspace  $\{\omega\}\Lambda^{r-2}E$  of  $\Lambda^r E$ , where  $\omega$  is the symplectic form preserved by Sp(n). We will also write K for  $V^{(210...)}$  which is a submodule of  $E\otimes \Lambda_0^2 E\cong K\oplus E$ .

The Weyl group  $\mathbf{W}$  of Sp(n) is  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \wr S_n$  and this acts on weights  $\lambda$  by permuting entries and flipping signs of entries. The weights of Sp(n) can be partially ordered as follows: for each weight  $\gamma$  there is an element w of  $\mathbf{W}$  such that  $\lambda = w\gamma$  has entries  $\lambda_i$  satisfying  $\lambda_1 \geqslant \lambda_2 \geqslant \cdots \geqslant \lambda_n \geqslant 0$ ; now  $\gamma \preccurlyeq \gamma'$  if for the corresponding  $\lambda$  and  $\lambda'$  we have  $\lambda_i \leqslant \lambda'_i$  for all i. To calculate the character of the Sp(n)-module of dominant weight  $\lambda$  we use the following result.

**Proposition 5.1.1.** (Kostant) Let W be an irreducible representation of a compact Lie group G with dominant weight  $\lambda$  and suppose  $\lambda' \prec \lambda$ . Then the multiplicity  $m(\lambda', \lambda)$  of  $\lambda'$  as a weight of W is given by

$$m(\lambda', \lambda) = -\sum_{w \in \mathbf{W} \setminus \{1\}} \det(w) \ m(\lambda' + \varrho - w(\varrho), \lambda),$$

where  $\varrho$  is half the sum of the positive roots.

For Sp(n) the element  $\varrho$  is (n, n-1, ..., 1). The results of some of these calculations will be given in Table 2.

**Theorem 5.1.2.** On a quaternion-Hermitian manifold M of dimension 4n we have

$$T_{\mathbb{C}}^*M \cong E \otimes H,$$
  
$$\Lambda_{\mathbb{C}}^2T^*M \cong \Lambda_0^2E \otimes S^2H + S^2H + S^2E.$$

If M has dimension at least 8, then

$$\begin{split} \Lambda^3_{\mathbb{C}} T^* M &\cong (\Lambda^3_0 E + E) \otimes S^3 H + (V^{(21)} + E) \otimes H, \\ \Lambda^4_{\mathbb{C}} T^* M &\cong (\Lambda^4_0 E + \Lambda^2_0 E + \mathbb{R}) \otimes S^4 H + (V^{(211)} + S^2 E + \Lambda^2_0 E) \otimes S^2 H \\ &+ V^{(22)} + \Lambda^2_0 E + \mathbb{R}. \end{split}$$

Also,

$$\Lambda^{5}_{\mathbb{C}} T^{*}\!M \cong \left\{ \begin{array}{l} (\Lambda^{5}_{0}E + \Lambda^{3}_{0}E + E) \otimes S^{5}\!H \\ \\ + (V^{(2111)} + V^{(21)} + \Lambda^{3}_{0}E + E) \otimes S^{3}\!H \\ \\ + (V^{(221)} + V^{(21)} + \Lambda^{3}_{0}E + E) \otimes H \qquad \text{if $\dim M \geqslant 12$,} \\ \\ E \otimes S^{3}\!H + (V^{(21)} + E) \otimes H \qquad \text{if $\dim M = 8$.} \end{array} \right.$$

(Here any module of length greater than n is to be regarded as the zero-module  $\{0\}$  and  $\mathbb{R}$  denotes  $\mathbb{C}$  together with a real structure.)

PROOF. The decompositions upto  $\Lambda^4$  have been given by Salamon (1989), so we will concentrate on the decomposition of  $\Lambda^5$ .

We will take  $n \ge 5$  to avoid special cases, but the results of the corresponding calculations in those other cases will be included in Table 2.

We compute with characters. During this proof, m runs over  $\{1, 2, ..., n\}$  and  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta, \epsilon$  run over  $\{\pm 1, \pm 2, ..., \pm n\}$ . Let  $t = \text{diag}(e^{i\theta_1}, ..., e^{i\theta_n}, e^{-i\theta_1}, ..., e^{-i\theta_n})$ ,  $t' = \text{diag}(e^{i\theta}, e^{-i\theta})$  be diagonal matrices representing typical elements of the maximal tori of Sp(n) and Sp(1) respectively. Let  $\chi_V$  denote the character of V. Then

$$\chi_{\Lambda_{\mathbb{C}}^p T^*M}(t \otimes t') = \sigma_p(e^{\pm i\theta_m \pm i\theta}),$$

where  $\sigma_p$  is the pth elementary symmetric polynomial (see Adams, 1967). This immediately gives the decomposition of Bonan (1982)

$$\Lambda^r_{\mathbb{C}} T^* M \cong \Lambda^r E S^r H \oplus \bigoplus_{1 \leqslant s \leqslant \left[\frac{r}{2}\right]} V^r_s S^{r-2s} H,$$

where  $V_s^r$  is are Sp(n)-modules. In particular, this gives

$$\Lambda_{\mathbb{C}}^5 T^*M \cong \Lambda^5 E S^5 H + V_1 S^3 H + V_2 H.$$

If we write  $\theta_{-a} = -\theta_a$ , then explicitly we have

$$\chi_{\Lambda_{\mathbb{C}}^{5}T^{*}M}(t \otimes t') = \sum_{\alpha < \beta < \gamma < \delta < \epsilon} e^{i(\theta_{\alpha} + \theta_{\beta} + \theta_{\gamma} + \theta_{\delta} + \theta_{\epsilon})}$$

$$\times \left\{ e^{5i\theta} + e^{-5i\theta} + 5(e^{3i\theta} + e^{-3i\theta}) + 10(e^{i\theta} + e^{-i\theta}) \right\}$$

$$+ \sum_{\substack{\gamma < \delta < \epsilon \\ \gamma, \delta, \epsilon \neq \beta}} e^{i(2\theta_{\beta} + \theta_{\gamma} + \theta_{\delta} + \theta_{\epsilon})} \left\{ e^{3i\theta} + e^{-3i\theta} + 3(e^{i\theta} + e^{-i\theta}) \right\}$$

$$+ \sum_{\substack{\beta < \gamma \\ \beta, \gamma \neq \epsilon}} e^{i(2\theta_{\beta} + 2\theta_{\gamma} + \theta_{\epsilon})} \left\{ e^{i\theta} + e^{-i\theta} \right\}.$$

The character of  $S^rH$  is  $\chi_{S^rH}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^r e^{i(r-2j)\theta}$ , so

$$\chi_{V_1}(t \otimes t') = \sum_{\substack{\gamma < \delta < \epsilon \\ \gamma, \delta, \epsilon \neq \beta}} e^{i(2\theta_{\beta} + \theta_{\gamma} + \theta_{\delta} + \theta_{\epsilon})} + 4 \sum_{\alpha < \beta < \gamma < \delta < \epsilon} e^{i(\theta_{\alpha} + \theta_{\beta} + \theta_{\gamma} + \theta_{\delta} + \theta_{\epsilon})}$$

$$\chi_{V_2}(t \otimes t') = \sum_{\substack{\beta < \gamma \\ \beta, \gamma \neq \epsilon}} e^{i(2\theta_{\beta} + 2\theta_{\gamma} + \theta_{\epsilon})} + 2 \sum_{\substack{\gamma < \delta < \epsilon \\ \gamma, \delta, \epsilon \neq \beta}} e^{i(2\theta_{\beta} + \theta_{\gamma} + \theta_{\delta} + \theta_{\epsilon})}$$

$$+ 5 \sum_{\alpha < \beta < \gamma < \delta < \epsilon} e^{i(\theta_{\alpha} + \theta_{\beta} + \theta_{\gamma} + \theta_{\delta} + \theta_{\epsilon})}$$

We introduce the following notation

$$(a_1 \, a_2 \, a_3 \, \dots) = \sum_{\substack{\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3, \dots \text{ distinct} \\ \alpha_j < \alpha_k \text{ if } a_j = a_k \text{ and } j < k}} e^{i(\pm a_1 \theta_{\alpha_1} \pm a_2 \theta_{\alpha_2} \pm a_3 \theta_{\alpha_3} \pm \dots)}.$$

The multiplicities with which  $(a_1 a_2 a_3 ...)$  occur in the above expressions for  $\chi_{V_i}$  are the multiplicities with which the weight  $(a_1, a_2, a_3, ..., 0, ..., 0)$  occurs in the modules  $V_i$ . Rearranging those expressions gives

$$\sum_{\alpha < \beta < \gamma < \delta < \epsilon} e^{i(\theta_{\alpha} + \theta_{\beta} + \theta_{\gamma} + \theta_{\delta} + \theta_{\epsilon})} = (11111) + (n-3)(111) + \frac{1}{2}(n-1)(n-2)(1)$$

$$\sum_{\substack{\gamma < \delta < \epsilon \\ \gamma, \delta, \epsilon \neq \beta}} e^{i(2\theta_{\beta} + \theta_{\gamma} + \theta_{\delta} + \theta_{\epsilon})} = (2111) + 3(111) + (n-2)(21) + (n-1)(1)$$

$$\sum_{\substack{\beta < \gamma \\ \beta \ \gamma \neq \epsilon}} e^{i(2\theta_{\beta} + 2\theta_{\gamma} + \theta_{\epsilon})} = (221) + (21) + (n-1)(1).$$

So we obtain the multiplicities given in Table 2 and the decompositions claimed above.  $\Box$ 

		Weight									
		(221)	(2111)	(11111)	(21)	(111)	(1)				
$V_1$	$n \geqslant 5$			4			(n-1)(2n-3)				
	$ \begin{vmatrix} n = 4 \\ n = 3 \end{vmatrix} $		1		2 1	$7 \\ 3$	15				
	n=2						1				
$V_2$	$n \geqslant 5$		2	5			$\frac{1}{2}(n-1)(5n-4)$				
	n=4	l	2		5	11	24				
	n=3	1			3	6	11				
	n=2				1		3				
$V^{(221)}$	$n \geqslant 5$	1	2	5	2(n-2)	5n - 12	$\frac{5}{2}(n-1)(n-2)$				
	n=4	1	2		4	8	15				
	n=3	1			2	3	5				
$V^{(2111)}$	$n \geqslant 5$		1	4	n-3	4(n-3)	2(n-3)(n-1)				
	n=4		1		1	4	5				
K	$n \geqslant 3$				1	2	2(n-1)				
	n=2				1		$\frac{1}{2}$				
$\Lambda_0^3 E$	$n \geqslant 3$					1	n-2				
E	$n \geqslant 1$						1				

If M is a quaternion-Hermitian 8-manifold then the Hodge \*-operator splits  $\Lambda^4_{\mathbb{C}}T^*M$  into its  $\pm 1$ -eigenspaces  $\Lambda^4_{\pm}$ . These decompose as

$$\Lambda_+^4 \cong \mathbb{R} + S^4 H + \Lambda_0^2 E \otimes S^2 H + V^{(22)},$$
  
$$\Lambda_-^4 \cong \Lambda_0^2 E + S^2 E \otimes S^2 H.$$

#### 5.2 The Fundamental 4-Form

For a quaternion-Hermitian manifold  $M^{4n}$  (n > 1), SO(4n) acts on the fundamental 4-form  $\Omega$  with stabiliser the maximal subgroup Sp(n) Sp(1). Differentiation gives a map  $\mathfrak{so}(4n) \to \Lambda^4$  whose kernel is  $\mathfrak{sp}(n) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1)$ . We thus have an inclusion of the orthogonal complement of  $\mathfrak{sp}(n) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1)$  in  $\mathfrak{so}(4n)$ ,

$$(\mathfrak{sp}(n) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1))^{\perp_{\mathfrak{so}}} \hookrightarrow \Lambda^4 T^* M.$$

**Proposition 5.2.1.** If  $\nabla$  is the Levi-Civita connection and  $X \in T_xM$ , then

$$\nabla_X \Omega \in (\mathfrak{sp}(n) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1))^{\perp} \cong \Lambda_0^2 E S^2 H.$$

PROOF. Let  $\tilde{\nabla}$  be an  $Sp(n)\,Sp(1)$ -connection, not necessarily torsion-free. If we let  $\xi_X = \nabla_X - \tilde{\nabla}_X$ , then  $\xi_X$  is a tensor which is zero on functions and such that  $\xi_X\Omega = \nabla_X\Omega$ . But  $\xi_X$  is in  $\mathfrak{so}(4n)$ , since the holonomy group of M is a subgroup of SO(4n), so  $\nabla_X\Omega$  lies in  $(\mathfrak{sp}(n) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1))^{\perp}$ .

Now

$$\mathfrak{so}(4n) \cong \Lambda^2 T^*M \cong S^2 E \oplus S^2 H \oplus \Lambda_0^2 E S^2 H$$
  
$$\cong \mathfrak{sp}(n) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1) \oplus \Lambda_0^2 E S^2 H.$$

So 
$$(\mathfrak{sp}(n) \oplus \mathfrak{sp}(1))^{\perp} \cong \Lambda_0^2 E S^2 H$$
.

From this it follows that  $\nabla \Omega \in T^* \otimes \Lambda_0^2 ES^2 H$ .

**Proposition 5.2.2.** On a quaternion-Hermitian manifold of dimension at least 8,

$$\nabla \Omega \in (K + \Lambda_0^3 E + E) \otimes (S^3 H + H).$$

(On an 8-manifold, 
$$\Lambda_0^3 E = \{0\}$$
.)

Notice that each of these six terms appears in the decomposition of  $\Lambda^5 T^*M$  when dim  $M \geqslant 12$ , but that  $KS^3H$  is absent from this decomposition for an 8-manifold.

Since  $\nabla$  is the Levi-Civita connection,  $d\Omega = \mathbf{a}\nabla\Omega$ , where  $\mathbf{a}$  is the alternation map  $T^* \otimes \Lambda^4 T^* \to \Lambda^5 T^*$ . Now, by Schur's Lemma, when  $\dim M \geqslant 12$ , to show that  $d\Omega$  determines  $\nabla\Omega$  it is sufficient to check that  $\mathbf{a}$  is non-zero on each of the six components above.

**Theorem 5.2.3.** If M is a quaternion-Hermitian manifold of dimension at least 12, then  $d\Omega$  determines  $\nabla\Omega$ . In particular,  $d\Omega = 0$  implies  $\nabla\Omega = 0$  and that M is quaternionic Kähler.

PROOF. Let  $e_1, \ldots, e_n, \tilde{e_1}, \ldots, \tilde{e_n}$  be a basis for  $E, h, \tilde{h}$  a basis of H such that  $\tilde{e_i} = je_i$  and  $\tilde{h} = jh$ . Consider

$$\alpha_{12} = e_1 h \wedge e_2 h \wedge \sum_{i=1}^n e_i \tilde{h} \wedge \tilde{e_i} \tilde{h} - e_1 \tilde{h} \wedge e_2 \tilde{h} \wedge \sum_{i=1}^n e_i h \wedge \tilde{e_i} h.$$

The symplectic form on E is given by  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} e_i \tilde{e_i} - \tilde{e_i} e_i$ , so contracting with the symplectic form on the E-components of the third and fourth terms gives

$$e_1 \wedge e_2(hh\tilde{h}\tilde{h} - \tilde{h}\tilde{h}hh) \in \Lambda_0^2 E \otimes \Lambda^2 S^2 H \cong \Lambda_0^2 E S^2 H.$$

So  $\alpha_{12} \in \Lambda_0^2 ES^2 H$ . Now

$$\mathbf{a}(e_3h \otimes \alpha_{12}) = (e_3e_1e_2 - e_3e_2e_1)h\tilde{h}h + (e_2e_3e_1 - e_1e_3e_2)\tilde{h}hh + e_1 \wedge e_2 \wedge e_3hh\tilde{h}$$

having applied the contraction above and contracting the third and fifth H-components. But this has non-zero components in  $KS^3H$ , KH,  $\Lambda_0^3ES^3H$  and  $\Lambda_0^3EH$ .

To get components in  $E(S^3H + H)$ , consider

$$\mathbf{a}\bigg(\sum_{i=1}^n \tilde{e_i}h \otimes \sum_{j=1}^n \alpha_{j2}\bigg),\,$$

where  $\alpha_{j2}$  is defined in the same way as  $\alpha_{12}$ , but with  $e_1$  replaced by  $e_j$ .

Thus  $\mathbf{a}$  is non-zero on all six components, as required.

Because all the representations above were complex we see that the above theorem also holds for pseudo-quaternion-Hermitian manifolds.

Corollary 5.2.4. If M is a pseudo-quaternion-Hermitian manifold of dimension at least 12, then  $d\Omega$  determines  $\nabla\Omega$ .

A natural question after the above results is whether there are any complete 8-dimensional (pseudo-) quaternion-Hermitian manifolds for which  $d\Omega$  vanishes but  $\nabla\Omega$  is non-zero. These conditions imply that  $\nabla\Omega$  lies in  $KS^3H$ . This question has an analogue in symplectic geometry where one looks for manifolds which are symplectic but not Kähler. Compact examples of such symplectic manifolds were first obtained by Thurston (1976) whose methods were generalised by Cordero et al. (1985a, b, 1986) and by Fernández & Gray (1985). Simply-connected examples have been produced by McDuff (1984).

The decomposition of  $\nabla\Omega$  in Proposition 5.2.2 can be used to study various types of quaternion-Hermitian manifolds. For example, the components of  $\nabla\Omega$  in

 $(K + \Lambda_0^3 E) \otimes (S^3 H + H)$  vanish if and only if the algebraic ideal generated by the subbundle  $\mathcal{G}$  of  $\Lambda^2 T^* M$  is a differential ideal. This is because the covariant derivative of a section  $\alpha$  of  $\mathcal{G}$  lies in

$$\mathcal{G} \wedge T^*M \cong ES^3H \oplus EH$$

modulo terms arising from  $\nabla\Omega\otimes\alpha$ . Combining this with the theorem above we have.

**Proposition 5.2.5.** A pseudo-quaternion-Hermitian 8-manifold is pseudo-quaternionic Kähler if and only if the fundamental 4-form is closed and the algebraic ideal generated by  $\mathcal{G}$  is a differential ideal.

Note that the discussion in Chapter 2 gives examples of complete quaternion-Hermitian metrics (on H) for which the differential ideal condition is satisfied but which are not quaternionic Kähler. A variation of the above argument shows that the components of  $\nabla\Omega$  involving  $S^3H$  all vanish if and only if M is quaternionic in the sense defined in Chapter 1. The metrics of Chapter 2 satisfying the differential ideal condition, all lie in the same quaternionic structure and so have  $\nabla\Omega$  in the module EH.

### 5.3 Relationship to Exceptional Geometries

From the point of view of holonomy classification there are two exceptional Riemannian geometries which occur on non-homogeneous manifolds. The first of these has holonomy in  $G_2 \subset SO(7)$ . Let  $e^1, \ldots, e^7$  be an orthonormal dual basis for  $\mathbb{R}^7$ . The group  $G_2$  is then characterised as the stabiliser in  $GL(7,\mathbb{R})$  of the 3-form

$$\varphi = e^1 e^2 e^5 - e^3 e^4 e^5 + e^1 e^3 e^6 - e^4 e^2 e^6 + e^1 e^4 e^7 - e^2 e^3 e^7 + e^5 e^6 e^7.$$

The other group that occurs is  $Spin(7) \subset SO(8)$ . Again this is may be characterised as follows: if we extend the dual basis  $e^i$  to  $\mathbb{R}^8$  then Spin(7) is the stabiliser in  $GL(8,\mathbb{R})$  of the 4-form

$$\begin{split} \psi &= e^1 e^2 e^5 e^8 - e^3 e^4 e^5 e^8 + e^1 e^3 e^6 e^8 - e^4 e^2 e^6 e^8 + e^1 e^4 e^7 e^8 - e^2 e^3 e^7 e^8 + e^5 e^6 e^7 e^8 \\ &\quad + e^1 e^2 e^3 e^4 - e^1 e^2 e^6 e^7 + e^3 e^4 e^6 e^7 - e^1 e^3 e^7 e^5 + e^4 e^2 e^7 e^5 - e^1 e^4 e^5 e^6 + e^2 e^3 e^5 e^6 \\ &= \varphi \wedge e^8 + *_7 \varphi. \end{split}$$

For comparison, the form preserved by Sp(2) is

$$\Omega = \omega_I \wedge \omega_I + \omega_J \wedge \omega_J + \omega_K \wedge \omega_K$$

$$= 3(e^1 e^2 e^3 e^4 + e^5 e^6 e^7 e^8) + e^1 e^2 e^5 e^6 + e^1 e^2 e^7 e^8 + e^3 e^4 e^5 e^6 + e^3 e^4 e^7 e^8 + e^1 e^3 e^5 e^7$$

$$+ e^1 e^3 e^8 e^6 + e^4 e^2 e^5 e^7 + e^4 e^2 e^8 e^6 + e^1 e^4 e^5 e^8 + e^1 e^4 e^6 e^7 + e^2 e^3 e^5 e^8 + e^2 e^3 e^6 e^7.$$

If the sign in front of  $\omega_K \wedge \omega_K$  is changed, then the new 4-form obtained is  $\psi$  but with  $e^8 \mapsto e^7 \mapsto e^6 \mapsto e^5 \mapsto e^4 \mapsto e^3 \mapsto e^2 \mapsto e^1 \mapsto -e^8$ . This fact was first observed by Bryant & Harvey (1989) and reflects the inclusion  $Sp(2) \subset Spin(7)$ .

The forms  $\varphi$ ,  $\psi$  and  $\Omega$  are non-degenerate in the sense that they cannot be written as a smaller sum of indecomposables than the expressions above. Thus, 7 indecomposable 3-forms are required for  $\varphi$  and 14 indecomposable 4-forms are required for  $\psi$  and  $\Omega$ . In fact, they are maximally non-degenerate, in that no other forms of the same degree can require more indecomposable summands. This can be shown as follows. Let M(r,n) be an upper bound for the number of indecomposables required for an element of  $\Lambda^r \mathbb{R}^n$ . If  $\alpha \in \Lambda^r \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $e^1 \in \Lambda^1 \mathbb{R}^n$  then, upto constants,

$$\alpha = e^1 \wedge (e^1 \lrcorner \alpha) + e^1 \lrcorner (e^1 \wedge \alpha).$$

So  $M(r,n) \leq M(r-1,n-1) + M(n-r-1,n-1)$ , since  $*(e^1 \wedge \alpha) \in \Lambda^{n-r-1}\mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ . Also, by Hodge \*-duality, M(r,n) = M(n-r,n). Putting M(0,n) = M(1,n) = 1 and  $M(2,n) = \left[\frac{n}{2}\right]$  we obtain the following bounds

3

4

 $n \setminus r$  0 1 2

•					
1	1	1			
2	1	1	1		
3	1	1	1	1	
4	1	1	2	1	1
5	1	1	2	2	1
6	1	1	3	4	3
7	1	1	3	7	7
8	1	1	4	10	14

as claimed.

Classification of manifolds with structure group either  $G_2$  or Spin(7) has been carried out by Fernández (1986) and Fernández & Gray (1982). Various metrics with exceptional holonomy have been produced by Bryant (1984, 1987), Salamon (1987) and Bryant & Salamon (1989). We can reproduce one of their Spin(7) metrics using the techniques of Chapter 2. Recall that in the proof of the existence of quaternionic Kähler manifolds we derived the equations for closure of the 4-form

$$\Xi = A(\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} \wedge \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}) + B(\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} \wedge x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta\bar{x} + x\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta\bar{x} \wedge \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}) + Cr^4(\bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta \wedge \bar{\theta}^t \wedge \theta).$$

We showed that this was closed if and only if

$$-\frac{3c}{r^2}A + \frac{3}{r^2}B + B' = 0$$

and

$$-\frac{2c}{r^2}B + \frac{2}{r^2}C + C' = 0.$$

If we put  $A = f^2$ , B = 3fg and  $C = g^2$  then  $\Xi$  is the type of 4-form defining a Spin(7)-structure. Bryant now tells us that if we show  $\Xi$  is closed then we have a metric with holonomy in Spin(7).

**Theorem 5.3.1.** The bundle  $H/\mathbb{Z}_2$  over a self-dual Einstein 4-manifold carries a metric of holonomy Spin(7) with 4-form

$$(r^{2})^{-8/5} \left( \frac{q^{2}}{25c^{2}} (pr^{2} + q)^{-4/5} (\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} \wedge \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}) - \frac{3q}{5c} (pr^{2} + q)^{1/5} (\alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha} \wedge x \bar{\theta}^{t} \wedge \theta \bar{x} + x \bar{\theta}^{t} \wedge \theta \bar{x} \wedge \alpha \wedge \bar{\alpha}) + (pr^{2} + q)^{6/5} (x \bar{\theta}^{t} \wedge \theta \bar{x} \wedge x \bar{\theta}^{t} \wedge \theta \bar{x}) \right).$$

There is a similar result that shows that the holonomy is contained in  $G_2$  if  $d\varphi = 0 = d^*\varphi$ , which is used to construct metrics with holonomy  $G_2$  on  $\Lambda^2_-$  of a self-dual Einstein 4-manifold.

A common feature of the metrics obtained via these bundle constructions is that they admit an  $\mathbb{R}$ -action. Let the closed differential form associated to the geometry in question be  $\alpha$ . Then if X is the vector field generated by this action, we have  $L_X \alpha = \alpha$ . This implies

$$\alpha = L_X \alpha = X \rfloor d\alpha + d(X \rfloor \alpha) = d(X \rfloor \alpha),$$

and so  $\alpha$  is exact.

The 4-form  $\frac{1}{3}\Omega$  on a quaternionic Kähler manifold  $M^{4n}$  is a example of a calibration, that is, for any oriented orthonormal set  $e_1, \ldots, e_4$  of  $T_xM$  we have

 $|\frac{1}{3}\Omega(e_1, e_2, e_3, e_4)| \leq 1$  (see Harvey & Lawson, 1982, and Harvey, 1989). Dadok et al. (1988) have classified all self-dual, constant coefficient calibrations on  $\mathbb{R}^8$  and a natural question that arises is which submanifolds they determine. Submanifolds of quaternionic Kähler manifolds are rare; Gray (1969) showed that a quaternionic submanifold of any quaternionic Kähler manifold is necessarily totally geodesic. However, one can look for submanifolds M of a quaternionic Kähler manifold for which the pull-back of the fundamental 4-form has the correct algebraic type (at least if dim  $M \geq 12$ ). For example, the existence of such quaternionic Kähler deformations  $(M_t, \Omega_t)$  of a flat subspace  $M_0 = \mathbb{H}^n$  of  $\mathbb{H}^m$  can in principle be tackled by Cartan-Kähler theory. Observe that in the decomposition

$$\Lambda^4 T^* M = \mathbb{R} \oplus \Lambda_0^2 E S^2 H \oplus \Lambda_0^2 E \oplus S^2 E S^2 H \oplus W,$$

the first four summands constitute the  $\mathfrak{gl}(4n,\mathbb{R})$ -orbit of  $\Omega$ , so the first order equations of deformation are determined by the condition that  $\dot{\Omega} = \frac{d\Omega}{dt}\big|_{t=0}$  have zero component in W.

- Adams, J.F., 1967, "Lectures on Lie Groups," W.A. Benjamin, New York.
- Alekseevskiĭ, D.V., 1968, Riemannian Manifolds with Exceptional Holonomy Groups, Funcktional Anal. i Priložen, 2(2), 1–10 (English translation: Funct. Anal. Appl., 2, 97–105, 1968); Compact Quaternion Spaces, Funcktional Anal. i Priložen, 2(2), 11–20 (English translation: Funct. Anal. Appl., 2, 106–114, 1968).
- Alekseevskiĭ, D.V., 1970, Quaternion Riemannian Spaces with Transitive Reductive or Solvable Group of Motions, Funcktional Anal. i Priložen, 4(4), 68–69 (English translation: Funct. Anal. Appl., 4, 321–322, 1970).
- Alekseevskii, D.V., 1975, Classification of Quaternionic Spaces with a Transitive Solvable Group of Motions, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat., 9(2), 315–362 (English translation: Math. USSR-Izv., 9, 297–339, 1975).
- Arnol'd, V.I., 1978, "Mathematical Methods of Classical Mechanics," translated by K. Vogtmann & A. Weinstein, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, **60**, Springer-Verlag.
- Atiyah, M.F., Hitchin, N.J., & Singer, I.M., 1978a, Self-Duality in Four-Dimensional Riemannian Geometry, Proc. Roy. Soc. London, A362, 425–461.
- Atiyah, M.F., Drinfeld, D.G., Hitchin, N.J., & Manin, Y.I., 1978b, Construction of Instantons, Phys. Lett., A65, 185–187.
- Atiyah, M.F., & Bott, R., 1982, The Yang-Mills Equations Over Riemann Surfaces, Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. London, A308, 523–615.
- Atiyah, M.F., & Hitchin, N.J., 1988, "The Geometry and Dynamics of Magnetic Monopoles," Princeton University Press, New Jersey.
- Bagger, J., & Witten, E., 1983, Matter Couplings in N=2 Supergravity, Nuclear Physics, B222, 1–10.
- Bala, P., & Carter, R.W., 1974, The Classification of Unipotent and Nilpotent Elements, Indag. Math., 36, 94–97.
- Beauville, A., 1983, Variétés Kähleriennes dont la 1ère Classe de Chern est Nulle, J. Diff. Geom., 18, 755-782.

- Berger, M, 1955, Sur les Groupes d'Holonomie Homogène des Variétés à Connexion Affine et des Variétés Riemanniennes, Bull. Soc. Math. France, 83, 279–330.
- Besse, A.L., 1987, "Einstein Manifolds," Springer-Verlag.
- Bonan, E., 1982, Sur l'algèbre extérieure d'une variété presque hermitienne quaternionique, C. R. Acad. Sc. Paris, 295, 115–118; 1983, 296, 601–602.
- Brieskorn, E., 1970, Singular Elements of Semisimple Algebraic Groups, in "Actes Congrès Intern. Math.," Nice, t. 2, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 279–284.
- Brinkman, H.W., 1925, Einstein Spaces Which are Mapped Conformally on Each Other, Math. Ann., **94**, 119–145.
- Bröcker, T., & tom Dieck, T., 1985, "Representations of Compact Lie Groups," Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 98, Springer-Verlag.
- Bryant, R.L., 1984, Metrics with Holonomy  $G_2$  or Spin(7), in "Arbeitstagung, Bonn 1984, Proceedings," (Ed. by F. Hirzebruch, J. Schwermer & S. Suter), Lecture Notes in Mathematics, **1111**, Springer-Verlag, 269–277.
- Bryant, R.L., 1987, Metrics with Exceptional Holonomy, Annals of Math., 126, 525–576.
- Bryant, R.L., & Harvey, R., 1989, Submanifolds in HyperKähler Geometry, to appear in Amer. J. Math.
- Bryant, R.L., & Salamon, S.M., 1989, On the Construction of some Complete Metrics with Exceptional Holonomy, Duke Math. J., 58, 829–850.
- Buccella, F., Della Selva, A., & Sciarino, A., 1989, Octonians and Subalgebras of the Exceptional Algebras, J. Math. Phys., 30, 585–593.
- Burstall, F., 1989, Minimal Surfaces in Quaternionic Symmetric Spaces, to appear in the "Proceedings of the Durham-LMS Symposium, 1989."
- Calabi, E., 1979, *Métriques Kählériennes et Fibrés Holomorphes*, Ann. Scient. Ec. Norm. Sup., 4<sup>e</sup> sér., **12**, 269–294.
- Calabi, E., 1980, Isometric Families of Kähler Structures, in "The Chern Symposium, 1979," (Ed. by W.-Y. Hsiang, et al.), Springer-Verlag, 23–39.
- Carter, R.W., 1985, "Finite Groups of Lie Type: Conjugacy Classes and Complex Characters," John Wiley & Sons.
- Cordero, L.A., Fernández, M., & Gray, A., 1985a, Variétés Symplectiques sans structures Kählériennes, Comptes Rendues de l'Acad. Sci., Paris, **301**, 217–218.

- Cordero, L.A., Fernández, M., & de León, M., 1985b, Examples of compact non-Kähler almost Kähler manifolds, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 95, 280–286.
- Cordero, L.A., Fernández, M., & Gray, A., 1986, Symplectic Manifolds with no Kähler Structure, Topology, 25, 375–380.
- Dadok, J., Harvey, R., & Morgan, F., 1988, *Calibrations on*  $\mathbb{R}^8$ , Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., **307**, 1–40.
- Donaldson, S.K., & Friedman, R., 1989, Connected Sums of Self-Dual Manifolds and Deformations of Singular Spaces, Nonlinearity, 2, 197–239.
- Dynkin, E.B., 1952, Semisimple Subalgebras of Semisimple Lie algebras, Mat. Sbomik N. S., **30**(72), 349–462 (English translation: AMS Translations, Ser. 2, **6**, 111–244, 1957).
- Fernández, M., & Gray, A., 1982, Riemannian Manifolds with Structure Group  $G_2$ , Annali di Matematica Pura ed Applicata (IV), **32**, 19–45.
- Fernández, M., & Gray, A., 1985, *The Iwasawa Manifold*, in "Differential Geometry, Peñíscola 1985, Proceedings," (Ed. by A. Naveira, A. Ferrandez & F. Mascaro), Lecture Notes in Mathematics, **1209**, Springer-Verlag.
- Fernández, M., 1986, A Classification of Riemannian Manifolds with Structure Group Spin(7), Annali di Matematica Pura ed Applicata (IV), 143, 101–122.
- Fujiki, A., 1983, On Primitively Symplectic Compact Kähler V-manifolds of Dimension Four, in "Classification of Algebraic and Analytic Manifolds," (Ed. by Ueno), Progress in Math., 39, Birkhäuser.
- Futaki, A., 1988, "Kähler-Einstein Metrics and Integral Invariants," Lecture Notes in Mathematics, **1314**, Springer-Verlag.
- Galicki, K., 1986, Quaternionic Kähler and HyperKähler Non-linear σ-Models, Nuclear Physics, B**271**, 402–416.
- Galicki, K., 1987, A Generalization of the Momentum Mapping Construction for Quaternionic Kähler Manifolds, Comm. Math. Phys., 108, 117–138.
- Galicki, K., & Lawson, H.B., 1988, Quaternionic Reduction and Quaternionic Orbifolds, Math. Ann., 282, 1–21.
- Gibbons, G.W., & Hawking, S.W., 1978, Gravitational Multi-instantons, Phys. Lett., B78, 430–432.
- Gibbons, G.W., & Pope, C.N., 1979, The Positive Action Conjecture and Asymptotically Euclidean Metrics in Quantum Gravity, Comm. Math. Phys., 66, 267–290.

- Gindikin, S.G., 1982a, Bunches of Differential Forms and the Einstein Equation, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys., **36**, 313–319.
- Gindikin, S.G., 1982b, *Integral Geometry and Twistors*, in "Twistor Geometry and Non-Linear Systems, Proceedings, Primorsko, 1980," (Ed. by H.D. Doebner & T.D. Palev), Lecture Notes in Mathematics, **970**, Springer-Verlag, 2–42.
- Gindikin, S.G., 1986, *Ob Odnoi Kronstrukstii Giperkėlerovykh Metric*, Funcktional Anal. i Priložen, **20**(3), 82–83.
- Gray, A., 1969, A Note on Manifolds Whose Holonomy Group is a Subgroup of  $Sp(n) \cdot Sp(1)$ , Mich. Math. J., **16**, 125–128; 1970, **17**, 409.
- Gray, A., & Wolf, J.A., 1968, Homogeneous Spaces Defined by Lie Group Automorphisms, I, J. Diff. Geom., 2, 77–114.
- Griffiths, P., & Harris, J., 1978, "Principles of Algebraic Geometry," John Wiley & Sons.
- Guillemin, V., & Sternberg, S., 1984, "Symplectic Techniques in Physics," Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Hartshorne, R., 1977, "Algebraic Geometry," Graduate Texts in Mathematics, **52**, Springer-Verlag.
- Harvey, R., & Lawson, H.B., 1982, Calibrated Geometries, Acta Math., 148, 47–157.
- Harvey, R., 1989, "Spinors and Calibrations," in preparation.
- Hitchin, N.J., 1974, Compact Four-dimensional Einstein Manifolds, J. Diff. Geom., 9, 435–441.
- Hitchin, N.J., 1979, Polygons and Gravitons, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc., 85, 465–476.
- Hitchin, N.J., 1981, Kählerian Twistor Spaces, Proc. London Math. Soc., 43, 133–150.
- Hitchin, N.J., 1986, Metrics on Moduli Spaces, in the "Lefschetz Centennial Conference. Part I: Proceedings on Algebraic Geometry, Mexico City, 1984," (Ed. by D. Sundararaman), Contemporary Mathematics, 58, AMS, Providence, R.I., 157–178.
- Hitchin, N.J., 1987, The Self-Duality Equations on a Riemann Surface, Proc. London Math. Soc., **55**, 59–126.
- Hitchin, N.J., Karlhede, A., Lindström, U., & Roček, M., 1987, HyperKähler Metrics and Supersymmetry, Comm. Math. Phys., 108, 535–589.
- Hitchin, N.J., 1988, Hypersymplectic Quotients, Preprint.

- Hörmander, L., 1966, "An Introduction to Complex Analysis in Several Variables," Van Nostrand Reinhold Co., New York.
- Ishihara, S., 1974, Quaternion Kählerian Manifolds, J. Diff. Geom., 9, 483–500.
- Jensen, G., 1973, Einstein Metrics in Principal Fibre Bundles, J. Diff. Geom., 8, 599–614.
- Kirillov, A.A., 1972, "Elements of the Theory of Representations," Springer-Verlag.
- Kobayashi, S., 1959, Remarks on Complex Contact Manifolds, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., **10**, 164–167.
- Kobayashi, S., & Nomizu, K., 1963, "Foundations of Differential Geometry," 2 volumes, John Wiley & Sons.
- Kobayashi, S., 1972, "Transformation Groups in Differential Geometry," Springer-Verlag.
- Kodaira, K., 1962, A Theorem of Completeness of Characteristic Systems for Analytic Families of Compact Submanifolds of Complex Manifolds, Ann. Math., 75, 146–162.
- Kohn, J.J., 1963, Harmonic Integrals on Strongly Pseudo-Convex Manifolds, I, Ann. Math., 78, 112–148.
- Kostant, B., 1959, The Principal Three-dimensional Subgroup and the Betti Numbers of a Complex Simple Lie Group, Amer. J. Math., 81, 973–1032.
- Kraft, H., & Procesi, C., 1982, On the Geometry of Conjugacy Classes in Classical Groups, Comment. Math. Helv., 57, 539–602.
- Kraft, H., 1988, Closures of Conjugacy Classes in  $G_2$ , Preprint.
- Kronheimer, P.B., 1988, Instantons and the Geometry of the Nilpotent Variety, Preprint.
- Kronheimer, P.B., 1989a, The Construction of ALE Spaces as HyperKähler Quotients, J. Diff. Geom., 29, 665–683; A Torelli-type Theorem for Gravitational Instantons, J. Diff. Geom., 29, 685–697.
- Kronheimer, P.B., 1989b, A HyperKählerian Structure on Coadjoint Orbits of a Semisimple Complex Group, Preprint.
- Lang, S., 1984, "Algebra," Second edition, Addison-Wesley.
- LeBrun, C., 1983, Spaces of Complex Null Geodesics in Complex-Riemannian Geometry, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 278, 209–231.
- LeBrun, C., 1989, Quaternionic Kähler Manifolds and Conformal Geometry, Math. Ann., 284, 353–376.

- LeBrun, C., 1990, Private communication.
- Levasseur, T., & Smith, S.P., 1988, Primitive Ideals and Nilpotent Orbits in Type  $G_2$ , J. Algebra, 114, 81–105.
- McDuff, D., 1984, Examples of Simply-Connected Symplectic non-Kählerian Manifolds, J. Diff. Geom., **20**, 267–277.
- Maciocia, A., 1989, Metrics on the Moduli Spaces of Instantons Over Euclidean 4-Space, Preprint.
- Marchiafava, S., & Romani, G., 1976, Sui fibrati con Struttura Quaternionale Generalizzata, Annali di Matematica Pura ed Applicata (IV), 107, 131–157.
- Marchiafava, S., 1990, Private Communication.
- Marsden, J., & Weinstein, A., 1974, Reduction of Symplectic Manifolds with Symmetry, Rep. Math. Phys., 5, 121–130.
- Mukai, S., 1984, Symplectic Structure on the Moduli Space of Sheaves on an Abelian or K3 Surface, Invent. Math., 77, 101–116.
- Mumford, D., & Fogarty, J., 1982, Geometric Invariant Theory, Second edition, Springer-Verlag.
- Myers, S.B., 1935, Riemannian Manifolds in the Large, Duke Math. J., 1, 39–49.
- Newlander, A., & Nirenberg, L., 1957, Complex Analytic Coordinates in Almost Complex Manifolds, Ann. Math., 65, 391–404.
- Nitta, T., & Takeuchi, M., 1987, Contact Structures on Twistor Spaces, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 39, 139–162.
- Obata, M., 1956, Affine Connections on Manifolds with Almost Complex, Quaternion or Hermitian Structure, Jap. J. Math., 26, 43.
- O'Neill, B. 1966, The Fundamental Equations of a Submersion, Mich. Math. J., 13, 459–469.
- Page, D.N., & Pope, C.N., 1986, Einstein Metrics on Quaternionic Line Bundles, Class. Quant. Grav., 3, 249–259.
- Pedersen, H., & Poon, Y.S., 1989, Twistorial Construction of Quaternionic Manifolds, Preprint.
- Poon, Y.S., 1986, Compact Self-Dual Manifolds of Positive Scalar Curvature, J. Diff. Geom., 24, 97–132.
- Poon, Y.S., & Salamon, S.M., 1989, Eight-dimensional Quaternionic Kähler Manifolds with Positive Scalar Curvature, Preprint.

- Salamon, S.M., 1982, Quaternionic Kähler Manifolds, Invent. Math., 67, 143–171.
- Salamon, S.M., 1984, *Harmonic 4-spaces*, Math. Ann., **269**, 169–178.
- Salamon, S.M., 1986, Differential Geometry of Quaternionic Manifolds, Ann. Scient. Éc. Norm. Sup., 19, 31–55.
- Salamon, S.M., 1987, Self-duality and Exceptional Geometry, in the proceedings of "Topology and its Applications, Baku, 1987."
- Salamon, S.M., 1989, "Riemannian Geometry and Holonomy Groups," Pitman Res. Notes in Math., **201**, Longman.
- Shioda, T., 1967, On the Graded Ring of Invariants of Binary Octavics, Amer. J. Math., 89, 1022–1046.
- Simons, J., 1962, On the Transitivity of Holonomy Systems, Ann. Math., **76**, 213–234.
- Singer, I.M., & Thorpe, J.A., 1969, *The Curvature of 4-dimensional Einstein Spaces*, in "Global Analysis, Papers in honour of K. Kodaira," (Ed. by D.C. Spencer & S. Iyanaga), Princeton University Press, 355–365.
- Slodowy, P., 1980, Simple Singularities and Simple Algebraic Groups, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 815, Springer-Verlag.
- Springer, T., & Steinberg, R., 1970, Conjugacy Classes, in "Seminar on Algebraic Groups and Related Finite Groups," by A. Borel et al., Lecture Notes in Mathematics, **131**, Springer-Verlag.
- Swann, A.F., 1989, Aspects symplectiques de la géométrie quaternionique, Comptes Rendues de l'Acad. Sci., Paris, **308**, 225–228.
- Thurston, W.P., 1976, Some Simple Examples of Symplectic Manifolds, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., **55**, 467–468.
- Wells, R.O., 1979, "Differential Analysis on Complex Manifolds," Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 65, Spring-Verlag.
- Wolf, J.A., 1965, Complex Homogeneous Contact Manifolds and Quaternionic Symmetric Spaces, J. Math. & Mech., 14, 1033–1047.
- Wolf, J.A., 1968, The Geometry and Structure of Isotropy Irreducible Homogeneous Spaces, Acta Math., 120, 59–148.